
West Devon Hub 
Committee

Title: Agenda
Date: Tuesday, 29th January, 2019

Time: 2.00 pm

Venue: Chamber - Kilworthy Park

Full Members: Chairman Cllr Sanders
Vice Chairman Cllr Samuel

Members: Cllr Edmonds
Cllr Jory
Cllr Oxborough
Cllr Sampson

Cllr Mott
Cllr Leech
Cllr Roberts

Interests – 
Declaration and 
Restriction on 
Participation:

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
disclosable pecuniary interest not entered in the Authority's 
register or local non pecuniary interest which they have in any 
item of business on the agenda (subject to the exception for 
sensitive information) and to leave the meeting prior to 
discussion and voting on an item in which they have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest.

Committee 
administrator:

Member.Services@swdevon.gov.uk



Page No

1.  Apologies for absence 

2.  Declarations of Interest

Members are invited to declare any personal or disclosable 
pecuniary interests, including the nature and extent of such interests 
they may have in any items to be considered at this meeting.

If Councillors have any questions relating to predetermination, bias 
or interests in items on this Agenda, then please contact the 
Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting.

3.  Items Requiring Urgent Attention
To consider those items which, in the opinion of the Chairman, 
should be considered by the Meeting as matters of urgency (if 
any)

4.  Confirmation of Minutes
Minutes of meeting held 4 December 2018

1 - 4

5.  Public Questions
A period of up to 15 minutes is available to deal with issues 
raised by the public

6.  Hub Committee Forward Plan 5 - 10

7.  Quarter 3 Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 -Cllr 
Edmonds 

11 - 24

8.  Capital Budget Monitoring 2018/19 -Cllr Edmonds 25 - 34

9.  Revenue Budget proposals 2019/20 - Cllr Sanders 35 - 78

10.  Partnership Board Terms of Reference for Waste and 
Cleansing - Cllr Sampson 

79 - 118

11.  Adoption of Business Continuity Management Strategy and 
Work Programme - Cllr Sanders 

119 - 144

12.  Public Toilet Update - Cllr Sampson 145 - 168

13.  Corporate Strategy Key Performance Indicators 169 - 176



Page No

14.  Commercial Development Financing - Cllr Jory 177 - 186

15.  Capital Budget Proposals 2019/20 - Cllr Sanders 187 - 200

PART TWO ITEMS ARE THOSE WHICH MAY BE TAKEN IN THE ABSENCE 
OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS ON THE GROUNDS THAT EXEMPT 

INFORMATION IS LIKELY TO BE DISCLOSED (if any)
If any, the Committee is recommended to pass the following resolution:

“RESOLVED that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 
1972, the public be excluded from the Meeting on the grounds that 
exempt information may be disclosed as defined in the paragraphs given 
in Schedule 12A to the Act.”

This document can be made available in large 
print, Braille, tape format, other languages or 
alternative format upon request. Please contact the 
Committee section on 01822 813664 or email 
darryl.white@swdevon.gov.uk

mailto:darryl.white@swdevon.gov.uk




At a Meeting  of the HUB COMMITTEE  held at the Council  Chamber, 
Council Offices, Kilworthy Park, Drake Road, TAVISTOCK on TUESDAY 
the 4th day of DECEMBER, 2018 at 10.00am 

 
Present:                             Cllr P R Sanders – Chairman 
      Cllr L Samuel – Vice Chairman 

  
Cllr C Edmonds     Cllr N Jory 
Cllr A F Leech   Cllr C Mott 
Cllr A Roberts   Cllr R F D Sampson 
  

 
In attendance:       Head of Paid Service 

Group Manager Customer First and Support Services 
 Section 151 Officer 
 COP Lead Housing, Revenue and Benefits 
  Housing Benefit Specialist 

Specialist Democratic Services 
 

Other Members in attendance: 
Cllrs Lamb, Moyse and Yelland. 

 
 
*HC 54 APOLOGIES 
  Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Oxborough. 
 
 
*HC 55 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members were invited to declare any interests in the items of business to be 
discussed but none were made. 

 
 
*HC 56          MINUTES 

The Minutes of the Hub Committee meeting held on 20 November 2018 were 
confirmed and signed by the Chairman as a correct record.  
 

 
 HC 57           REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 2018/19 

Members were presented with a report that enabled Members to monitor 
income and expenditure variations against the approved budget for 
2018/19, and provided a forecast for the year end position. 
 
The Lead Member for Performance and Resources introduced the report.  
During discussion, one Member congratulated the HR team on the income 
they had generated, and the Head of Paid Service confirmed that officers 
hoped this would continue in future by working with consultants as their 
associates who specialised in that area of work.  In response to a query 
regarding the car park income figures, the Head of Paid Service advised 
that charges had been introduced mid year, but that the Environment 
Services Manager was optimistic to be on budget by the end of the year. 

 
  It was then RESOLVED: 
 

i. That the forecast income and expenditure variations for the 
2018/19 financial year and the overall projected underspend of 
£57,000 be noted; and 



 
ii. To RECOMMEND to Council to transfer £100,000 of the additional 
planning income into the Planning Policy and Major Developments 
Earmarked Reserve at the end of the 2018/19 financial year. 

 
 
 
*HC 48 CAPITAL BUDGET MONITORING 2018/19 

Members were presented with a report that advised them of the financial 
position as at 30 September 2018 for the purposes of budget monitoring.  All 
capital projects are within the individual capital budgets approved by 
Members therefore capital schemes were within budget. 
 
The Lead Member for Performance and Resources introduced the report.  
There were questions regarding the underspent budget on DFGs to which 
the s151 officer responded that a further £49,000 was committed to be spent 
and £255,000 set aside in statement of need. 
Another Member sought clarity over the installation of the turnstile at the 
Parklands Leisure Centre, as it prevented those using the café from 
accessing the public conveniences.  In response, a local Ward Member 
advised that the public convenience that could be accessed which had been 
a male toilet, should have been converted to a unisex toilet. 
Finally, the Head of Paid Service confirmed that the proposal to install pay 
on entry machines at specific public conveniences intended those machines 
to take both card and cash. 
 
It was then RESOLVED that the contents of the report be endorsed. 

 
 

 
*HC 49          BUDGET PROPOSALS 2019-20 ONWARDS UPDATE REPORT 

Members were presented with a report that updated them on the forecast 
budget gap for 2019/20 and set out the current options and timescales for 
closing the budget gap to achieve long term financial sustainability. 
 
The Leader advised that he would not introduce the report in detail but 
sought questions from other Members. 
 
During discussion, Members discussed whether the Financial Stability 
Review Group was the right group to progress budget options with the 
forthcoming budget deficit in mind.  Members generally concluded that the 
Group was the right vehicle and whilst there was a view that the Leader 
should be included in the membership rather than have the Group report to 
him, it was felt that the current membership of the Group was made up of 
Members with the right qualifications to undertake the role. 
 
Members were disappointed that only 17 Members had completed the online 
budget survey.  Whilst it was accepted that not every Member could attend 
every meeting, there was no reason not to complete a budget survey.  Some 
Members were concerned that there might be a lack of understanding 
amongst Members regarding the seriousness of the budget situation. 
 
Finally, the Deputy Leader asked that thanks be noted to staff following the 
recent Peer Review, as in her view officers worked tirelessly. 

 
 



It was then RESOLVED that: 
 

(i) the forecast budget gap for 2019/20 of £0.269 million 
and the position for future years be noted; 
 
(ii) the current options identified and timescales for closing 
the budget gap in 2019/20 and future years, to achieve long 
term financial sustainability be noted; and 
 
(iii) the recommendations of the Financial Stability 
Review Group on Earmarked Reserves (10.2 and 10.3) be approved 
and that these be recommended in the final Budget 
Proposals report for 2019-20, presented to Council on 12th 
February 2019, be agreed. 

 
 
 *HC 50         COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME 2019/20 

Members were presented with a report in line with the annual requirement for 
Councils to revisit their existing council tax support schemes and make a 
decision as to whether to replace or revise them.    
 
The Housing Benefit Specialist outlined the background to the report by 
explaining the current means tested scheme and the proposed 4 band 
scheme.  The Lead Member for Health and Wellbeing then introduced the 
report.   
 
Members asked a number of detailed questions and as a result, some 
Members felt that a briefing for the wider membership would be appropriate, 
prior to the scheme being presented to full Council.  Officers did reiterate that 
whilst a small number of people may be disadvantaged by the introduction of 
the proposed scheme, it did align better with Universal Credit that had now 
been rolled out across the Borough, so would be better both from a customer 
perspective and for the Council.  In addition, measures were in place in the 
form of the Exceptional Hardship Fund, which was a discretionary fund for 
those in specific need. 

 
It was then RESOLVED that: 
 
1. the results to date of the Public Consultation for the Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme in Section 4 of the report be noted, and 
2. the proposed approach (to adopt a 4 band scheme ranging from 85% to 
25%) for the allocation and management of the new Council Tax Reduction 
strategy be endorsed. 

 
(The meeting terminated at 11.40 am) 

 
 

_____________ 
Chairman 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 



(NOTE: THESE DECISIONS, WITH THE EXCEPTION OF  
HC57 (2) WHICH IS A RECOMMENDATION TO FULL COUNCIL  
ON 15 JANUARY 2019 WILL BECOME EFFECTIVE  
FROM WEDNESDAY 12 DECEMBER 2018 UNLESS CALLED IN, 
IN ACCORDANCE WITH SCRUTINY PROCEDURE RULE 18). 

 



        
WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL: HUB COMMITTEE FORWARD PLAN  

This is the provisional forward plan for the three months starting January 2019.  It provides an indicative date for matters to be considered by 

the Hub Committee.   Where possible, the Hub Committee will keep to the dates shown in the plan.  However, it may be necessary for some 

items to be rescheduled and other items added.  

  

The forward plan is published to publicise consultation dates and enable dialogue between the Hub Committee and all councillors, the public 

and other stakeholders. It will also assist the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committees in planning their contribution to policy development 

and holding the Hub Committee to account.   

The Plan is published in hard copy and on the Council’s website (www.westdevon.gov.uk)  

  

Members of the public are welcome to attend all meetings of the Hub Committee, which are normally held at Kilworthy Park, Tavistock, and 

normally start at 2.00 pm.    

If advance notice has been given, questions can be put to the Hub Committee at the beginning of the meeting.  

The Hub Committee consists of nine Councillors.  Each has responsibility for a particular area of the Council’s work.   

Cllr Sanders – Leader   

Cllr Samuel – Deputy Leader  

Cllr Sampson – Lead Member for Commercial Services 

Cllr Leech – Lead Member for Health and Wellbeing 

Cllr Oxborough – Lead Member for Economy  

Cllr Jory – Lead Member for Environment and Assets  

Cllr Roberts – Lead Member for Customer First   

Cllr Edmonds - Lead Member for Resources and Performance  

Cllr Mott – Lead Member for Strategic Planning and Housing  

Further information on the workings of the Hub Committee, including latest information on agenda items, can be obtained by contacting the  

Member Services Section by e-mail to member.services@westdevon.gov.uk   

All items listed in this Forward Plan will be discussed in public at the relevant meeting, unless otherwise indicated  



 

 

Portfolio Area 

 

Report Title and Summary Lead Officer/ 

Member 

Documents to be 

considered in making 

decision 

Date of 

Decision 

Consultees and means 

of consultation 

Resources & 

Performance 

Title:  Revenue Budget Monitoring for 2018/19 (9 

month position)   

Purpose of report:  A revenue budget monitoring 

report to monitor income and expenditure 

variations against the approved revenue budget for 

2018/19, and to provide a forecast of the year end 

position. 

RH/ Cllr 

Edmonds 

Report of Senior Finance 

Specialist   

29 Jan 

2019  

 

Resources & 

Performance 

Title:  Capital Programme Budget Monitoring for 

2018/19 (9 month position)   

Purpose of report:  The report advises Members of 

the progress on individual schemes within the 

approved capital programme, including an 

assessment of their financial position. 

AE /Cllr 

Edmonds 

Report of Capital Finance 

Specialist   

29 Jan 

2019  

 

Resources & 

Performance 

Title:  Revenue Budget Proposals 2019/20   

Purpose of report:  The report sets out the 

recommendations for the Revenue Budget for 

2019/20 (including the council tax level for 19/20) 

LB/ Cllr 

Edmonds 

Report of Section 151 

Officer 

29 Jan 

2019 

 

Resources & 

Performance 

Title:  Capital Budget Proposals 2019/20   

Purpose of report:  The report sets out the 

recommendations for the Capital Programme 

Budget for 2019/20  

LB/Cllr 

Edmonds 

Report of Section 151 

Officer 

29 Jan 

2019  

 

Resources & 

Performance  

Title:  Quarter 3 Write Off Report    

Purpose of report:  To update on Council debts 

written off by the S151 Officer (in accordance with 

the Financial Regulations) and to seek approval to 

write off any debts in excess of £5,000  

LB/Cllr 

Edmonds  

Report of Section 151 

Officer  

29 Jan 

2019  

 

Commercial 

Services  

Title: Partnership Board Terms of Reference for 

waste & cleansing 

Purpose of report: The report seeks approval of 

Terms of Reference for the Waste and Cleansing 

HD/ Cllr 

Sampson 

Report of the Group 

Manager Commercial 

Services  

Draft Terms of Reference 

29 Jan 

2019  

 



 

Contract Partnership Board (Consisting SHDC, 

WDBC and FCC Ltd) 

Health and 

Wellbeing 

Title:  Syrian Resettlement Scheme Update   

Purpose of report:  To update Members on the 

latest position with progress of the Scheme 

 

IB/Cllr Leech Report of Head of Housing, 

Revenue and Benefits 

29 Jan 

2019 

 

Commercial 

Services  

Title: Public toilet update 

Purpose of report: to update members on latest 

negotiations with Parish and Town Councils. 

CA/ Cllr 

Sampson 

Report of the Head of 

Environment Services 

Practice 

29 Jan 

2019 

Town and Parish 

Councils, by email, 

telephone and 

meetings. 

Leader of the 

Council  

Title: Peer Challenge Recommendations  

Purpose of report: The report considers the 

recommendations of the LGA Peer Review team 

and sets out a draft action plan 

SH/ Leader  Report of the Executive 

Director  

LGA Peer challenge Report 

19 March 

2019  

 

Customer First  Title: Coastal Concordat  

Purpose: To consider the Concordat agreed 

between SHDC and Marine Management 

Organisation in respect of planning matters below 

the mean low tide 

TJ/Cllr 

Roberts  

Report of the Head of 

Place Making Practice  

 

Coastal Concordat 

19 March 

2019  

 

Environment & 

Assets  

Title: Accommodation Strategy 

Purpose of report: To consider & agree principles 

for future options for WDBC accommodation. 

DA/C Brook 

Cllr Jory  

Report of Head of Assets & 

Group Manager Business 

Development  

19 March 

2019  

 Invest to Earn Member 

group 

Leader of the 

Council  

Title: Draft Corporate Strategy Delivery Plans   

Purpose of report: To consider the draft delivery 

plans for each of the Corporate Strategy Themes  

(Homes, Communities, Enterprise, Environment, 

Wellbeing & Council)   

NT/ Leader Report of the 

Commissioning Manager  

 

Draft Corporate Strategy 

Delivery Plans  

19 March 

2019  

 

Resources & 

Performance  

Title: Employee Terms and conditions 

Purpose of report: The report will set out options 

for considering Employee Terms and Conditions  

NH/ Cllr 

Edmonds  

Report of the Support 

Services Specialist 

Manager  

19 March 

2019  

 

Commercial 

Services  

Title: Car Park Strategy  

Purpose of report: To review the current strategy 

and purpose of the group. 

CA/ Cllr 

Sampson 

Report of the Head of 

Environment Services 

Practice  

TBC Current car parking 

strategy group 



 

Commercial 

Services 

Title: Procurement of Cleaning Services 

Purpose of report: To procure cleaning services 

through tender of a new contract 

CA/Cllr 

Sampson 

Report of the Head of 

Environment Services 

Practice 

19 March 

2019 

 

Commercial 

Services  

Title: Grounds maintenance service 

Purpose of report: To consider the future provision 

of a grounds maintenance service, and 

opportunities for income growth in respect of 

service area 

HD & CA/ Cllr 

Sampson 

Report of the Group 

Manager Commercial 

Services and Head of 

Environment Services 

Practice  

TBC  

Strategic 

Planning and 

Housing 

Title: JLP working arrangements after adoption 

Purpose of report: A report setting out the 

governance arrangements for the JLP following 

adoption 

TJ/ Cllr Mott  Report of the Head of 

Place Making Practice  

TBC – 

pending 

adoption 

of the JLP 

 



 

  





 
 

Report to: Hub Committee  

Date: 29 January 2019 

Title: Quarter 3 Revenue Budget Monitoring 
2018/2019 

Portfolio Area: Performance & Resources – Cllr C Edmonds 

Wards Affected: All 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee: Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

 

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained: 

Y 

  

  

Author: Roderick Hewson Role: Finance Business Partner 

Contact: Tel. 01822 813582                                                           
E-mail: roderick.hewson@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

 

Recommendations:   

It is recommended that the Hub Committee resolves:- 

i. To note the forecast income and expenditure variations for the 

2018/19 financial year and the overall projected underspend of 
£65,000. 
 

 
 

1. Executive summary  
 

1) This report enables Members to monitor income and expenditure 
variations against the approved budget for 2018/19, and provides a 
forecast for the year end position. 

 
 

2. Background  
 

1) The Council’s finance procedure rules require budget monitoring reports 
to be made on a regular basis to the Hub Committee as part of the 
Council’s arrangements for budget management. 

 
 

 



 
 

3. Outcomes/outputs  
 

1) Budget Overview 
The gross service expenditure budget for 2018/19 was set at £25.2 

million (£7.31 million net). The actual net revenue expenditure is 
forecast to be under budget by £65,000 when compared against 
the total budget set for 2018/19. This is mainly due to additional 

planning income following the receipt of several large planning 
applications.  

 
 
3.1 Table 1 below provides an analysis of the projected variances against 

budget. 
 
          TABLE 1: 2018/19 BUDGET FORECAST 

 

                                                                       2018/19 

Budget 
expenditure

/(Income) 

 

Budget variations 
 

 

 

Note 

 £’000 % £’000 £’000  

APPROVED BUDGET     7,314  

Reductions in 

expenditure/additional 
income 

 

 

    

Customer First      

Planning income (333) (63.1%) (210)  A 

Support Services      

Trading opportunities income 

(e.g. HR) 

- - (8)  B 

Strategy & Commissioning      

Senior Leadership Team – 
Interim Arrangements 

195 (17.4%) (34)  C 

Financing and Investment      

Commercial Property net 
investment income 

(100) (95.0%) (95)  D 

Sub total of variations          (347)          

      Increases in 

expenditure/reductions in 
income 

     

Commercial Services      

Car Parking income (1,006) 5.7% 57  E 

Customer First      

Review of 
accommodation/office 
requirements 

(82) 12.2% 10  F 

Support Services      

ICT costs – support contracts 300 28.3% 85  G 

Strategy & Commissioning      



 
 

                                                                       2018/19 

Budget 
expenditure

/(Income) 

 

Budget variations 
 

 

 

Note 

Corporate Management – 

payment collection expenses 

7 285.7% 20  H 

Financing and Investment      

Investment income (90) 11.1% 10  I 

Sub total of variations    182  

      Transfers to Earmarked 

Reserves 

     

Planning Policy & Major 

Developments Earmarked 
Reserve 

- - 100 100 A 

PROJECTED OUTTURN    7,249  

      
PROJECTED UNDERSPEND        (65)  

 

 
Notes 

 

A. Planning income – additional planning income of £210,000 is 
currently anticipated for 2018/19 due to a number of large 

applications being received in quarters 2 and 3. These planning 
applications included developments at Callington Road, Crediton 
Road and land north of Crediton Road. This additional income 

equates to 63.1% of the target of £333,000. At the December Hub 
meeting (HC57) it was recommended to Council to transfer 

£100,000 of this additional income into the Planning Policy & Major 
Developments Earmarked Reserve to support peaks and troughs in 
the planning service and to fund unbudgeted one off costs 

generated from Planning Appeals.  
 

B. Support Services trading income (e.g. HR and Support 
Services) – Support Services have developed a number of small 
scale trading opportunities by way of providing support to other 

Councils’ Transformation Programmes. There is expected to be an 
income surplus from this of approximately £8,000.   

 
C. Senior Leadership Team – following the approval of the Senior 

Leadership Team interim arrangements by Council in December 

2017 a saving of £34,000 (WDBC’s share) is anticipated in 
2018/19. 

 
D. Commercial Property net investment income – the commercial 

property strategy was implemented in April 2018 and three 

commercial properties have been purchased to date in 2018/19, 
and at the time of writing this report, final negotiations are taking 

place on a fourth property. These Commercial Property 
investments are anticipated to generate an additional £95,000 net 

income in 2018/19 (in addition to the £100,000 budgeted). The 



 
 

Council has formulated a comprehensive portfolio monitoring 
report on the Council’s commercial investments. This was 

presented to the Audit Committee on the 9th of October.  
 

E. Car parking income – a shortfall in car parking income of £57,000 
is currently projected. This equates to 5.7% of the income 
projection (£1,006,000). This budget includes additional income for 

2018/19 to reflect an increase in the all day long stay tariff from 
£2.00 to £2.50. As the new charges were not implemented until 2 

July 2018, following the consultation period, an income shortfall is 
anticipated in 2018/19.  

 

F. Review of Accommodation/Office requirements – savings are 
expected to be in the region of £72,000 in 2018/19 leaving a small 

shortfall of £10,000 (12.2%). This variance relates to the business 
rates and utility costs in respect of St James, Okehampton for which 
the Council is still liable. 

 
G. ICT support contract costs – There are additional recurring costs 

in respect of ICT support contracts of approximately £85,000. The 
ICT budget was set assuming that the Civica solutions introduced 

by the T18 Transformation Programme would perform as 
required.  In practice, additional solutions were procured in order 
to maintain services where using the Civica solution was not 

practical. Purchase of the following systems, which were previously 
unbudgeted for, was required: 

 
• Northgate Land Charges 
• Clear Core Clear Core (enables single customer record)  

• IEG4 Revenues and Benefits to facilitate “My Account” for 
customers 

• Northgate Gazetteer – address database 
• IEG4 software – Automatic processing of changes of 

circumstances for revenues 

 
H. Payment collection expenses – the budget for bank processing 

fees and internet/card processing fees is anticipated to be 
exceeded by £20,000 in 2018/19. This budget has not been 
reviewed for a number of years to reflect the changes in methods 

of payment. However, the credit card contract is currently being 
re-negotiated so it is anticipated that these costs will reduce in 

2019/20.  
 

I. Investment income – a shortfall in investment income of 

£10,000 is currently anticipated for 2018/19. Following a review of 
the Treasury Management Strategy the Council agreed to widen 

the Counterparty list for investments and it was expected that extra 
income of £20,000 would be generated. However, this figure is now 
anticipated to be around £10,000 due to the need to keep 

investments short-term in order to meet cash flow requirements. 
This target could be achieved in the future due to receipt of rental 

income from the new commercial property. 



 
 

 
2) Savings/Additional Income identified in the 2018/19 Budget  

This monitoring report includes an update on the position regarding the 
savings and additional income that were identified in the 2018/19 budget 

setting process. Please see Appendix B for further information.  
 
 

 

4. Management Actions 
 
The table below sets out the relevant management actions for the 
revenue expenditure and income variations shown above. It is best 

practice for the Council to state whether there are any corrective actions 
that need to be taken for the variances identified in 2018/19. 
 

 

                                                                       Budget 

variations 
overspend/ 

(underspend) 

 

Management Action 

 £’000  

Reductions in 
expenditure/ 

additional income 

  

Planning income (210) £50,000 additional income has 

been built into the 2019/20 
budget. It was recommended at 
the December Hub meeting that 

£100,000 of the additional income 
in 2018/19 is put into an 

earmarked reserve at the end of 
the financial year. 

Senior Leadership 
Team – Interim 
Arrangements 

(34) During 2019/20 the Council will be 
reviewing its senior leadership 
team structure across both 

Councils and presenting options to 
Members for a decision within the 

first six months of the new Council. 
This saving of £34,000 has been 
included within the 2019/20 

budget proposals. 

Commercial Property 

net investment 
income 

       (95) The Council has formulated a 

comprehensive portfolio 
monitoring report on the Council’s 

commercial investments. This was 
presented to the Audit Committee 
on the 9th of October. An additional 

income projection of £100,000 has 
been built into the 2019/20 

budget. 



 
 

                                                                       Budget 

variations 
overspend/ 

(underspend) 

 

Management Action 

Car parking income 57 Income levels will be kept under 

review in 2018/19. 

Review of 

accommodation/office 
requirements 

10 This is a one off pressure in 

2018/19. A planning application for 
a change of use of St James, 
Okehampton has been submitted. 

ICT costs 85 £95,000 has been built into the 
2019/20 budget as a cost pressure. 

Investment income 10 This will be kept under review 
during 2018/19. 

 
 

 
5. Prudential Indicators 

 

The prudential code indicators were approved in the Treasury 
Management Strategy report to the Audit Committee on 20 March 

2018. The indicators are monitored during the year through the 
normal revenue and capital monitoring processes. Any exceptions are 

reported to the Audit Committee. To date all Treasury Management 
limits have been adhered to. The Treasury Management Indicators 
set out the level of predicted capital expenditure and borrowing 

requirements. 
 

 
6. Review of Earmarked Reserves 

 

The Council annually undertakes a review of the level of its 
Earmarked Reserves as part of the budget setting process. A 

schedule of Earmarked Reserves is attached at Appendix A with their 
proposed use. 
 

Annually transfers are made from Earmarked Reserves to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account as part of the 

closure of the end of year Accounts. As the accounting entries can be 
identified at an early stage, a recommendation is made to Council to 
agree the accounting entries in 2018/19. Only Council can approve 

the use of Earmarked Reserves. 
 

 
7. Income and Reserves 

 

Income monitoring is an integral part of financial management. 
Current income forecasts are as follows: 

 



 
 

Service Actual 

Income 
2017/18 

 

£’000 

Income 

Budget 
2018/19 

 

£’000 

Projected 

Income 
2018/19 

 

£’000 

Deficit/ 

(Surplus) 
 
 

£’000 

Deficit/ 

(Surplus) 
 
 

% 

Car Parks 860 1,006 949 57 5.7% 

Employment 

Estates 

343 290 290 - - 

Land Charges 95 110 110 - - 

Planning 
Applications 

314 333 543 (210) (63.1%) 

Recycling Credits 260 265 265 - - 

Investment 

Income 

58 90 80 10 11.1% 

Commercial 
Property gross 

rental income – 
Note A 

- 480 929 (449) (93.5%) 

TOTAL 1,930 2,574 3,166 (592) (23.0%) 

 

Note A 
The commercial property income figures above relate to the gross rental 

income for 2018/19. The favourable income variance included in the 
monitoring report of £95,000 is a net figure anticipated for 2018/19 after 
deducting all relevant costs from the rental income. 

 
The decision on the level of balances and reserves is taken during the 

formulation of the annual budget and the medium term financial strategy. 
As a matter of prudence the Council has set aside various amounts in 
reserves to cover future liabilities and items of expenditure and these are 

attached as Appendix A. 
 

 
8. Issues that may impact on the budget monitoring position in 

the next 3 months/Risks 

 
The budget monitoring position assumes that collection rates will remain 
at previous levels.  

 
 

9.  Proposed Way Forward  
 
1) Revenue budget monitoring will continue on a regular basis and further 

reports will be brought to the Hub Committee on a quarterly basis. 
 

 
 
 

 
 



 
 

10. Implications  

Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  
proposals  

Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 

 

Y The Statutory Powers that apply to this report are 

the Local Government Act 1972 Section 151 and 
the Local Government Act 2003 Section 28. 

Financial 
 

Y The report identifies an overall underspend of 
£65,000 which equates to 0.9% of the overall 

budget set for 2018/19 of £7.314 million, mainly 
due to the surplus income from Planning Fees. 
 

At the December Hub meeting (HC57) it was 
recommended to Council to transfer £100,000 of the 

additional planning income into the Planning Policy 
& Major Developments Earmarked Reserve. 
 

Annually transfers are made from Earmarked 
Reserves to the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Account as part of the closure of the end 
of year Accounts.  
As the accounting entries can be identified at an 

early stage, a recommendation is made to Council 
to agree the accounting entries in 2018/19.  

Only Council can approve the use of Earmarked 
Reserves. 
 

Risk Y Budget variances – continual budget monitoring at 
all levels within the Council ensures early 

identification of variances. Reporting to the Hub 
Committee provides an opportunity for Members to 

identify and instigate remedial action where 
appropriate.  

 

 Resource Planning – the Hub Committee takes 
into account any significant issues when developing 

the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy. 
 These are identified in the Management Actions 
section of the report (Section 4). 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
 

Equality and 
Diversity 

 

 None directly arising from this report.   

Safeguarding 

 

 None directly arising from this report. 

Community 

Safety, Crime 
and Disorder 

 

 None directly arising from this report. 

 



 
 

Health, Safety 

and Wellbeing 

 None directly arising from this report. 

 

Other 

implications 

 None directly arising from this report. 

 

 

 
Supporting Information 
 

Appendix A – Reserves 
Appendix B – Savings/Additional income Schedule 

 
Background Papers: 
Finance Community of Practice budget monitoring working papers 

Medium Term Financial Position 2019/20 onwards – HUB Committee 29 
January 2019. 

 
 
Approval and clearance of report 

 

Process checklist Completed 

Portfolio Holder briefed  No 

SLT Rep briefed No 

Relevant Exec Director sign off (draft) No 

Data protection issues considered Yes 

If exempt information, public (part 1) report 

also drafted. (Committee/Scrutiny) 

N/A 

 





APPENDIX  A

RESERVES - PROJECTED BALANCES APPENDIX A

Opening Additions Predicted Projected

balance to the spend balance

1.4.2018 Reserve 31.3.2019 Comments

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

EARMARKED RESERVES

 

Specific Reserves - General Fund

Business Rates Retention Scheme (509) (150) (659)

This relates to a timing issue on the accounting adjustments 

required for the localisation of business rates. This reserve 

also deals with any volatility in Business Rate income e.g. due 

to appeals.

Financial Stability Reserve 0 (316) 50 (266)

A new reserve created in 2018/19 from the Business Rates 

Pilot funding. The commitment relates to the South West 

Mutual Bank contribution. There will be a further 

recommendation to use part of this reserve for the upfront 

borrowing costs on commercial development opportunities 

within the Borough.

Car Parking Maintenance (386) 0 205 (181)

Commitment relates to statutory tree work and Brook Street 

Car Park as well as £30,000 for Council Owned Asset 

Investment & Development (minute ref HC 4).

2016/17 Budget Surplus Contingency (382) 0 148 (234)

This is the Budget Surplus from 2016/17 which was put into an 

Earmarked Reserve. Commitment of £76,000 relates to the 

balance of the JSG funding and £65,000 capital funding.

Innovation Fund (Invest to Earn) (724) 0 288 (436)

Commitment relates to purchase of land & survey Costs, 

Okehampton £279,000 and Lottery set up costs £6,500. There 

will be a further recommendation to use part of this reserve for 

the upfront borrowing costs on commercial development 

opportunities within the Borough.

T18 Strategic Change (287) (10) 129 (168)

Commitment includes pension strain costs from the T18 

Transformation Programme and £30,000 JLP contribution. In 

addition the capital monitoring report being considered at the 

January Hub Committee includes a recommendation of up to 

£50,000 for the capital requirement of the Public Toilets pay on 

entry review.
Cannons Meadow, Tavistock (13) 0 3 (10) Written down to revenue annually

Elections (24) 0 0 (24)

Neighbourhood Planning Grants (47) 0 4 (43) Examiner fees in 2018/19

Economic Grant Initiatives (23) 0 0 (23)

Flood Works (15) 0 2 (13)

Homelessness Prevention (95) 0 0 (95)

New Homes Bonus (225) (643) 850 (18)
Commitment includes £560,000 to fund the 2018/19 Revenue 

budget and £252,000 for the Capital Programme 

Planning Policy and Major Developments (44) (155) 79 (120)

Joint Local Plan Funding transferred to a separate reserve. 

The additions to the reserve include £100,000 extra planning 

income from 2018/19 following a recommendation in the 

Quarter 2 revenue monitoring report considered by the Hub 

Committee in December (minute HC57 refers)

Invest to Save (27) 0 23 (4)
The commitment relates to the Council Owned Asset 

Investment and Development (minute ref HC 4)

ICT Development (30) (110) 68 (72)

£85,000 has been transferred to the ICT Development reserve 

from other earmarked reserves  following a review  by the 

Financial Stability Working Group. This was considered by the 

Hub Committee in December (minute HC59 refers). 

Waste & Cleansing Options Review (80) 0 0 (80) To cover the cost of procurement and waste initiatives
Community Housing Fund (243) 0 60 (183) Community Housing Projects
Leisure Services (231) 0 174 (57) Leisure Centre investment
Maintenance Fund (Estates) (223) 0 37 (186)
Revenue Grants (220) 0 8 (212)
Support Services Trading Opportunities (8) 0 0 (8)

Grounds Maintenance (49) 0 49 0

The balance on this reserve has been transferred to the ICT 

Development Reserve following a review of earmarked 

reserves by the Financial Stability Working Group.This was 

considered by the Hub Committee in December (minute HC59 

refers).
Outdoor Sports & Recreation Grants (18) 0 0 (18)

Environmental Health (20) 0 0 (20)

Section 106 Monitoring (19) 0 0 (19)

Joint Local Plan 0 (86) 86 0 New reserve for Joint Local Plan Funding

Other Reserves below £15,000 (73) 0 36 (37)

£36,000 has been transferred from five earmarked reserves to 

the ICT Development reserve following a review of earmarked 

reserves by the Financial Stability Working Group. This was 

considered by the Hub Committee in December (minute HC59 

refers). 

TOTAL EARMARKED RESERVES (4,015) (1,470) 2,299 (3,186)

TOTAL UNEARMARKED RESERVES (1,197) (65) 0 (1,262) Projected underspend of £65,000 for 2018/19

TOTAL REVENUE RESERVES                                

(EARMARKED AND UNEARMARKED 

RESERVES)

(5,212) (1,535) 2,299 (4,448)





Summary of Savings and Additional Income from the 2018-19 Budget Setting Process APPENDIX B

The table below summarises the savings and additional income that were included in the 2018-19 Budget Setting process and indicates whether

the saving/additional income is on track to be delivered.

Savings and Additional Income for the 2018-19 Budget Target (£)

Latest 

projection for 

2018/19 (£)

Narrative

1 Income from Investments in Commercial Property 100,000 195,000

The Council’s ancillary income from Investments in 

Commercial Property is currently projected to 

achieve an additional £95,000 in 2018/19.

2 Opt-in charged garden waste service 122,500 122,500
The Council is projected to meet this additional net 

income.

3 Car Parking income 180,000 123,000

The overall income budget for daily parking was 

increased by £220k to reflect the new car parking 

tariffs (from July 2018), but this looks unachievable 

for the year with a small potential shortfall in 

income of £57k.

4
Additional car parking income (to reflect the current increase in use in 

2017/18
40,000 40,000 On track to achieve this income

5
Review of Accommodation/Office requirements (effective from 1st April 

2018)
82,000 72,000

£10,000 of these savings have not yet been 

realised due to the Council still paying Business 

Rates and utility costs in respect of St James, 

Okehampton. A planning application for change of 

use has been submitted.

6
Housing Benefit recoveries of overpayments (increase income target to 

reflect actual income achieved)
85,000 85,000

It is expected that the £85k income target will be 

achieved.

7

Cessation of accepting cash and cheques – To remove the facility for 

accepting cash and cheques at Council premises, excluding Car 

Parks.  Customers (as now) will be able to pay by cash or cheques via 

Paypoint or at Post Office.

35,000 35,000

On track to achieve these budget savings. 

Temporary arrangements have been put into place 

for Parish/Town Councils who are unable to pay 

using any other method apart from cheques, whilst 

they move across to online banking.

8 Planning Fees 15,000 219,500

The Planning Fees budget was increased by 

£15,000 and the budget monitoring position shows 

this will be exceeded by £204,500 in planning fee 

income and a further £5,500 from duty planning 

income (see item 15 below). This correlates to the 

total planning income variance shown in note A of 

the monitoring report (£210,000).

9 Reduction in Partnership funding 15,330 13,000
Devon Rail Partnership funding budget of circa £2k 

has previously been removed.

10 Extra treasury management income 20,000 10,000

Following a review of the Treasury Management 

Strategy the Council agreed to widen the 

Counterparty list for investments and it was 

expected that £20,000 of extra income would be 

generated. However, this figure is now anticipated 

to be around £10,000 due to the need to keep 

investments short-term in order to meet cash flow 

requirements. This target could be achieved in the 

future due to receipt of rental income from the new 

commercial property.

11 Trade waste income 15,000 15,000 On track to achieve this income

12 Introduction of Direct Lets Scheme 10,000 10,000
On track to achieve this saving. To date we have 

taken on four properties.

13 Paperless Committee agendas 3,500 3,500

The Council has implemented the changes to 

paperless Committee agendas and the saving is 

expected to be achieved.

14
Council Tax Reduction Scheme – 8.6% reduction in Town and Parish 

Grant
6,100 6,100

All Town and Parish Councils were notified of their 

2018/19 grant levels, which represented a 

reduction of 8.6%.

15 Charging for Duty Planning Service 6,500 12,000

The duty planning service has been well received 

and the Council is anticipating additional income of 

£12,000 in 2018/19.

16 Charging for food advice/environmental health fees and charges 5,000 5,000

The new charges have been implemented and it is 

envisaged the additional income is on track to be 

delivered.

17 Savings from the re-procurement of the Insurance contract 35,000 35,000
These savings have been delivered through the 

Insurance procurement process.

18 Saving on external audit fees for 2018-19 8,000 8,000

The saving has been delivered. The Council has 

been notified of its audit fees for 2018/19 by Grant 

Thornton and these equate to £30,335, 

representing a 23% reduction.

TOTAL £783,930 £1,009,600





 
 

 
 

 

Report to: Hub Committee  

Date: 29th January 2019 

Title: Capital Budget Monitoring 2018/2019 

Portfolio Area: Performance & Resources – Cllr C Edmonds 

Wards Affected: All 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee: Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

 

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 

clearance obtained: 

Y 

  

  

Author: Sarah Adams 

Pauline Henstock 

Role: Accountant 

Head of Finance Practice 

Contact: Tel. 01803 861276                                                           
E-mail: sarah.adams@swdevon.gov.uk 

Tel. 01803 861377                                                          
E-mail: pauline.henstock@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

Recommendations:   

It is recommended that the Hub Committee resolves:- 

i. To endorse the contents of the Report. 

ii. To recommend to Council to fund the capital requirement of 
the Public Conveniences Pay on Entry equipment of up to 

£50,000 from the Strategic Change Earmarked Reserve. 

 
1. Executive summary  

 
The report advises Members of the financial position as at 31st 

December 2018 for the purposes of budget monitoring. The 
majority of the capital projects are within the individual 

capital budgets approved by Members. Two of the schemes 
are slightly overspent by £2,249 and £4,703 respectively (this 

equates in total to 0.03% of the 2018/19 capital budget) as 
shown in Appendix A. 

 



 
 

 
 

The total capital budget for 2018/19 is £22,609,815 of which 
£21,421,957 has been spent to date (Appendix A). 

 
The capital programme is currently underspent in comparison to the 

budgets. This is mainly due to the acquisition costs for the 
commercial properties being less than the budgeted amount of 7% 

and remaining works to be carried out at the office block, Bristol. In 
addition, expenditure on Improvement Grants (Disabled Facilities 

Grants) is £236,737 at Month 9, compared to the budget for 18/19 
of £551,087. 

 
2. Background  

 

The capital programme for 2018/19 was approved by Council on 20 
February 2018 (CM57 and HC61 refer). This report provides an 

update on the Capital Programme. 
 

3. Outcomes/outputs  
 

Members are requested to note the following updates on Capital 
Projects: 

Community Project Grants (previously Village Hall & Community 
Project Grants) 

 
There is no additional budget allocation for Community Project Grants 

in 2018/19 however there is a budget of £67,377 from underspends 
in previous years.  

 

Expenditure to date in 2018/19 is £24,294 and it is thought a further 
£15,000 may be spent before the end of the financial year.  The 

remainder will be retained for projects during 2019/20. 
 

Compared with the previous year, there are now other funding 
schemes available to users of this grant scheme, i.e. SeaMoor Lotto, 

Crowdfunding and the Communities Together Fund. There is merit in 
this scheme being retained as it would benefit projects that are 

unlikely to be supported in other ways.  S106 Open Space, Sport and 
Recreation funds could also be channelled towards such projects in 

the future.   
 

No budget is being recommended to be set aside to fund this grant 
scheme for 2019/20 (this will be proposed as part of the 2019/20 

Budget Proposals report).  It is felt that this is acceptable given the 

current fund will not be fully spent.  For 2020/21 onwards, it will be 
proposed that £36k per annum is allocated into this grant fund.   

 



 
 

 
 

Leisure Investment  
 

Investment in both Meadowlands, Tavistock and Parklands, 
Okehampton is being made in accordance with the capital drawdown 

schedule. 
 

Meadowlands Leisure Centre, Tavistock - The main building works for 
the new gym, studio, dry side changing, reception and cafe were all 

completed over the Christmas period. The new gym kit was installed 
over the weekend 5th/6th January and the main entrance and new 

turnstiles are now in operation. Full public opening and class 
programmes for the new facilities will take place in the next few 

weeks. 

 
Parklands Leisure Centre, Okehampton - All main capital investment 

works have now been completed. 
 

Affordable Housing  
 

The budget for Affordable Housing in 2018/19 is £50,000.  The 
budget brought forward from previous years is £89,000 giving a total 

of £139,000 available in 2018/19. 
 

In recent times the capital programme has facilitated affordable 
housing developments in rural areas by providing a sum of money, 

normally between £10,000 and £15,000 per plot, to enable the 
development to proceed.  These schemes are typically on exception 

sites and therefore do not rely on cross subsidy from open market 

properties, evidence from a Registered Provider (RP) is provided to 
ensure  additional  money is required to make the scheme 

viable.  Money is normally required where there are abnormals on the 
site or there is a shortage of public subsidy.   

 
In 2017/18 £50,000, 50% of an agreed contribution, was made 

towards Cannonsmead Cottages, South Tawton.  This is a scheme of 
6 units of rented accommodation owned and managed by Rural 

Specialists Hastoe Housing.  There was a larger funding gap than 
expected at South Tawton due to abnormals and the amount of time 

taken for the much needed affordable housing units to come 
forward.  The remaining £50,000 was paid to Hastoe in October 2018 

on completion and occupation of the development.  The properties 
were advertised through Devon Home Choice and have been occupied 

by people with a local connection to South Tawton. An opening 

ceremony will take place in the Spring. 
 

This will leave £89,000 in the affordable housing capital programme.   



 
 

 
 

Tenants Incentive Scheme 

 

The Tenants incentive Scheme offers an incentive payment to tenants 
of Social Landlords who wish to downsize. This frees up larger 

accommodation for families on our housing register or in temporary 
accommodation.  

 
It also prevents the spiral of debt tenants may find themselves in if 

they are affected by the spare room subsidy (sometimes referred to 
as the “bedroom tax”) and cannot afford to pay increased rents or 

the cost of moving. A common use of the incentive payment is where 
older people move to a property where there are no carpets.  

Payments can be made to provide carpeting in the property, 

combating the risk of trips and falls and possible hospital admissions. 
A sum of £3,500 has been spent to date from a budget of £51,348. 

 
 

Private Sector Renewals including Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG’s)  
 

As at the end of December (Month 9), £236,737 has been spent 
compared to the budget for 18/19 of £551,087. 

 
A further £54,117 has already been approved (committed) and 

there are further Statements of Need being progressed which total 
another £290,450. 

   
Old Mill Site, Okehampton 

 

The Council is currently in process of disposing of this site to a third 
party after the Council opted not to pursue plans to re-develop the 

site.  The cost of these exploratory works will be deducted from the 
capital budget brought forward of £22,925.  After disposal, it is 

estimated that £7,000 will be surplus and available to be re-used for 
other purposes. 

 
Waste Fleet 

 
All vehicles for the new waste fleet have now been purchased and are 

in use.  Expenditure to the end of December (month 9) is £949,503 
bringing the total spend to £2,602,249 (an amount of £1,652,746 

was spent in 2017-18). This represents an overspend of less than 
0.09% on the approved budget of £2,600,000. The fleet totals 35 

vehicles and includes dedicated refuse and recycling collection 

vehicles of various capacities. 
 

 



 
 

 
 

Purchase of Land – Okehampton 
 

The purchase of three undeveloped parcels of land in the centre of 
Okehampton was approved by Hub committee on 12 September 2017 

(HC 28 refers) and these have now all been completed.  This came in 
slightly overspent by £4,703 against a budget of £255,000 (1.8%). 

 
Commercial Investment Properties 

 

On 5th December 2017 Council approved the recommendations of a 

report entitled “Commercial Property Acquisition Strategy Update”. 
This agreed to borrowing of up to £37.45m to implement the strategy 

that was adopted. 

Three purchases have been made to date totalling £18.725m plus 
costs (£19.416m) representing 52% of the agreed borrowing 

(£37.45m). The budgets for commercial investment properties are 
currently underspent mainly due to the acquisition costs for the 

commercial properties being less than the budgeted amount of 7% 
and remaining works to be carried out at the office block, Bristol. 

As of 25/09/18, the commercial property acquisition strategy has 
been superseded by a new strategy which blends commercial 

acquisitions with in area developments. 

The average yield of the portfolio is 5.42% which is lower than the 

5.85% target for the end of the project but reflects the current 
‘appetite for risk’ of the Council through the Invest to Earn Group.  

Further purchases can look to raise this percentage if 5.85% remains 
as the target.  This target may be reviewed against the level of risk 

the Council is content to accept. 

The project has a property in each of the main asset classes – Office, 
Industrial and Retail. The capital expenditure on the Office asset class 

(Bristol) includes the refurbishment which is part way through. 

A geographical spread within the SW peninsular has been achieved; 

Regional - Bristol, Sub-regional – Exeter, Local – Okehampton.  

Full details can be found in the Commercial Investment Property – 

Update and Monitoring Report which was taken to Audit Committee 
on 9th October 2018:  

 
http://mg.swdevon.lan/documents/s19568/Commercial%20Invest

ment%20Property%20Update%20and%20monitoring%20report.pdf  
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

Replacement Cash Receipting System  
 

On 25th September Council approved the funding of a replacement 
cash receipting system in the sum of £58,250 to be met from the ICT 

Earmarked Reserve (CM34 & HC32 refer). See Appendix A. The 
majority of this budget will be spent before the year end. 

 

Brook Street Car Park, Tavistock 

A report was presented to the Hub Committee on 20th November in 

respect of the Brook Street car park refurbishment contract.  This 

report contained a recommendation to Council to fund the WDBC 

share of the work (40%) from the Car Park Maintenance Earmarked 

Reserve.  

Public Conveniences – Pay on Entry  
 

On 16th October 2018 Hub Committee considered a report on the 

Public Conveniences Review. This referred to a requirement for 

capital funding for the Pay on Entry equipment, anticipated to be in 

the region of £50,000. Approval is now sought from Members to fund 

this capital requirement of up to £50,000 from the Strategic Change 

Earmarked Reserve. 

4. Options available and consideration of risk  
 

This is considered on a project by project basis as part of the project 
appraisal document and initial business case for each capital project. 

 
 

5.  Proposed Way Forward  
 

This is considered on a project by project basis. 
 

 
6. Implications  

 

Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  

proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 
 

 Statutory powers are provided by the S1 
Localism Act 2011 general power of 

competence. 

 



 
 

 
 

The capital programme is implemented in line 
with the Council’s legal requirements, which 

are examined on a project-by-project basis. 
To date there are no undue legal concerns. 

 
 

Financial 

 

 The total capital budget for 2018/19 is 

£22,609,815 of which £21,421,957 has been 
spent as at 31 December 2018 (Appendix A). 

 
The majority of the capital projects are within 

the individual capital budgets approved by 
Members.  There are two schemes which are 

slightly overspent by just under £7,000 
(0.03% of the 2018/19 capital budget). 

 
It is recommended to Council to fund the 

capital requirement for the Public Conveniences 
Pay on Entry equipment of up to £50,000 from 

the Strategic Change Earmarked Reserve. 
 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
 

 

Equality and 
Diversity 

 

 This matter is assessed as part of each 
specific project. 

Safeguarding 
 

 This matter is assessed as part of each 
specific project. 

 

Community Safety, 

Crime and 

Disorder 
 

 This matter is assessed as part of each 

specific project. 

Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing 

 This matter is assessed as part of each 
specific project. 

 

Other implications  None 

 

 
 

Supporting Information 
 

Appendices: 
 

Appendix A – Details of capital expenditure to 31st December 2018 
 



 
 

 
 

Background Papers:  
 

Revenue and Capital Budget proposals for 2018/19 - Council 20 
February 2018 (CM57 refers) 

Revenue and Capital Budget proposals for 2018/19 – Hub 6 February 
2018 (HC61 refers) 

 

Process checklist Completed 

Portfolio Holder briefed  Yes 

SLT Rep briefed Yes 

Relevant  Exec Director sign off (draft) Yes 

Data protection issues considered Yes 

If exempt information, public (part 1) 

report also drafted.  

N/a 

  



APPENDIX A

CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING to 31st December 2018

Budget 18-19 

(original)

Balances brought 

forward from 

previous years 

(underspend from the 

17/18 Capital 

Programme)

Total Budget for 

2018/19      

(including 

underspends 

brought forward)

Expenditure 

to 31st 

December 

2018

Total budget 

remaining for 

2018/19

Capital projects £ £ £ £ £

(A) (B) (A + B)

Community Project Grants 67,377 67,377 24,294 43,083

Leisure Investment Budget 481,874 481,874 481,874 0

Affordable Housing 50,000 89,000 139,000 50,000 89,000

Tenants Incentive Schemes 15,000 36,348 51,348 3,500 47,848

Public Sector Renewals inc Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG's) 450,000 101,087 551,087 236,737 314,350

Old Mill Site 22,925 22,925 22,925

Waste Fleet 947,254 947,254 949,503 (2,249)

Purchase of Land - Okehampton 255,000 255,000 259,703 (4,703)

Purchase of Supermarket, Okehampton* 3,600,500 3,600,500 3,571,999 28,501

Purchase of Office Block, Bristol* 12,690,200 12,690,200 12,135,807 554,393

Purchase of Industrial Units, Exeter* 3,745,000 3,745,000 3,708,539 36,461

Replacement Cash Receipting System (CM34/HC32) 58,250 58,250 58,250

Total 21,090,824 1,518,991 22,609,815 21,421,957 1,187,858

* This includes cost of acquisition





  

Report to: Hub Committee 

Date:                                      29th January 2019 

Title: Budget Proposals 2019-20 onwards 
update report  

Portfolio Area: Cllr P R Sanders - Budget Setting Process 

Wards Affected: All 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee: Overview and Scrutiny  

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 

clearance obtained: 

Y 

  

  

Author: Lisa Buckle Role: Group Manager for 
Strategic Finance 

(S151 Officer) 

Contact: Tel. 01803 861413 

Email: lisa.buckle@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

 
Recommendations:   
That the Hub Committee recommend to Council:- 
 

i) The increase in Council Tax for 2019/20 of 2.99%  
      (Band D of £231.63 for 2019/20 – an increase of 13 pence per week or  
      £6.72 per year).  

 
ii) The financial pressures shown in Appendix A of £420,000 

 
iii) The contributions to Earmarked Reserves of £120,000 and  
      transferring the one-off 2019-20 budget surplus of £73,135 into the  
      Future Financial Stability Earmarked Reserve to assist in meeting the  

           predicted budget gap of £504,242 in 2020/21.  
  

iv) The savings of £684,700 as shown in Appendix A 
 
 
 
 



v) The use of £375,000 of New Homes Bonus funding to fund  
      the 2019/20 Revenue Budget as set out in 4.6 of the report 

 

vi)  The recommendations of the Financial Stability Review Group on  
       Earmarked Reserves (set out in 10.2 and 10.3) and to agree for these 
       to be recommended in the final Budget Proposals report for 2019/20  
       presented to Council on 12th February 2019. 
 
(vii)   To delegate to the S151 Officer, in consultation with the   

             Leader and Deputy Leader to agree the final amount of New 
             Homes Bonus funding for the Dartmoor National Park  
             Sustainable Community Fund for 19/20 
 

(viii)  That a collection fund surplus of £84,000 is utilised in 19-20 
 
     (ix)   That the Total Net Expenditure of the Council is £7,049,096 
              for 2019-20. 
 
      (x)   That the Council Tax Support Grant paid to Town and Parish 
             Councils is reduced by 8.6% for 2019/20 as per Appendix A.  
 
      (xi)   That the fees and charges set out in Appendix D (Planning) and E 
               (Environmental Health) for 2019/20 are approved. 
 

 (xii)    To approve the recommendation of the Waste Working Group to 
commence the garden waste subscription period from the 1st April 
2019 instead of the current October renewal date. (Current 
subscriptions will be extended until the 1st April 2020 without 
additional charge.) Any shortfall income from 2019/20 and 2020/21 
whilst service growth is achieved should be covered from reserves 
(the Strategic Waste Earmarked Reserve) and paid back through 
increased income generated in future years. (This is set out in 4.21 
to 4.25 of the report). 

  
      (xiii)  That the level of reserves as set out within this report and   
              the assessment of their adequacy and the robustness of   
              budget estimates  be noted. This is a requirement of Part 2 of   
              the Local Government Act 2003. 

 
 
 
1.  Executive summary  
1.1    The Council approved its Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for 

2019/20 to 2023/24 at Council on 25th September 2018 (Minute CM33). 
This is based on a financial forecast over a rolling five year timeframe 
to 2023/24. The Council, along with other local authorities, has faced 
unprecedented reductions in Government funding since the 
Comprehensive Spending Review 2010. Between 2009/10 and 
2019/20, the Council’s Core Government funding has reduced by £3 
million. 



 
1.2 West Devon has continued to work in partnership with South Hams 

District Council which has allowed West Devon Borough Council to 
achieve annual savings of £2.2 million and more importantly protect all 
statutory front line services.  
 

1.3 Between both Councils the annual shared services savings being 
achieved are over £6 million. However, the Councils continue to face 
considerable financial challenges as a result of uncertainty in the wider 
economy and constraints on public sector spending. 
 

1.4 West Devon Borough Council is currently forecasting a £504,242 
budget gap by 2020/21. The report attached sets out proposals for 
the Council to achieve a balanced budget in 2019/20, as shown in 
Appendix B.  
 

1.5 The Draft Local Government Finance Settlement was published on 13th 
December 2018 and there has been an increase in the allocation of 
Rural Services Delivery Grant from £372,638 for 19/20 to £464,365 – 
an increase of £91,727. It is important to note that this additional 
funding for the provision of rural services has only been confirmed for 
one year (2019/20). This extra funding, alongside other changes to the 
budget position which was reported to the Hub Committee on 4th 
December (set out in Section 2), has resulted in a one-off budget 
surplus for 2019/20 of £73,135. This is recommended to be transferred 
to the Future Financial Stability Earmarked Reserve to assist in 
meeting the predicted budget gap of £504,242 in 2020/21.  
 
 

1.6 It is important to note that the MTFS set out the budget strategy for the 
Council for the next five years, with annual reviews and updates when 
items are further known or are announced by the Government. The 
MTFS approved at Council in September 2018 was the starting point 
for developing a meaningful five year strategy that has set out the 
strategic intention for all of the different strands of funding available to 
the Council. The Council is now able to rely on this to inform future 
decisions.  
 

1.7 A Cross Party Member Working Group (Financial Stability Review 
Group) was set up in November 2017 with defined Terms of Reference 
to look at the Medium Term Financial Strategy and to further look at 
options for securing financial stability for the longer term. The Group 
regularly reports to the Hub Committee and the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and has made recommendations on Reserves in 10.2 and 
10.3 of this report. 

 
 
 
 
 



2 CHANGES TO THE 2019/20 BUDGET REPORT SINCE THE HUB 
COMMITTEE MEETING OF 4th DECEMBER 2018 

 
Draft Local Government Finance Settlement for 2019/20 

 
2.1 On 13th December 2018, the Government announced the draft Finance 

Settlement for 2019/20 for consultation. Appendix C sets out an 
analysis of the finance settlement over the four years from 2016/17. 
Overall over the four year funding settlement from 2016/17 to 2019/20, 
it can be seen that West Devon Borough Council has had a 38.2% 
reduction in Government funding. This compares against 38.8% for the 
average for Shire District Councils. The key points from the Finance 
Settlement are below. 

 
2.2 The Council Tax Referendum limits for District Councils will remain the 

same (the higher of £5 or 2.99%). For Police and Crime 
Commissioners the potential annual increase to their council tax will be 
increased to £24 per annum. 
 

2.3 Negative Revenue Support Grant (RSG) for 2019/20 will be eliminated 
by the Government.  There has been no news on what will happen to 
negative RSG from 2020/21 onwards and therefore the modelling in 
this report has assumed negative RSG will remain for 2020/21 onwards 
in some form (e.g. as part of the business rates baseline reset). It is 
currently estimated to be £293,000 per annum which would be 
deducted off the Council’s business rates funding and represents 
negative Government grant (it is effectively the Council’s further 
predicted funding cuts). 

 
2.4 For 2019/20 there are no changes to the New Homes Bonus baseline 

of 0.4% (the previous concern was that this could be increased to 
0.6%). The baseline is the proportion of housing growth which is 
deducted as ‘natural growth as such’ before New Homes Bonus is paid 
to a Council. The Council’s New Homes Bonus allocation for 2019/20 
has been announced at £500,595. 

 
2.5 Rural Service Delivery Grant (RSDG) in 2019/20 will increase to £81m; 

an increase of £16m on the previously planned £65m allocation. This 
has increased West Devon’s allocation from £372,638 for 19/20 to 
£464,365 – an increase of £91,727. This additional funding has only 
been confirmed for 2019/20 (so only confirmed for one year). It is not 
known how much RSDG the Council will receive for 2020/21 onwards 
and the same level of £464,365 has been assumed in the modelling. 
 

2.6 Proposals for new 75% Business Rates Pilots in 2019/20 have been 
approved for 15 areas and these are in Berkshire, Buckinghamshire, 
East Sussex, Hertfordshire, Lancashire, Leicestershire, Norfolk, 
Northamptonshire, North and West Yorkshire, North of the Tyne, 
Solent, Somerset, Staffordshire and Stoke, West Sussex and 
Worcestershire; Unfortunately Devon wasn’t successful in being a 



Business Rates Pilot for 2019/20 but most of the Pilots announced are 
new Pilot areas for 2019/20. Devon is already a Pilot for 2018/19. This 
will mean that West Devon Borough Council will continue to be part of 
a Devonwide Business Rates Pool for 2019/20.  

 
2.7 In addition to the local government finance settlement, two consultation 

papers have been published on the Fair Funding Review and Business 
Rates Retention. Officers will attend local seminars on this during 
January and February and circulate a consultation response to all 
Members and our local MPs. 
 

2.8 During 2016/17 the Government offered Local Authorities the 
opportunity to apply for a four year agreed funding settlement, subject 
to the production of an efficiency plan. The Council applied and was 
accepted for the four year agreement. From 2018/19 onwards, the 
Council has received no Government funding (Revenue Support Grant, 
RSG) and the Council will need to be self-sufficient. Although the four 
year settlement offered no Revenue Support Grant, it did guarantee the 
Council its allocations of Rural Services Delivery Grant over the four 
year period. The Finance Settlement for 2019/20 only covered the last 
year of the four year settlement. The point is being made by the Local 
Government Association (LGA) that Councils need more certainty of 
their funding longer term post 2020.  
 

2.9 There is a one-off amount of £25,000 being paid to the Council from 
the surplus national business rates funding held in the Government 
Levy Account (WDBC’s share) 

 
 

Other updates to the Budget report since the Hub Committee 
meeting of 4th December 2018 

 
2.10 On 4th December 2018, Council approved the recommendation of the 

Frontline Services Project Board to award a contract (Lot 3) for the 
waste collection, recycling and cleansing services (Minute CM42). This 
has generated a saving from a Lot 3 award of £254,000 per annum. It 
was also approved to contribute £50,000 per annum into a Vehicle 
Replacement Earmarked Reserve. Officers were also instructed to work 
with the successful bidder on the implementation of a three-weekly 
residual waste collection trial as soon as is practicable, subject to a 
report detailing potential savings and timescales being approved by the 
Hub Committee.  (NB. the report will be presented within three months 
of the contract start date). 

 
2.11 The TaxBase for 2019/20 was approved by the Senior Leadership 

Team on 17th December and has been confirmed at 20,176.57 – This is 
an increase of 58.72 Band D Equivalent properties from the 2018/19 
TaxBase. (The increase of just under 59 Band D properties is less than 
the previously modelled assumption that the number of properties 
would increase by 160 per annum). 



2.12 The table below shows the summary of changes:- 
 Total (£) 
Budget Gap for 2019/20 reported to the Hub 
Committee meeting on 4th December 2018 

269,132 

Additional Income/Savings   

Increase in the allocation of Rural Services 
Delivery Grant from £372,638 for 19/20 to 
£464,365 – an increase of £91,727 

(91,727) 

One-off amount from the surplus national business 
rates funding held in the Government Levy 
Account (WDBC’s share) 

(25,000) 

Savings from the re-procurement of the waste 
collection, recycling and cleansing services 
contract (Minute CM42) 

(254,000) 

Reduction in savings or income modelled  
TaxBase confirmed at 20,176.57 for 2019/20 
(There are less additional properties and therefore 
this difference set out in 2.11 adds to the budget 
gap) 

23,460 

Legal savings (from providing services to Town 
and Parish Councils) previously put forward as part 
of the Budget Workshop are now thought to not be 
achievable with the current resource level 

5,000 

Revised Budget Surplus for 2019/20 (reported 
January 2019) – This is recommended to be 
transferred to the Future Financial Stability 
Earmarked Reserve to assist in meeting the 
predicted budget gap of £504,242 in 2019/20 

(73,135) 

 
2.13 The Draft Budget Proposals were considered by the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee at their meeting on 15th January. A copy of the 
minute from their meeting is below: 

 
 * O&S 81 BUDGET PROPOSALS 2019/20 ONWARDS 

UPDATE 
Members were presented with a report that asked for 
consideration of the draft Budget proposals for 2019-20 and 
onwards. 
 
The Leader of Council introduced the report and specifically 
highlighted the updates to the Budget position since the Hub 
Committee meeting had considered the matter at its meeting on 4 
December 2018 (Minute HC *49 refers). 
 
In the ensuing debate, particular reference was made to:- 
 
(a) confirmation that the monies allocated from the Better Care 

Fund were sufficient to finance Disabled Facilities Grants; 
 
 



(b) income from investments in Commercial Property.  In 
response to a question, officers advised that the proposed 
£120,000 Year 4 (2022/23) income could consist of a 
combination of potential commercial development in the 
Borough and property acquisitions outside of West Devon; 

 
(c) delivery of rural services.  The Leader informed that the Rural 

Services Network and Local Government Association 
continued to rigorously lobby Central Government to point out 
the distinct differences between rural and urban service 
delivery; 

 
(d) the waste collection service.  The S151 Officer confirmed that 

trials would be needed to inform the level of savings 
achievable from a three weekly waste collection and a report 
would be presented to the Hub Committee by the end of June 
2019;  

 
(e) the future Budget gap.  Whilst the Council was facing severe 

challenges to fill its Budget gap, Members made reference to 
a number of the measures that had already been 
implemented.  These, coupled with some of the future 
proposals and the findings of the recent Peer Review, left 
some Members confident that the Council would have options 
and the ability to close its future Budget gap; 

 
(f) the proposed Community Grant reductions.  Whilst he would 

reluctantly support the recommendation, a Member did 
express his disappointment over the proposed grant 
reductions to some Community Groups.  For clarity, it was 
confirmed that there was currently no intention to recommend 
a reduction in grant awarded to Citizens’ Advice. 
 

It was then: 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That, as part of the 2019/20 Budget Setting process, the Hub 
Committee take into account that the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee support: 
 
1. the proposed increase in Council Tax for 2019/20 of 2.99% 

(Band D of £231.63 for 2019/20 – an increase of 13 pence per 
week or £6.72 per year); 
 

2. the proposed financial pressures of £420,000 (as shown in 
Appendix A of the presented agenda report); 

 
 



3. the proposed contributions to Earmarked Reserves of 
£120,000 and transfer of the one-off 2019/20 Budget Surplus 
of £73,135 into the Future Financial Stability Earmarked 
Reserve to assist in meeting the predicted Budget gap of 
£504,242 in 2020/21; 

 
4. the proposed savings of £684,700 (as shown in Appendix A of 

the presented agenda report); 
 

5. the proposed use of £375,000 of New Homes Bonus funding 
to fund the 2019/20 Revenue Budget (as set out in Section 
4.6 of the presented agenda report); and 

 
6. the recommendations of the Financial Stability Review Group 

on Earmarked Reserves (as set out in paragraphs 10.2 and 
10.3 of the presented agenda report) and agree that these 
should be recommended in the final Budget Proposals report 
for 2019/20 (to be presented to the Council meeting on 12 
February 2019). 

 
 
3   ASSUMPTIONS FOR FINANCIAL MODELLING PURPOSES 
3.1  The National Employers made a final pay offer covering 1 April 2018 to 

31 March 2020. The majority of employees (those on salaries starting 
at £19,430 p.a.) have received an uplift of 2% on 1/4/18 and a further 
2% on 1/4/19, with those on lower salaries receiving higher increases. 
The cost of this was £85,000 in 2018/19 and a further £95,000 in 
2019/20. This has been reflected in Appendix A. The Medium Term 
Financial Strategy is not an expression of Council Policy on pay 
awards, but a means of ensuring an appropriate provision is made as 
part of the overall financial planning of the Council. 

 
3.2 This report assumes inflation will run at 2% over the five year period. 

The Consumer Prices Index (CPI) was 2.4% in October 2018. 
 
3.3 The predicted interest rate forecast from our treasury management 

advisors, Link Services, is that interest rates will remain at 0.75% up to 
June 2019. By December 2020 the bank base rate is predicted to 
increase to 1.5%.  

 
3.4    An increase in council tax of 2.99% for the next five years has been 

modelled for council tax purposes. This strategic principle was 
approved as part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (Minute 
CM33). This would equate to a Band D council tax for West Devon of 
£231.63 in 2019/20 as shown in Appendix B (an increase of £6.72 for 
the year which equates to 2.99%). 

 
 
 



3.5 It has been assumed that the number of properties within the Borough 
will increase by 160 per annum from 2020/21 onwards – this is an 
increase of approx. 0.8%. (see note 2.11 for the 2019/20 increase of 59 
Band D Equivalent properties and Members may wish to decrease this 
estimate in the future). 

 
4. THE COMPONENTS MAKING UP A MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL 

STRATEGY (MTFS) 
 
4.1 The Diagram below sets out all of the component parts which 

constitute the make-up of a Medium Term Financial Strategy. Appendix 
C of the MTFS report to Council on 25th September 2018 went through 
each of these components in detail and made recommendations where 
appropriate.  

 
Items in Green denote those elements where the Council has a large 
degree of control over the setting of policies and strategies. Items in 
Amber denote those components of the MTFS where the Council has a 
degree of control. Red items signal components where the Council has 
hardly any control over funding allocations which are decided by the 
Government and future cost pressures which can largely be outside of 
the Council’s control or influence. 

 
 
        Net Budget £7.3 million 
      

 
 
  

Council Tax 
4.2 Council on 25th September 2018 (Minute CM33) has set the strategic 

intention to raise council tax by the maximum allowed in any given 
year, without triggering a council tax referendum, to endeavour to 
continue to deliver services. The actual council tax for any given year 
will be decided by Council in the preceding February. (The council tax 
for 2019/20 will be set at the Council meeting on 12th February 2019). 



 
 Business Rates 
4.3 The income from Business Rates which West Devon Borough Council 

retained in 2017/18 was the funding baseline of £1,538,973 plus the 
pooling gain of £82,000. Estimates have been made of the Baseline 
funding Level for 2019/20 onwards as set out in Appendix B. This is 
£1.62m for 2019/20 and £1.66m for 2020/21. Negative RSG of 
£293,000 per annum from 2020/21 has been assumed to be deducted 
from the business rates funding as set out in 2.3. 

 
New Homes Bonus (NHB) 

4.4 The Government has stated that 2019/20 represents the final year of 
NHB funding and from 2020 onwards they will explore how to 
incentivise housing growth most effectively and will consult on this 
issue. The financial modelling has included using £375,000 of New 
Homes Bonus funding for 2019/20 to fund the revenue base budget 
and this has then been reduced to £100,000 by 2020/21 and £50,000 
by 2021/22 for modelling purposes. 
 

4.5 For 2019/20 there are no changes to the New Homes Bonus baseline 
of 0.4% (the previous concern was that this could be increased to 
0.6%). The baseline is the proportion of housing growth which is 
deducted as ‘natural growth as such’ before New Homes Bonus is paid 
to a Council. The Council’s New Homes Bonus allocation for 2019/20 
has been confirmed at £500,595. 
 

4.6 The table below sets out the suggested use of New Homes Bonus 
funding for 2019/20:- 
 
NHB Amount (£) 
New Homes Bonus 2019-20 
allocation 

500,595 

Suggested allocation:-  
To fund the Revenue Base Budget (375,000) 
To fund the Capital Programme for 
2019/20* (This is mainly a £50,000 
allocation for affordable housing) 

(80,000) 

Dartmoor National Park 
allocation** 

TBA 

Amount remaining unallocated 45,595 
 

*The Capital Programme Bids for 2019/20 are a separate report on this 
agenda for the Hub Committee on 29th January 2019 
 
**Dartmoor National Park (DNP) – On an annual basis Dartmoor 
National Park request a share of the New Homes Bonus to reflect new 
homes delivered within the Park. The money is used to support a local 
community fund and, for example, joint work through the rural housing 
enabler. Members consider this on an annual basis as part of the 
Budget process.  



 
 

4.7 District Councils such as West Devon have also suffered a large 
reduction in their New Homes Bonus funding (£0.5 million in 17/18) due 
to the number of years payments being reduced from six years to five 
years in 17/18 and four years from 18/19 onwards. The New Homes 
Bonus funding being released is to contribute towards adult social care 
costs, a function carried out by Unitary and County Councils.  
 
Pensions Strategy (Actuarial Valuation) 

4.8 The Council has taken specialist pension advice on the options for the 
Council’s Pension position (informing the actuarial valuation), with the 
aim of reducing the current deficit contributions, increasing affordability, 
whilst best managing the pension deficit. Options are being presented 
to the Council’s Audit Committee on 22nd January to consider. 

 

 Treasury Management and Borrowing Strategy 

4.9 The Council has taken external treasury management advice on the 
Council’s overall borrowing levels and debt levels. The Council set an 
Upper Limit on External Borrowing (for all Council services) as part of 
the Medium Term Financial Strategy of £50 million.  In February 2019, 
the Council will consider its Capital Strategy and Treasury 
Management Strategy which will contain the new requirements issued 
by MHCLG in February 2018 of the new guidance. 

 

 Partnership Funding/Grants 

4.10 Following reports to both the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (26th 

June) and the Hub Committee, it has been approved by Council 

(Minute CM24 – Council 24th July 2018) to reduce funding to 

Partnerships by £14,000 for 2019/20. 

 Commercial Property and Review of Assets 

4.11 The Invest to Earn Group are considering commercial property 

business cases within the Commercial Property acquisition strategy. A 

report on the funding for the initial years of the development projects is 

being presented to the Hub Committee on this agenda. 

4.12 The Council’s Asset Base is £22.3 million at 31 March 2018. The 

Council will continually review and challenge its asset base in order to 

deliver the optimum value for money from the Council’s Assets.  

 
 
 
 
 
 



 Results of the Members’ Budget Survey 2018 
 
4.13 A Members’ Budget Workshop was held on 8th October and the budget 

reductions which were supported from the results of the Members’ 
Budget Survey (which were attached in Exempt Appendix C of the 
report to the Hub Committee in December 2018) have been reflected 
within the savings schedule of this budget report. The budget savings 
have been highlighted in grey in Appendix A. 

 
 
Planning Fees and Charges for 2019/20 

 
4.14 Appendix D sets out the Planning Fees and Charges for 2019/20. The 

first five fees/charges were introduced this year and to date take up has 

been very low, further consultation is taking place with the planning 

agents to ascertain why the service is not being used and whether the 

charge is a major factor.  Given the low take up so far it is not proposed 

to alter the fees at this point. 

 

4.15 Charging for the Duty Planning service was introduced in April 2018.  A 

budget target of £6,500 was set based on a conservative forecast of 

income due to the unknown uptake.  Uptake has been higher than 

predicted and together with a rise in the fee from £30 to £40 it is 

predicted that an income of £10,000 is achievable in 2019/20 (an 

increase of £3,500). 

4.16 The fees for planning pre-application advice were revised at the 

beginning of this financial year with some of the fees significantly rising 

and the introduction of a fee for a scoping meeting for larger 

development.  It was anticipated that the change in fee structure would 

be broadly neutral, however this year’s projected income of £20,000 

will be met.  Given the rise in the pre-application fees last year 

(2018/19) it is not considered reasonable to raise them again this year. 

 

 Environmental Health Fees and Charges for 2019/20 

 
4.17 Appendix E sets out proposals for Environmental Health Charges for 

2019/20. Environmental Health charges were reviewed for 2016/17 to 
ensure that the Council charges were consistent across WDBC and 
SHDC and complied with the legislation in terms of the maximum 
charge being full cost recovery. The charges were changed to reflect 
this requirement and the review of charges for 2019/20 reflects the full 
cost recovery concept and the proposal is to increase most charges by 
3% to reflect inflation and the additional cost to the Council of providing 
these services. 

 



4.18 The setting of fees for the issuing of licences for Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire Vehicles, as well as Private Hire operators is governed by 
the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, this 
requires that where the fee set is proposed to be greater than £25 the 
Council must advertise these changes for a period of 28 days, and 
publish a notice in the local newspaper. Due to the cost of the 
advertisement of fees it is not economically beneficial to the local 
authority to increase these fees by inflation each year. Fees for these 
licences will be reviewed on a 3 yearly basis to ensure that the Council 
is not subsidising the delivery of the service substantially. 

 
4.19 In terms of additional income, the changes to existing Environmental 

Health and Licensing charges shouldn’t be significant since the 
increases are merely incremental. 

 
4.20 The new charge for ECO declaration certification is an administrative 

charge for the processing of applications, this is in line with other 
Councils who charge for the Council’s administrative costs of the 
scheme. The estimated additional income from the proposed new fee is 
£10,000 and this has already been built into this Hub Committee report. 

 
 Garden Waste Service 
 
4.21 The opt-in garden waste service began on 31st July 2017 and the 

subscription year was set at October to September.  This was due to 
the timetable for decision making with a Spring service start date 
always being the preferred option. 

 
4.22 The participation and subscription rates were based on that 

experienced by other Councils with similar demographics and set at 
35% and £40 respectively. From this, the net income forecast was 
£67,500 in the first year with £190,000 for each subsequent year. In 
2017-18, and in the current financial year, the actual number of 
subscriptions was around 20%. Currently the target net income has 
been met in both years, largely due to savings on forecasted 
expenditure - the lower subscription rate has meant fewer sacks and 
deliveries were required. However, currently no surplus is left for future 
replacement of sacks and the Council misses the opportunity of 
boosting income considerably on an ongoing basis if a higher 
subscription target can be met.  

 
4.23   Officers have carried out a range of promotions to boost subscriptions 

and are currently updating the payment system and associated 
webpages to make the process more customer-friendly. However, the 
number of actual subscriptions has remained consistent with no 
significant increase achieved. Trends from other Councils would 
indicate this to be linked to the subscription year starting in October 
which is at the end of the growing season.  

 



4.24 A number of options have been considered, and it is the request of the 
Waste Working Group that the subscription year is moved from 1 
October to the 1 April with effect from 1 April 2019. This is expected to 
increase participation by aligning with the start of the growing season 
and ensure a greater level of income from the service in the future. 
Residents currently subscribing (October 2018 – September 2019) year 
would have their service extended for 6 months to align from 1 April 
2020 without additional charge.  A dual subscription year, i.e. 1 April 
2019 – 31 March 2020 running in tandem with a 6 months subscription 
from 1 October 2019 – 31 March 2020 has been considered, however 
this increases both operational and administrative complexity ongoing.  

 
4.25   The proposal will mean a fall in income for the 2019-20 financial year. If 

the original target of 35% participation (which was based on the uptake 
in other similar local authorities and has been exceeded by many) is 
met, the loss of income in 2019-20 would be around £20,000. However, 
the uptake of new subscribers is difficult to accurately predict as some 
non-subscribing residents may have made other arrangements over 
the past year of charging, such as home composting. Projections are 
therefore based upon a 2 year recovery and growth period. 

 
 
5 BUDGET PRESSURES, SAVINGS AND INCOME GENERATION   
5.1 Financial modelling has been undertaken for the next five years to 

predict the Council’s financial situation for the short and medium term. 
 
5.2 Appendix A to the Medium Term Financial Position sets out the 

Budget Pressures forecast for the next five years and the additional 
savings and income forecast. These figures in Appendix A show the 
changes to the existing base budget.  

 
(As set out 
in Appendix 
A) 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

Cost 
Pressures 

£420,000 £465,000 £260,000 £260,000 £335,000 

Contributions 
to 
Earmarked 
Reserves 

£120,000 £120,000 £120,000 £120,000 £120,000 

Savings and 
additional 
income  

(684,700) (266,200) (171,200) (391,200) (1,200) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



6. OVERALL POSITION – BUDGET GAP 
6.1 Appendix B illustrates the overall financial forecast for the forthcoming 

five years. The Council’s Net Budget is £7.3 million in 2018/19. A 
Summary forecast is shown below of the potential budget situation if all 
of the budget pressures and the savings and income generation in 
Appendix A were approved. It also shows the situation if the Council 
Tax is increased by 2.99% (shown in Appendix B). 

 
6.2 The following table illustrates the predicted budget gap from 2019/20 

onwards for the Council as shown in Appendix B: 
 

Cumulative  
Budget Gap 

2019/20 
£ 

2020/21 
£ 

2021/22 
£ 

2022/23 
£ 

2023/24 
£ 

Total  
Aggregated  
Budget Gap 
£ 

Modelling as 
set out in  
Appendix B 
 

Nil – A 
balanced 
Budget is 
set out in  
these 
budget 
proposals 
  
(See Note 
1 below) 

504,242 415,733 47,605 143,341 1,110,921 

 
Note 1 - The Draft Local Government Finance Settlement was 
published on 13th December 2018 and there has been an increase in 
the allocation of Rural Services Delivery Grant from £372,638 for 19/20 
to £464,365 – an increase of £91,727. 
 
It is important to note that this additional funding for the provision of 
rural services has only been confirmed for one year (2019/20). This 
extra funding, alongside other changes to the budget position which 
was reported to the Hub Committee on 4th December (set out in 
Section 2), has resulted in a one-off budget surplus for 2019/20 of 
£73,135. This is recommended to be transferred to the Future Financial 
Stability Earmarked Reserve to assist in meeting the predicted budget 
gap of £504,242 in 2020/21.  
 

6.3 In the Modelling in Appendix B, the total budget gap is £504,242 in 
2020/21 and this is predicted to decrease to £415,733 in 2021/22 (the 
£415,733 assumes the budget gap in 20/21 of £504,242 has not been 
closed). The aggregated Budget Gap is £1.11 million. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



7 FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY AND TIMESCALES 
7.1 The Council is progressing various options for closing the budget gap 

for 2020/21 onwards, to achieve long term financial sustainability.  The 
table below sets out a timescale for those options and the various 
strands that the Council is exploring. 

 
Option Possible 

Budget 
Impact 

Timescale 

Public Conveniences 
A budget saving of £50,000 in 
2019/20 has been included within the 
total budget savings modelled.  
 
 

 
£50,000 

A further update 
report is on this 
Hub Committee 
agenda for the 
29th January 
2019. 

Pensions Strategy  
(Actuarial Valuation) 
The Council is in the process of  
receiving specialist pensions advice 
on its Pensions position (informing the 
actuarial valuation). Options will be 
reported to the January Audit 
Committee. 
 

 
To be 
quantified 
(could be 
up to 
£100,000 
or more) 

 
Report to the 
Audit Committee 
22nd January 
2019 

Waste Procurement  
The savings (£254,000 per annum) 
from the waste procurement are now 
included within the modelling within 
this budget report.  
As per Council Minute CM42 (4th 
December 2018), Officers were also 
instructed to work with the successful 
bidder on the implementation of a 
three-weekly residual waste collection 
trial as soon as is practicable, subject 
to a report detailing potential savings 
and timescales being approved by the 
Hub Committee.  (NB. the report will 
be presented within three months of 
the contract start date). 
 

 
To be 
quantified 

 
By the end of 
June 2019 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
The grant to Town and Parish 
Councils has been reduced by 8.6% 
over the four year period of the 
finance settlement. Members have an 
option over whether to withdraw 
funding in 2020/21. 

 
£59,000 
for 
2020/21 
onwards 

 
To be 
considered as 
part of the 
2020/21 Budget 
process - Early 
consideration by 
Summer 2019 



Option Possible 
Budget 
Impact 

Timescale 

 
Asset Review 
The Invest to Earn Group are 
considering commercial property 
business cases within the Commercial 
Property acquisition strategy. A report 
on the funding for the initial years of 
the development projects is being 
presented to the Hub Committee on 
this agenda for 29th January 2019. 
 

 
To be 
quantified 

 
29th January 
2019 

Funding Options 
 

  

Negative Revenue Support Grant 
(RSG) 
The draft Finance Settlement 
published in December 2018 
confirmed the Government’s intention 
that negative RSG will be withdrawn 
in 2019/20. 
 
This budget report has already 
factored in that there will be no 
negative RSG for 2019-20. It is 
assumed that negative RSG of 
£293,000 per annum will continue to 
happen for 2020/21 onwards. 
 
See Section 2.3 for more explanation 
 

 
 
Negative 
RSG of 
£293,000 
for 
2020/21 
onwards 
has been 
built into 
this budget 
report. 

 
 
The draft 
Finance 
Settlement for 
2019/20 has 
only confirmed 
that negative 
RSG will be 
withdrawn for 
2019/20 only. 
 
The position for 
2020/21 
onwards is not 
known and it is 
assumed that 
negative RSG of 
£293,000 per 
annum will be in 
place. 
 

New Homes Bonus allocations for 
2020/21 onwards 
 
The Government has stated that 
2019/20 represents the final year of 
NHB funding and from 2020 onwards 
they will explore how to incentivise 
housing growth most effectively and 
will consult on this issue.  
 
 
 

 
 
 
To be 
assessed 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Awaiting further 
announcements 
from the 
Government  



Option Possible 
Budget 
Impact 

Timescale 

New Homes Bonus allocations for 
2020/21 onwards (continued) 
 
 
The financial modelling has included 
using £375,000 of New Homes Bonus 
funding for 2019/20 to fund the 
revenue base budget and this has 
then been reduced to £100,000 by 
2020/21 and £50,000 by 2021/22 for 
modelling purposes. 
 
 
This remains a risk for the Council. 
 
 

It is not 
known 
what NHB 
allocations 
(or a 
similar 
scheme) 
will be in 
future 
years 
when the 
NHB 
scheme is 
replaced.  

Use of Reserves as a temporary 
measure 
 
 
The Council could temporarily utilise 
Reserves to balance an element of 
the 2020/21 budget, whilst longer 
term solutions are being implemented. 
 
This would be a very short term 
solution though.  

To be 
assessed 

To be decided 
as part of the 
Budget Process  

 
7.2 Through the Financial Stability Review Group, further measures are 

being considered to balance the 2020/21 onwards budget positions. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



7.3 The diagram below shows the Government timetable of key dates. 
 The key dates will be in May 2019 when more details will be known 

about the Funding Reform and Spending Review 2019. In November 
2019, the baseline funding for business rates and the impact of the 
transitional arrangements will be known. 

  
 
 
 
8 CAPITAL PROGRAMME AND PRUDENTIAL BORROWING 
8.1 The Capital Programme is set by the Council and may be funded by 

sale proceeds from the disposal of assets (capital receipts), external 
grants and contributions, directly from revenue or from borrowing. 
There is a separate report on this Hub Committee agenda for the  
Capital Programme Bids for 2019/20, totalling £6,053,000. 

   
8.2 Commercial Property Acquisition Strategy – The Council has 

agreed a commercial property acquisition strategy of up to £37.45 
million. To date, three investment properties have been purchased with 
a value of just over £20 million in aggregate. Purchases made within 
the strategy will be capital expenditure. The Invest to Earn Group are 
considering commercial property business cases within the 
Commercial Property acquisition strategy. A report on the funding for 
the initial years of the development projects is being presented to the 
Hub Committee on this agenda for the 29th January 2019. 

 
8.3 Prudential Borrowing - The Council will consider the use of prudential 

borrowing to support capital investment to deliver services and will 
ensure that the full costs of borrowing are taken into account when 
investment decisions are made.  

 
 
 
 



9. Sensitivity analysis and risk analysis 
9.1 The Council carries out sensitivity analysis and risk analysis of its 

Budget Proposals and this was shown in Appendix F to the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy. 

 
10.  Earmarked and Unearmarked Reserves 
10.1 The current levels of Reserves are £1.2 million Unearmarked Reserves 

and Earmarked Reserves of £4 million. The Council’s Net Budget is 
£7.3 million for 2018/19. Therefore Unearmarked Reserves equate to 
16% of the Council’s Net Budget. A full list of Reserves was attached in 
Appendix E to the Budget report to the Hub Committee in December 
2018. 

 
10.2 The Financial Stability Review Group has reviewed the Earmarked 

Reserves and has identified several historic lower value Earmarked 
reserves which have no current commitments and no recent 
expenditure. These are listed below and they total £84,937. It is 
recommended that this amount is allocated instead to the ICT Reserve 
which is currently depleted and has no resource remaining. 

 

• W0901 – Grounds Maintenance Reserve - £49,068 

• W0909 – Millwood Homes Reserve - £15,000 

• W0923 – CLG Assets Community Value - £7,855 

• W0898 – Landscaping - £5,220 

• W0907 - New Burdens Reserve - £3,294 

• W0908 – World Heritage  - £4,500 

• TOTAL  £84,937 
 
10.3 The annual contributions to Reserves of £25,000 to the Planning 

Earmarked Reserve and £25,000 to the ICT Reserve were supported 
by the Financial Stability Review Group (FSRG). The FSRG were also 
of the opinion that the cost pressure for Elections of £50,000 could be 
removed, in light of the amount held in Reserves of £24,000 for 
Elections. It was agreed to remove the £50,000 cost pressure in 
2019/20 and replace this with an annual contribution to the Elections 
Earmarked Reserve of £20,000.  

 
10.4 On 4th December 2018 (Minute CM42), Council approved a 

contribution of £50,000 per annum into a Vehicle Replacement 
Earmarked Reserve for the waste collection, recycling and cleansing 
services contract.  

 
10.5 Budget Monitoring – The latest Quarter 3 Budget Monitoring report 

shows the actual net revenue expenditure is forecast to be under 
budget by £65,000 when compared against the total budget set for 
2018/19. This is mainly due to additional planning income following the 
receipt of several large planning applications in the second quarter of 
2018/19. 

  
 



11 NEXT STEPS 
11.1 This MTFS is the starting point for developing a meaningful five year 

strategy that sets out the strategic intention for all of the different 
strands of funding available to the Council. This was approved at 
Council in September 2018.  The Council is now able to rely on this to 
inform future decisions.  

 
11.2 Officers will continue to work with the Cross Party Member Working 

Group (Financial Stability Review Group) and the results of this will be 
incorporated into future Budget reports. Section 7 sets out the potential 
timescales against the areas identified.  

 
11.3 The table below shows the budget timetable for the future budget 

meetings for the 2019/20 Budget. 
 

29th January 2019 Hub Committee – To recommend Final 

Budget Proposals to Council for 2019/20 

 7th February 19 Date which Council Procedure Rule 16 

applies 

12th February 19 Full Council – To approve Final Budget 

Proposals for 2019/20 and set the WDBC 

share of the Council Tax 

19th February 19 Council Tax Resolution Panel – to agree the 

Council Tax Resolution for 2019/20 

(This is WDBC share plus all other 

precepting authorities share). 
 
 

Note 1- Council Procedure Rule 16 states that ‘Where a member 

intends to move a motion or amendment in relation to the 

Budget, the text of that motion or amendment must be put in 

writing and submitted to the Head of Paid Service  by 9am on the 

third working day before the meeting, in order that officers may 

have sufficient time to consider and advise the Council of the 

financial implications of any such motion or amendment’. As per 

the timetable above, this would need to be submitted by 9am on 

Thursday 7th February 19. 

 
 
 
 
 
 



12.  IMPLICATIONS 
 
Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  
proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 
 

Y            The Hub Committee is responsible for 
recommending to Council the budgetary 
framework. It is the role of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee to scrutinise the Budget 
proposals being proposed by the Council. In 
accordance with the Financial Procedure 
Rules, Council must decide the general level of 
Reserves and the use of Earmarked Reserves. 

 
           The preparation of the Budget report is 

evidence that the Council has considered and 
taken into account all relevant information and 
proper advice when determining its financial 
arrangements in accordance with statutory 
requirements, and in particular, that it will set a 
lawful budget. 

 
 

Financial 
 

Y In the Modelling in Appendix B, the total budget gap is 
£504,242 in 2020/21 and this is predicted to decrease 
to £415,733 in 2021/22 (the £415,733 assumes the 
budget gap in 20/21 of £504,242 has not been 
closed). The aggregated Budget Gap is £1.11 million. 
 
 

Risk 
 
 

Y Each of the budget options taken forward by 
Members will consider the risks of the option. 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
 

Equality and 
Diversity 

 Equality Impact Assessments are completed for the 
budget proposals. 

Safeguarding  None directly arising from this report. 
Community 
Safety, Crime and 
Disorder 

 None directly arising from this report. 
 

Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing 

 None directly arising from this report. 
 

Other implications  None directly arising from this report. 
    
 
 
 
 



Supporting Information 
Appendices: 
Appendix A – Budget pressures and savings 
Appendix B – Modelling of the Budget Position 
Appendix C – Local Government Finance Settlement analysis 
Appendix D – Planning Fees for 2019/20 
Appendix E – Environmental Health Fees for 2019/20 
 
 
Approval and clearance of report 
 
Process checklist Completed 
Portfolio Holder briefed  Yes 
SLT Rep briefed Yes 

Relevant  Exec Director sign off (draft) Yes 
Data protection issues considered Yes 
If exempt information, public (part 1) report 
also drafted. (Committee/Scrutiny) 

N/A 

 





BUDGET PRESSURES AND SAVINGS

(This shows the changes to the existing Base Budget)
APPENDIX  A

WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL

BASE Yr1 Yr2 Yr3 Yr4 Yr5

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

BUDGET PRESSURES £ £ £ £ £ £

Waste collection, recycling and cleansing contract (estimate) 190,000 70,000 70,000 70,000 70,000 70,000

Inflation on the street cleaning and public conveniences 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000

ICT future service provision 0 0 150,000 0 0 0

Triennial Pension revaluation 25,000 0 75,000 0 0 75,000

Inflation on goods and services 70,000 70,000 70,000 70,000 70,000 70,000

Increase in salaries - increments and pay and grading 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000

Increase in salaries - pay increase at 2% modelled (1% for 20/21 onwards) 85,000 95,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000

Maintenance of trees 40,000 0 (20,000) 0 0 0

Reduction in Recycling credits 25,000 0 0 0 0 0

ICT support contracts - increase the budget to better align to actual expenditure 65,000 95,000 0 0 0 0

Reduce income target for Kilworthy Park to align to actual income received 25,000 0 0 0 0 0

Reduction in Housing Benefit administration subsidy  16,500 20,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000

National Insurance and National Living Wage 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000

Provision for salary costs for steady state review 20,000 0 0 0 0 0

IT - replace ageing network switches 15,000 0 0 0 0 0

Waste - lease renewal 15,000 0 0 0 0 0

Revenue implication of the waste capital bid in 2017/18 capital programme 13,000 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL IDENTIFIED BUDGET PRESSURES 674,500 420,000 465,000 260,000 260,000 335,000

WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL BASE Yr1 Yr2 Yr3 Yr4 Yr5

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23
£ £ £ £ £ £

Contribution to Earmarked Reserves                                                                                                

(This line shows the annual contributions into the Reserve)

Contribution to IT Development Reserve (£25K per annum) 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000

Contribution to Planning Reserve (£25K per annum) 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000

Contribution to Elections Reserve (20K per annum) 0 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000

Contribution to Vehicles Replacement Reserve (£50K per annum) - see 10.4 - Minute CM42 0 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000

Transformation Project (T18) - Approved at 9th December 2014 Council                                    

(One-off investment costs)                                                                                                    

Contribution to Strategic Change Reserve to meet redundancy and pension costs - 

Contributions reduce to zero in 2019/20 
10,000 0 0 0 0 0

Total Contribution to Earmarked Reserves 60,000 120,000 120,000 120,000 120,000 120,000



BUDGET PRESSURES AND SAVINGS

(This shows the changes to the existing Base Budget)
APPENDIX  A

SAVINGS AND INCOME GENERATION IDENTIFIED BASE Yr1 Yr2 Yr3 Yr4 Yr5

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
£ £ £ £ £ £

Income from investments in commercial property
100,000 100,000 20,000 40,000 120,000 0

Re-procurement of contracts (e.g. savings from Leisure contract) 0 0 100,000 130,000 270,000 0

Re-procurement of waste collection, recycling and cleansing contract                                  

(The £50K contribution to the Vehicle Replacement Earmarked Reserve is deducted from 

these savings to give a net saving of £254,000 per annum as per 2.10) 0 304,000 0 0 0 0

Opt-in charged garden waste service 

122,500 0 0 0 0 0

Car parking income from a review of charges 
180,000 0 0 0 0 0

Additional car parking income  (to reflect current increase in use in 2017/18) 40,000 0 0 0 0 0

Public Conveniences
0 50,000 0 0 0 0

Review of Accommodation/Office requirements (effective 1 April 2018) 82,000 0 0 0 0 0

Kilworthy Park - reduction in operating costs 0 0 50,000 0 0 0

Housing Benefit recoveries of overpayments (increase income target to reflect actual 

income being achieved) 85,000 50,000 0 0 0 0

Cessation of accepting cash and cheques (effective 1 April 2018) 35,000 0 0 0 0 0

Planning Fees (increase income target to reflect actual income being achieved) 15,000 50,000 0 0 0 0

Senior Leadership Team - Interim arrangement 0 34,000 0 0 0 0

Reduction in Partnership funding  (Minute CM24 - Council 24th July 2018) 15,330 14,000 0 0 0 0

Extra treasury management income 20,000 0 20,000 0 0 0

Trade waste income 15,000 0 0 0 0 0

Corporate consultancy income 0 20,000 0 0 0 0

Introduction of Direct Lets Scheme 10,000 12,000 0 0 0 0

Energy Certification for Eco Schemes 0 10,000 0 0 0 0

Paperless Committee agendas 3,500 0 0 0 0 0

Council Tax Reduction Scheme - 8.6% reduction in Town and Parish Grant 6,100 5,500 59,000 0 0 0

Charging for duty planning service 6,500 3,500 0 0 0 0

Advertising on websites and e-bulletins 0 3,500 0 0 0 0

Charging for food advice/ environmental health fees and charges 5,000 0 0 0 0 0

Savings from the re-procurement of the Insurance contract 35,000 0 0 0 0 0

Review corporate training budgets 0 15,000 0 0 0 0

Reduction in ICT contracts 0 12,000 16,000 0 0 0

Implement e-billing in council tax 0 1,200 1,200 1,200 1,200 1,200

Saving on external audit fees for 2018-19 8,000 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL SAVINGS AND INCOME GENERATION 783,930 684,700 266,200 171,200 391,200 1,200

Note - Items shaded in Grey denote the savings and additional income considered at the 

Members' Budget Workshop which have received support from the Members' Budget 

Survey (Exempt Appendix C of the report to the Hub Committee in December 2018)



FINANCIAL STRATEGY APPENDIX B

Line

Modelling assumptions: Assumes Council Tax is increased by 2.99% 

annually and that negative Revenue Support Grant is eliminated in 19/20 

(as proposed in the 2019/20 Finance Settlement) BASE Yr1 Yr2 Yr3 Yr 4 Yr5

No. Modelling for the financial years 2018/19 onwards 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£ £ £ £ £ 

1 Base budget brought forward 7,423,225 7,313,795 7,049,096 6,743,654 6,920,962 7,157,890
2 Budget pressures (as per Appendix A) 674,500 420,000 465,000 260,000 260,000 335,000
3 Savings already identified (as per Appendix A) (783,930) (684,700) (266,200) (171,200) (391,200) (1,200)
4 Projected Net Expenditure:  7,313,795 7,049,095 7,247,896 6,832,454 6,789,762 7,491,690

Funded By:-

5
Council Tax income  - Modelling a 2.99% increase in council tax each year        

(Taxbase 19/20 = 20,176.57 Band D Equivalent properties)
4,524,706 4,673,499 4,851,289 5,035,597 5,226,525 5,424,590

6 Collection Fund Surplus 96,000 84,000 80,000 80,000 80,000 80,000

7 Revenue Support Grant (Nil from 2018/19 onwards) 0 0 0 0 0 0

8
Localised Business Rates (baseline funding level - includes Rural Services 

Delivery Grant of £464,365 in 2018/19 due to Pilot status)
2,049,573 1,620,367 1,661,000 1,704,000 1,750,000 1,790,000

9 Tariff/Top Up Adjustment amount (negative RSG - assume Nil in 19/20) 0 0 (293,000) (293,000) (293,000) (293,000)

10 Business Rates - Pilot Gain 460,000 0 0 0 0 0

11 Funding from Rural Services Delivery Grant (included in line 8 for 2018/19) 0 464,365 464,365 464,365 464,365 464,365

12 Funding from New Homes Bonus 560,000 375,000 100,000 50,000 50,000 50,000

13 Less: Contribution to Earmarked Reserves -60,000 -120,000 -120,000 -120,000 -120,000 -120,000

14 WDBC share of national Business Rates Levy surplus (one-off for 19/20) 0 25,000 0 0 0 0

15 Less: Contribution to Future Financial Stability Earmarked Reserve -316,484 -73,135

16 Total Projected Funding Sources 7,313,795 7,049,096 6,743,654 6,920,962 7,157,890 7,395,955

17

Budget gap/(surplus) per year                                                                               

(Projected Expenditure line 4 - Projected Funding line 16) 0 0 504,242 -88,509 -368,128 95,735

0

Actual Predicted Cumulative Budget Gap                                                0 0 504,242 415,733 47,605 143,341

Aggregated Budget Gap (if no action is taken in each individual year to 

close the budget gap annually) 0 0 504,242 919,975 967,580 1,110,921

Modelling Assumptions: (Assumes an increase in Band D Equivalent 

properties of 160 per annum)

Council Tax (Band D) (an increase of 2.99% per annum has been modelled) 224.91 231.63 238.55 245.68 253.02 260.59

Council TaxBase 20,117.85 20,176.57 20,336.57 20,496.57 20,656.57 20,816.57





            

          APPENDIX C 

Local Government Finance Settlement analysis for West Devon 

Borough Council 

West Devon - Core Spending Power (£m) 

Core Spending Power 2018/2019 

(£m) 

2019/2020 

(£m) 

Change % 

TOTAL 7.254 7.355 1.4% 

Breakdown of amounts:    

Business Rates 1.585 1.622 2.3% 

Revenue Support Grant Nil Nil - 

Assumed Council Tax (this is a 

Government assumed figure, 

not the actual council tax raised) 

4.525 4.716 4.2% 

Other Grants 1.144 1.017 -11.1% 

(Includes Rural Services Delivery 

Grant of £0.464m each year and 

the New Homes Bonus 

allocation which has decreased 

from £0.643m in 18/19 to 

£0.501m in 19/20) 

   

    

Other: Levy surplus returned 

(National Business Rates surplus 

money) 

 0.025 (not part of the 

Core Spending 

Power 

calculation) 

 

The figures quoted in the Finance Settlement will be on the basis of Core Spending Power (the 

terminology used by the Government) and therefore it will be stated in the finance settlement 

that West Devon Borough Council has had a 1.4% increase in funding. 

However from the analysis of the calculation, it can be seen that the majority of this increase 

in funding is coming from an assumed Council Tax increase of 4.2%. (This Government figure 

will be based on the assumption that Councils will increase their council tax by the limit of 

2.99%, plus building in some property growth). 

The rest of the increase is mainly due to an increase in Business Rates funding for 2019/20, 

less a reduction in New Homes Bonus funding. 

 



 

How much has West Devon’s Government funding decreased by over the last four years? 

Answer: 38.2% since 2016/17, as shown below. The chart shows how much reduction in funding the 

Council has had since 2016/17. This shows the reduction in Revenue Support Grant (to Nil in 2018/19 

onwards) and funding from Business Rates. Council Tax funding is excluded from these calculations. 

Chart 2 – Reduction in Funding Charts - Change in Settlement Funding Assessment                                  

(Business Rates and Revenue Support Grant)  by class of Local Authority 

Overall over the four year funding settlement, it can be seen that West Devon has had a 38.2% 

reduction in Government funding. This compares against 38.8% for the average for Shire Districts. 

Note: The reason that West Devon is showing an increase of 2.3% in its Government funding in 

2019/20 is because in both of the years 18/19 and 19/20, the Council received Nil Revenue Support 

Grant and therefore the chart just shows the 2.3% increase in the Business Rates Baseline. (There is 

no reduction in the Revenue Support Grant (RSG) to offset this, as the RSG is already Nil in both years).                      

 

 



Reduction in SFA (Settlement Funding Assessment) between 2015/16 and 

2019/20 

Note: Settlement Funding Assessment is made up of Business Rates funding and 

Revenue Support Grant (Government Grant) – Revenue Support Grant was 

reduced to Nil in 2018/19 for West Devon Borough Council 

 





Planning Fees 2019-20                                                                                                                          Appendix D 

Activity Current 
Fee £ (2018/19) 

Proposed Fee £ 
(2019/20) 

Comments 

 
Confirmation of closure of enforcement 
case where it was found not expedient 
to take action. (available for a 12 month 
period following closure of the case) 

 
£60 

 
£60 

 
If the Council has been in contact with you 
recently to investigate a breach of planning 
control and determined not to take any action you 
will be verbally advised of the outcome.  Use this 
service if you require a letter of comfort 
confirming the Council’s decision on the matter on 
a case closed in the last 12 months.    

 
Confirmation of compliance with 
Enforcement Notice or Breach of 
Condition Notice (including site visit) 
 

 
£300 

 
£300 

 
Includes a site visit, full check of the enforcement 
case and written confirmation of the outcome. 
Use this service if you require confirmation that 
an Enforcement Notice served by the Local 
Planning Authority has been complied with. 
 

 
Confirmation of compliance with listed 
building consent (available for a 12 
month period following completion of 
the development) 

 
£300 

 
£300 

 
Includes a site visit to compare the development 
against the plans and written confirmation of our 
findings. Only available within 12 months of 
completion. Use this service if you have 
completed a listed building project and you wish 
to sell the property.   
 
If the completion was over 12 months ago, use 
the ‘help resolving conveyancing issues’ service 
detailed below 



Planning Fees 2019-20                                                                                                                          Appendix D 

Activity Current 
Fee £ (2018/19) 

Proposed Fee £ 
(2019/20) 

Comments 

 
Help resolving planning history 
questions 

 
£500 

 
£500 

 
Includes a full check of the planning and planning 
enforcement history, a site visit to view the 
development, a 1 hour meeting if it is deemed 
necessary by the case officer, any necessary in 
house consultations, written confirmation of the 
outcome, a formal decision as to whether 
enforcement action will be taken and/or 
confirmation of steps required to remedy the 
situation, if any.  Response will be provided in 20 
working days in most cases (can be extended by 
agreement if further consultation or investigation 
is required). Use this quick service if you are 
buying or selling a property/land and a planning 
query arises through the conveyancing process.  
For example, unauthorised works have been 
discovered or planning conditions have not been 
complied with. 
 

 
Confirmation of compliance with section 
106 planning obligations (desktop 
assessment) 

 
£160 plus 
additional £115 if 
site visit needed 

 
£160 plus 
additional £115 if 
site visit needed  

 
This is a desktop check of the Council’s records.  
If the clause in the agreement requires something 
to be undertaken on site it would be necessary to 
undertake a site visit for which there will be an 
additional charge. Use this service if you require 
confirmation that the clauses of the agreement 
have been complied with 
 



Planning Fees 2019-20                                                                                                                          Appendix D 

Activity Current 
Fee £ (2018/19) 

Proposed Fee £ 
(2019/20) 

Comments 

 
Duty Planner 

 
£30 

 
£40 

 
This is a 30 minute appointment with one of the 
Development Management planners by telephone 
or face to face. 

 
The Validation checking service fee is 
in addition to the planning for 
processing.  This will include an 
assessment of whether an application 
is valid, fee queries, and technical 
questions regarding what type of 
application is needed.  There are three 
fee levels based on the complexity of 
the development.  This would be 
undertaken on an appointment basis. 
 

   
The Validation checking service fee is in addition 
to the planning for processing.  This will include 
an assessment of whether an application is valid, 
fee queries, and technical questions regarding 
what type of application is needed.  There are 
three fee levels based on the complexity of the 
development.  This would be undertaken on an 
appointment basis. 
 

 
Major Development - This will include 1 
validation check of the application at 
plus 1 re-check 
 

 
£85 

 
£85 

 

 
Minor Development - This will include 1 
validation check of the application at 
plus 1 re-check 
 

 
£50 

 
£50 

 

    



Planning Fees 2019-20                                                                                                                          Appendix D 

Activity Current 
Fee £ (2018/19) 

Proposed Fee £ 
(2019/20) 

Comments 

Householder and Other Development - 
This will include 1 validation check of 
the application at plus 1 re-check 
 

£40 £40  

 
 
Pre-Application Fees 

 
£180 plus £180 
for any additional 
meeting/response 
required 
 

 
£180 plus £180 for 
any additional 
meeting/response 
required 
 

 
Householder/Listed Building/Advertisements  
 
one meeting with a written response  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
£180 
 
 
£420 (£240 if it 
follows a scoping 
meeting) plus 
£180 for any 
additional 
meeting or 
response 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
£180 
 
 
£420 (£240 if it 
follows a scoping 
meeting) plus 
£180 for any 
additional 
meeting or 
response 

 
Small  Minor (1-2 Dwellings or non-residential 
floor space up to 499 sqm, 
telecommunications, Lawful development 
Certificate Advice and changes or use except 
dwellings, where there is no operational 
development) 
 
One Scoping meeting with agreed notes from the 
meeting 
 
 
 
Full pre-app – one meeting plus a written 
response.  



Planning Fees 2019-20                                                                                                                          Appendix D 

Activity Current 
Fee £ (2018/19) 

Proposed Fee £ 
(2019/20) 

Comments 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
£240 
 
 
£600 (£360 if it 
follows a scoping 
meeting) plus 
£180 for any 
additional 
meeting or 
response 
 

 
 
 
 
 
£240 
 
 
£600 (£360 if it 
follows a scoping 
meeting) plus 
£180 for any 
additional meeting 
or response 
 

 
Minor Development (between 3 – 9 dwellings 
or non-residential floor space between 500 – 
999 sqm or a site area up to 1 Ha) 
 
One Scoping meeting with agreed notes from the 
meeting 
 
Full pre-app – one meeting plus a written 
response. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
£480 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
£480 
 

 
 
Small Scale Majors (up to 30 dwellings or 
Non-Residential floor space between 1000 – 
4999 sqm or a site area between 1 – 2 Ha) 
 
One Scoping meeting with agreed notes from the 
meeting 
 



Planning Fees 2019-20                                                                                                                          Appendix D 

Activity Current 
Fee £ (2018/19) 

Proposed Fee £ 
(2019/20) 

Comments 

 
£1800 (£1320 if it 
follows a scoping 
meeting). Or a 
specific PPA. 
 
 

 
£1800 (£1320 if it 
follows a scoping 
meeting). Or a 
specific PPA. 
 
 

Full pre-app – two meetings plus a written 
response.  If more than two meetings are required 
the pre-app will be the subject of a specific PPA. 
 

 
 
 
£720 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Specific PPA 
 

 
 
 
£720 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Specific PPA 
 

 
Large Majors (Over 31 dwellings or Non-
Residential floor space over 500sqm or a site 
area over 2 Ha all renewable energy proposals 
unless a domestic scale and all development 
that requires an EIA) 
 
One Scoping meeting with agreed notes from the 
meeting 
 
Full Pre-app 
 
 

 
Exemptions: 

 
No Charge 

 
No Charge 

 
100% Affordable Housing schemes 
 

  
No Charge 

 
No Charge 

 
Facilities for the disabled 
 

  
No Charge 

 
No Charge 

 
Parish/Town Council 



Planning Fees 2019-20                                                                                                                          Appendix D 

Activity Current 
Fee £ (2018/19) 

Proposed Fee £ 
(2019/20) 

Comments 

 
Pre-App Charges Notes:    

Floor space refers to gross external floor space 
The fee stated are inclusive of VAT 
 
For the purposes of pre-app fees flats and holiday 
accommodation are considered as dwellings. 
 
Fees will be the subject of review 
 

 

The first five fees/charges were introduced this year and to date take up has been very low, further consultation is taking place with 

the planning agents to ascertain why the service is not being used and whether the charge is a major factor.  Given the low take up 

so far it is not proposed to alter the fees at this point. 

Charging for the Duty Planning service was introduced in April 2018.  A budget target of £6,500 was set based on a conservative 

forecast of income due to the unknown uptake.  Uptake has been higher than predicted and together with a rise in the fee from £30 

to £40 it is predicted that an income of £10,000 is achievable in 2019/20 (an increase of £3,500). 

The fees for planning pre-application advice were revised at the beginning of this financial year with some of the fees significantly 

rising and the introduction of a fee for a scoping meeting for larger development.  It was anticipated that the change in fee structure 

would be broadly neutral, however this year’s projected income of £20,000 will be met.  Given the rise in the pre-application fees 

last year (2018/19) it is not considered reasonable to raise them again this year. 

 

 





Appendix E - Environmental Health Charges Proposed for 2019/20

Current Fee 2018/19

Proposed Fee 

2019/20

Acupuncture, Tattooing, Ear-piercing & 

Electrolysis 3.00%

Register of Person £112.00 £115.00
Register of Premises £112.00 £115.00

Changes to Premises registration particulars £40.00 £41.00

Animal Licence
Single licensable activity £234.00 £234.00
Each additional licenseable activity £87.00 £87.00
Rescore visit £120.00 £120.00

Vets and fees expenses Actual Cost Actual Cost

Dangerous Wild Animal Licence 
Licence Fee (initial and renewal) £394.00 £394.00
Plus vets fees and expenses Actual cost Actual cost

Eco Certificate N/A £100.00

Film Classification Licence
Licence per film £100.00 £103.00

Licence per festival £500.00 £515.00

Food Export Certificate

Export Certificate initial set up £149.00 £153.00

Export Certificate renewal £59.00 £61.00

Amendment to existing certificate (in addition to 

renewal fee)
£21.00 £22.00

Food Hygiene Score Revisit inspection fee
Food Hygiene Score Revisit inspection fee £120.00 per visit £130.00 per visit

Food Hygiene Advice visit
£130 first hour , £65 

per hour thereafter 

£130 first hour , £65 

per hour thereafter 

Safer Food Better Business pack

£20 for the Catering 

SFBB Pack plus a 

years diary. £6 for a 

years diary

£20 for the Catering 

SFBB Pack plus a 

years diary. £6 for a 

years diary
Food Premises Register
Food Premises Register (Full copy) £295.00 £304.00
Food Premises Register (Part copy) £100.00 £103.00

Food Safety
Issue of unfit food certificate £98.00 £101.00

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire
Hackney Carriage Vehicle - fully wheelchair 

accessible
£20.00 £20.00

Hackney Carriage Vehicle - non wheelchair 

accessible
£181.00 £181.00

Private Hire Vehicle - fully wheelchair accessible £20.00 £20.00
Private Hire Vehicle - non wheelchair accessible £160.00 £160.00

Driving Licence (1 year) £105.00 £110.00

Driving Licence initial application fee £109.00 £109.00
Knowledge test £50.00 £50.00
DBS £60.00 £60.00

Driving Licence (3 years) £266.00 £281.00

Replacement Plate £20.00 £20.00
Transfer of ownership of vehicle £50.00 £50.00
Operator Licence (Private Hire Only) 1 year £125.00 £125.00



Appendix E - Environmental Health Charges Proposed for 2019/20

Current Fee 2018/19

Proposed Fee 

2019/20

Operator Licence (Private Hire Only) 5 years £472.00 £472.00
Replacement Driver's Badge £15.00 £15.00

Homes in Multiple Occupation
New Applications (new properties/change of 

ownership)
£361.00

£372.00

Renewals (every 5 years) £361.00 £372.00

Housing Act Enforcement Notice fee

Housing Act Enforcement Notice fee £40.00 per hour £41.00 per hour

Housing Suitability (Immigration Inspection 

Certificate)
Housing Suitability (Immigration Inspection 

Certificate)
£78.00 £80.00

Depositing site rules with the Local Authority £77.00 £79.00

Hypnotism Authorisation £56.00 £58.00

Private Water Supply

Private Water Supply Sampling Fee £70.00 £72.00

Private Water Supply Risk Assessment 
£206.00 per risk 

assessment

£212.00 per risk 

assessment

Residential Mobile Home/Caravan Site Licences

Annual Fee (£13 per pitch with a minimum of 5 

pitches)
£65.00 £65.00

Transfer of Licence £100.00 £100.00

Standard amendment £200.00 £200.00
Site Expansion Amendment (Standard Amendment 

fee plus £10 per pitch)

£200.00 plus £10.00 

per pitch

£200.00 plus £10.00 

per pitch
Initial Licence (5 pitch site plus £10 per pitch 

thereafter)
£200.00 £200.00

Replacement Licence (due to loss) £10.50 £10.50

Deposit of Site Rules £77.00 £77.00

Service of Enforcement Notice £40.00 per hour £40.00 per hour

Scrap Metal Dealer Licence
Grant of a Site Licence £180.00 £185.00
Renewal of a Site Licence £130.00 £134.00
Transfer from a Site to a Collector Licence £75.00 £77.00
Grant of a Collector Licence £130.00 £134.00
Renewal of a Collector Licence £85.00 £88.00
Transfer from a Collector to a Site Licence £80.00 £82.00
Change of Licence Holder's details £15.00 £16.00
Change of Licensed site £80.00 £82.00
Change of Site Manager £43.00 £44.00

Sex Establishments

New Application (Inclusive of first year annual 

licence)
£4,600.00 £4,600.00

Annual Renewal Fee £450.00 £450.00
Transfer or Variation £1,300.00 £1,300.00

Plus Premises Licence / Club Premises Certificate Statutory Cost Statutory Cost

Zoo Licence
Grant of Licence (Valid 4 years) £818.00 £818.00



Appendix E - Environmental Health Charges Proposed for 2019/20

Current Fee 2018/19

Proposed Fee 

2019/20

Renewal of Licence (Valid for 6 years) £717.00 £717.00
Transfer of Licence £370.00 £370.00
Partially exempt premises 70% of above fees 70% of above fees 
Inspection   Actual Cost Actual Cost 





Report to: Hub 

Date: 29 January 2019 

Title: Future Governance Arrangements for 
Frontline Services (Waste and Cleansing)  

Portfolio Area: Commercial Services 

 

Wards Affected: All 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee: 

 

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained: 

Y  

Date next steps can be taken: 
 

After 6 February 
2019 

  

Author: Jane Savage Role: Commissioning Manager 
(Waste) 

Contact: 01822 813657 

jane.savage@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

 
 

 

 

Recommendations:   

1. That the Hub note the recommendation of the Frontline Services 
Project Board to amend the Memorandum of Understanding to include 

the mobilisation of the contract.  

2. That the Hub note the setting up of a Partnership Board as outlined in 

principle and as required under the terms of the Contract.  

 

 
  



1. Executive summary  
 

1.1 In 2017 Council approved the setting up of a Project Board to oversee 
the commissioning of the future arrangements for the delivery of waste 

and recycling collection, street and toilet cleansing services. 
 
1.2 Subsequently in December 2018, Council approved the award of Lot 3 

- a partnership contract for the delivery of the services in scope.  
 

1.3 In order to implement the mobilisation of the contract, it is necessary 
to amend the Memorandum of Understanding for the Project Board. The 
Project Board is a Board of the Council and will expire once the contract 

has commenced and is established. It is also necessary to set up a 
Partnership Board to deal with contractual operational matters, which is 

made up of Members from each Council, key officers, and contractor staff.  
 
1.4 The Memorandum of Understanding can be varied by written approval 

of the Project Board in consultation with Leaders and this report is 
presented in order to keep the Hub Committee fully informed of the 

governance arrangements of the new contract.  
 

1.5 The main changes to the MoU concern the mobilisation of the 
contract, and the expiry stage of the Project Board. In addition, the 
variation includes the establishment of a Partnership Board to operate for 

the duration of the contract. The Partnership Board will oversee the 
operational implementation and performance of the new contract. 

 
1.6 It should be noted that any strategic decisions which fall outside of 
the contract scope will be brought back to committee for approval.  

 
 

2. Background 
  
2.1 In September 2017, the Council approved the setting up of a Frontline 

Services Project Board to oversee the commissioning process for the 
delivery of the waste and recycling collection, street and toilet cleansing 

services. Council also approved the Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) 
and Terms of Reference for the Project Board. The MoU, set in accordance 
with the Joint Working Protocol, outlines the key objectives of the Project 

Board and the scope of services being considered.  
 

2.2 The MoU key objectives are as follows: 
i) Test the market with a view to securing value for money 

outcome for the Councils. 

ii) Seek to secure a partnership arrangement for the delivery of the 
services across the two Councils. 

iii) Seek to find better ways of delivering the services in scope 
without necessarily compromising quality. 

 

2.3 Now that the contract has been awarded and the Alcatel (legal 
standstill) period is over, the MoU requires amendment in order to ensure 



the successful implementation of the contract over the mobilisation 
period.  

  
2.4 The existing MoU can be varied by written approval of the Project 

Board in consultation with Leaders. It should be noted that Council also 
approved the contract award which has within it the provision for setting 
up the Partnership Board.  

 
2.5 This fits with the Council themes of: 

Council 
Communities 
Environment 

 
 

3. Options available and consideration of risk  
 
3.1 The revised MoU extends the scope of the Project Board to cover the 

mobilisation of the contract including establishing and developing the 
remit for the Partnership Board. The Partnership Board Terms of 

Reference provide a framework for flexible operational delivery within the 
scope of the contracted works.   

 
3.2 The Project Board have been fully involved with the testing and 
competitive dialogue process and therefore have a detailed understanding 

of the contract arrangements. Continuity, coupled with this background 
knowledge, is essential during the contract mobilisation and bedding in 

period.  
 
3.3 The risks of not amending the documents include loss of customer 

satisfaction and Council reputation and may affect future service 
performance. 

 
4.  Proposed Way Forward  
 

4.1 It is proposed that the Deed of Variation to the Memorandum of 
Understanding as attached at Appendix B and approved by the Project 

Board, is endorsed. The main changes to the document concern the 
mobilisation process, the expiry stage of the Project Board, and the 
establishment of a Partnership Board. These are detailed in Appendix B 

and the main points listed below for clarity: 

4.2 The Project Board, have approved a new set of key objectives as 

follows: 
 

i) Ensure a value for money outcome for the Councils. 

ii) Implement the partnership arrangement with the Contractor for 

the delivery of the services across the two Councils. 



iii) Seek to find better ways of delivering the services in scope 

without necessarily compromising quality. 

iv) Undertake all those activities that are necessary as part of the 

Mobilisation in order to give effect to the Councils decision to 

award contract.  

4.3 As this contract will be delivered through a partnership approach, it is 

necessary to set up a Partnership Board to function from the contract start 

date on 1 April 2019 to continue through to the end of the contract period. 

The Partnership Board will be made up of Members of both Councils, along 

with officers and contractor representatives. The Partnership Board will 

shadow the work of the Project Board until the contract start date.  The 

draft Terms of Reference for the Partnership Board are attached at Appendix   

C and will be developed by the Project Board during the mobilisation period. 

4.4 The Project Board will continue to function as long as necessary after 

the contract start date for continuity and until such a time as the services 

have bedded in.  

 

4.5 The Memorandum of Understanding, MoU Deed of Variation, and the  

Partnership Board Draft Terms of Reference are attached at Appendix A, B 

and C respectively. 

 

 

5. Implications  
 

Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  

proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 
 

 The Authority has a duty to arrange for collection 
and disposal of household waste. The legislative 
framework is to be found in the Environmental 

Protection Act 1990, Waste Framework Directive 
2008, and Controlled Waste Regulations 2012. The 

contract has been awarded in full compliance with 
Contract Procedure Rules 2015. 

Financial 
 

 There are no financial implications.  
 

Risk  The risks are set out in section 3 of this report.  
 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
 

Equality and 
Diversity 
 

 N/A   



Safeguarding 

 

 N/A   

Community 

Safety, Crime 
and Disorder 
 

 N/A 

 

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing 

 N/A 

Other 
implications 

 N/A  
 

 
 

 
Supporting Information 

 
Appendices: 
 

Appendix A: Memorandum of Understanding  
Appendix B: Deed of Variation 

Appendix C: Partnership Board Draft Terms of Reference 
 
Background Papers: 

Council Report 26 September 2017 
Council Report 4 December 2018 

 

Process checklist Completed 

Portfolio Holder briefed  Yes 

SLT Rep briefed Yes 

Relevant  Exec Director sign off (draft) Yes 

Data protection issues considered Yes 

If exempt information, public (part 1) report 
also drafted. (Committee/Scrutiny) 

N/A 

 





DATED       2017 

 

SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

-AND- 

WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING IN 

RELATION TO PROCUREMENT OF WASTE 

COLLECTION, RECYCLING AND CLEANSING 

SERVICES  

(THE PROJECT) 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by 

Andrew Ogalo – Solicitor (Commercial Contracts, Projects and Procurement) 

West Devon Borough Council and South Hams District Council 



CONTENTS 

CLAUSE 

1. Background ................................................................................. 1 

2. Key Objectives for the Project ..................................................... 2 

3. Principles of Collaboration ........................................................... 2 

4. Project Governance ..................................................................... 3 

5. Roles and Responsibilities .......................................................... 6 

6. Escalation .................................................................................... 6 

7. Intellectual property ..................................................................... 6 

8. Term and Termination ................................................................. 7 

9. Variation ...................................................................................... 7 

10. Charges and Liabilities ................................................................ 7 

11. Status .......................................................................................... 7 

12. Mobilisation and Contract Management…… ..……………………6 

13. Governing Law and Jurisdiction .................................................. 7 

 

ANNEX 

ANNEX A. INFORMATION SHARING PROTOCOL 

ANNEX B. PROJECT BOARD'S TERMS OF REFERENCE 

ANNEX C. COLLABORATION AGREEMENT DATED 2015 

 

ANNEX D.  PROJECT TEAM'S TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 

ANNEX E.  JOINT WORKING PROTOCOL 

 

ANNEX F.  DEFINED TERMS 

 



1 

THIS MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING is dated   2017 

 

BETWEEN: 

 

(1) SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL of Follaton House, Plymouth 

Road, Totnes, Devon TQ9 5NE (South Hams). 

 

(2) WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL of Kilworthy Park, Drake Road, 

Tavistock, PL19 0BZ (West Devon). 

 

Together the “Councils” and each a “Council”. 

 

1. BACKGROUND 

1.1 South Hams and West Devon have agreed to work together on the 

proposed procurement of Waste Collection, Recycling and Cleansing 

Services (Project).  

1.2 The Project’s brief is to give effect to the Council’s recommendation 

namely that Waste Collection, Recycling and Cleansing Services are 

tested using the competitive dialogue procurement route to achieve a 

partnership solution. 

1.3 The Councils are party to a Collaboration Agreement which set out the 

basis for sharing resources generally but also make it clear that the 

Councils will continue operating different governance arrangements. 

1.4 The Councils wish to record the basis on which they will collaborate with 

each other on the Project. This MoU sets out: 

(a) the key objectives of the Project; 

(b) the principles of collaboration;  

(c) the governance structures the Councils will put in place; and 

(d) the respective roles and responsibilities the Councils will have 

during the Project. 

  



2 

2. KEY OBJECTIVES FOR THE PROJECT 

2.1 The Councils shall undertake the Project to achieve the key objectives 

(Key Objectives) in accordance with the Joint Working Protocol as set 

out Annex E to this MoU. The Key Objectives are: 

i) Test the market with a view to securing value for money outcome for 

the Councils. 

ii) Seek to secure a partnership arrangement for the delivery of the 

services across the two Councils. 

iii) Seek to find better ways of delivering the services in scope without 

necessarily compromising quality. 

2.2 The Services in scope of the Project across both Councils are: 

i) Waste Collection 

ii) Recycling 

iii) Street Cleaning 

iv) Toilet Cleansing 

2.3 The Councils acknowledge the current position with regard to the 

Project. 

3. PRINCIPLES OF COLLABORATION 

The Councils agree to adopt the following principles when carrying out 

the Project (Principles): 

(a) collaborate and co-operate. Establish and adhere to the 

governance structure set out in this MoU to ensure that activities 

are delivered and actions taken as required; 

(b) be accountable. Take on, manage and account to each other for 

performance of the respective roles and responsibilities set out 

in this MoU; 

(c) be open. Communicate openly about major concerns, issues or 

opportunities relating to the Project; 

(d) learn, develop and seek to achieve full potential. Share 

information, experience, materials and skills to learn from each 

other and develop effective working practices, work 

collaboratively to identify solutions, eliminate duplication of 

effort, mitigate risk and reduce cost; 



3 

(e) adopt a positive outlook. Behave in a positive, proactive manner; 

(f) adhere to statutory requirements and best practice. Comply with 

applicable laws and standards including EU procurement rules, 

data protection and freedom of information legislation. In 

particular the Councils agree to comply with the requirements of 

the Information Sharing Protocol attached to this MoU in A; 

(g) act in a timely manner. Recognise the time-critical nature of the 

Project and respond accordingly to requests for support; 

(h) manage stakeholders effectively; 

(i) deploy appropriate resources. Ensure sufficient and 

appropriately qualified resources are available and authorised to 

fulfil the responsibilities set out in this MoU; and  

(j) act in good faith to support achievement of the Key Objectives 

and compliance with these Principles. 

4. PROJECT GOVERNANCE 

4.1 Overview 

The governance structure defined below provides a structure for the 

development and delivery the Project.   

4.2 Guiding principles 

The following guiding principles are agreed. The Project's governance 

will: 

(a) provide strategic oversight and direction; 

(b) be based on clearly defined roles and responsibilities at 

organisation, group and, where necessary, individual level; 

(c) align decision-making authority with the criticality of the 

decisions required; 

(d) be aligned with Project scope and each Project stage (and may 

therefore require changes over time); 

(e) leverage existing organisational, group and user interfaces;  

(f) provide coherent, timely and efficient decision-making; and 

(g) correspond with the key features of the Project governance 

arrangements set out in this MoU. 

4.3 Project Board 

(a) The Project Board shall provide overall strategic oversight and 

direction to the Project.  



4 

(b) The Project Board will consist of a maximum of six Elected 

Members as may be nominated by the Councils from time to 

time, and Officers. The initial membership of this board shall be 

as follows: 

Elected Members 

1. Cllr R Sampson (West Devon BC),  

2. Cllr L Samuel (West Devon BC) 

3. Cllr N Jory (West Devon BC),  

4. Cllr K J Baldry (South Hams DC ),  

5. Cllr R Gilbert (South Hams DC),  

6. Cllr S A E Wright (South Hams DC) 

Officers 

7. Jane Savage  (Commissioning 

Manager) 

8. Steve Jorden (Executive Director 

Strategy & Commissioning), 

9. Lisa Buckle (Finance)  

10. Helen Dobby (Group Manager – 

Commercial Services) 

11. Andrew Ogalo (Legal) 

12. Justin Dudley (Project Manager) 

(c) The Project Board shall be managed in accordance with the 

terms of reference set out in Annex B to this MoU.  

(d) The Executive Director may nominate another officer to attend 

board meetings in his absence. 

 

4.4 Project Team 

(a) The Project Team will provide strategic management at Project 

and workstream level. It will provide assurance to the Project 

Board that the Key Objectives are being met and that the Project 

is performing within the boundaries set by the Project Board.  



5 

(b) The Project Team consists of representatives from each of the 

Councils. The Project Team shall have responsibility for the 

creation and execution of the project plan and deliverables, and 

therefore it will draw technical, commercial, legal and 

communications resources as appropriate into the Project 

Team. The Core Project Team members are:  

• Lisa Buckle (Finance) 

• Sophie Hosking (Executive Director Service Delivery and 

Commercial Development),  

• Andrew Ogalo (Lead Solicitor) 

• Len Attrill (WYG Consultant) 

• Helen Dobby (Group Manager – Commercial Services) 

• Jane Savage (Commissioning Manager) 

• L4 (tbc)  

• Lucy Ford (Procurement) 

• Cathy Aubertin (Operational Manager – Environmental) 

•  Justin Dudley (Project Manager) 

• Andy Wilson (HR Lead) 

The Project Team shall meet monthly or at such frequency as 

determined by the Project Manager. 

4.5 Reporting 

Project reporting shall be undertaken at three levels as shown below.  

Reports will be presented to Hub Committee and Executive as 

appropriate, with Key Decisions taken to Executive, Hub Committee and 

meetings of Council. 

(a) Project Team: Minutes and actions will be recorded for each 

Project Board meeting.  Any additional reporting requirement 

shall be at the discretion of the Project Board. 

Project Board:  Reporting shall be monthly, based on the 

minutes from the Project Team highlighting: Progress this 

period; issues being managed; issues requiring help (that is, 

escalations to the Project Board) and progress planned next 

period and/or aligned with the frequency of the Project Board 

meetings.   



6 

(b) Organisational: the Project Team members shall be 

responsible for drafting reports into their respective sponsoring 

organisation as required for review by the Project Board before 

being issued.  

5. ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

5.1 The Councils agree to deliver the Project in accordance with the Joint 

Working Protocol. 

5.2 The Councils agree that West Devon Borough Council shall be the Lead 

Council in accordance with Clause 11 of the Collaboration Agreement. 

5.3 The Councils agree in principle and always, subject to value for money, 

to enter into a joint contract with a successful contractor for Lot 3 services 

as detailed in the Specification and Descriptive Document.   

6. ESCALATION 

6.1 If either Council has any issues, concerns or complaints about the 

Project, or any matter in this MoU, that Council shall notify the other 

Council and the Councils shall then seek to resolve the issue by a 

process of consultation. If the issue cannot be resolved within a 

reasonable period of time, the matter shall be escalated to the Project 

Board, which shall decide on the appropriate course of action to take. 

6.2 If either Council receives any formal inquiry, complaint, claim or threat of 

action from a third Council (including, but not limited to, claims made by 

a supplier or requests for information made under the Freedom of 

Information Act 2000) in relation to the Project, the matter shall be 

promptly referred to the Project Board (or its nominated representatives). 

No action shall be taken in response to any such inquiry, complaint, 

claim or action, to the extent that such response would adversely affect 

the Project, without the prior approval of the Project Board (or its 

nominated representatives). 

7. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 

7.1 The Councils intend that notwithstanding any secondment any 

intellectual property rights created in the course of the Project shall vest 

in the Council whose employee created them (or in the case of any 

intellectual property rights created jointly by employees of both Councils 

in the Council that is Lead Council noted in clause 5 above for the part 

of the project that the intellectual property right relates to). 



7 

7.2 Where any intellectual property right vests in either Council in 

accordance with the intention set out in clause 7.1 above, that Council 

shall grant an irrevocable licence to the other Council to use that 

intellectual property for the purposes of the Project. 

8. TERM AND TERMINATION 

8.1 This MoU shall commence on the date of approval by both Councils at 

their Full Council meetings, and shall expire on completion of the Project. 

9. VARIATION 

This MoU, including the Annexes, may only be varied by written 

agreement of the Project Board in consultation with the Leaders.  

10. CHARGES AND LIABILITIES 

10.1 The Councils agree to share the costs and expenses arising in respect 

of the Project between them in accordance with the terms of the 

Collaboration Agreement dated the 11th March 2015. 

11. STATUS 

11.1 This MoU is not intended to be legally binding, and no legal obligations 

or legal rights shall arise between the Councils from this MoU. The 

Councils enter into the MoU intending to honour all their obligations. 

11.2 Nothing in this MoU is intended to, or shall be deemed to, establish any 

partnership or joint venture between the Councils, constitute either 

Council as the agent of the other Council, nor authorise either of the 

Councils to make or enter into any commitments for or on behalf of the 

other Council. 

12. MOBILISATION AND CONTRACT MANAGEMENT 

 

Following award of the Contract, the Project Team shall be reconstituted 

and shall be responsible for mobilisation process and post award 

contract management. The Project Team shall make a determination 

and recommend to the Project Board on how the Contract shall be 

managed and who the contract managers shall be. 

13. GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION 

This MoU shall be governed by and construed in accordance with 

English law and, without affecting the escalation procedure set out in 

clause 6, each Council agrees to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of 

the courts of England and Wales. 



8 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF THE COUNCILS HAVE EXECUTED THIS MEMORANDUM 

AS A DEED ON THE DAY AND YEAR FIRST ABOVE WRITTEN 

 

THE COMMON SEAL OF  

SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Was hereunto affixed 

In the presence of 

 

 

 

Authorised Officer NAMES IN CAPITAL 

 

SIGNATURE 

 

 
 
 
THE COMMON SEAL OF 

WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Was hereunto affixed  

In the presence of 

 

 

 

 

Authorised Officer NAMES IN CAPITAL 

 

SIGNATURE 

 

 

  

 

 



9 

Annex A. Information Sharing Protocol 

Please refer to the Collaboration Agreement dated the 11th March 2015 



10 

Annex B. Project Board terms of reference 

Scope of authority 

• To approve Procurement Documents 

• To recommend to the respective Councils Contract Award Decisions 

• To recommend to the Councils Procurement Procedure 

• To sign off Specification 

• To sign off Selection and Award Criteria 

• To brief respective Councils on all aspects of the Project. 

• To refer to respective Councils for authority to award contracts.   

• To review the draft Project Initiation Document;  

• To oversee consultation with stakeholders and other potential 
partners;  

• To oversee the formulation and implementation of the 
communications strategy;  

• To develop and explore delivery options;  

• To monitor the Project Plan and work with officers to manage and 
mitigate risks;  

• To report to the Hub Committee and to Executive with a proposed 
way forward;  

• To monitor the agreed delivery process until the new arrangements 
begin. 

Decision-making: 

• Only Elected Members of the board have a vote. 

• Officers have no voting rights. 

• Each Elected Member shall have equal voting right. 

• There shall be one Elected Member one vote 

• Voting shall be by a show of hands 

• Decisions shall be by a simple majority 



11 

• Equal voting rights. 

• Elected Members shall elect one of them to be chair of the Board.  
The Chair shall have a casting vote in the event of a tie. 

Meetings: 

• Members shall meet at least once a month or at such frequency as 
determined by Elected Members. 

• There shall be at least two Elected Members from each Council for 
there to be a quorum. 

• Meetings shall take place such a place and time as determined by 
Elected Members. 

• Notice of meetings shall take whatever form as agreed by Elected 
Members. 

• Keep and maintain minutes of all decisions and recommendations. 

Membership of the Board 

Project Board shall comprise of those named in clause 4.3 as may be amended 
from time to time by the Councils. 



12 

Annex C 

Collaboration Agreement dated the 11th March 2015. 

 



13 

ANNEX D – Project Team’s terms of reference  

 

Leadership 

 

The Project Team shall be led by a Project Manager.  

 

The Project Manager shall be appointed by the Project Board.  

 

The person initially appointed as the Project Manager is Justin Dudley. 

 

Role of the Project Manager shall be: 

 

• Provide leadership and direction to the Project Team 

• Manage the Project 

 

 

Membership of the Project Team 

 

The Project Team shall comprise of those individuals named in clause 4.4 as 

may be amended from time to time: 

 

 

Role of the Project Team 

• Produce Procurement Documents and update the Board regularly on 

project progress. 

• Formulate the procurement structure and undertake all necessary work 

required in order to achieve objectives of the project as detailed in the 

Descriptive Document. 

• Ensure that the procurement exercise is undertaken in accordance with 

the Law and the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules. 

• Conduct the procurement exercise inducing, dialogues etc. 

• Undertake selection of bidders. 

• Undertake evaluation of bids. 

• Recommend to the Project Board a decision to award. 

• Ensure that the procurement timetable is adhered to. 

• Advise the Project Board of any risks to the Councils arising out of the 

procurement exercise. 

• Evaluate and review all risks associated with the procurement and 

advise the Project Board immediately. 

• Ensure that adequate Contract Management measures are put in place 

immediately after the decision to award has been made. 

• Advise the Project Board on the Contract Management measures and 

make recommendations on resourcing etc. 

• Keep minutes of all meetings including, dialogue meetings. 

• Keep and maintain a Risks Register including, level and mitigation. 

 



14 

 ANNEX E - Joint Working Protocol 

 

Set out below is the joint working protocol for the management and operation of the joint 

procurement for Waste Collection, Recycling and Cleansing Services at WDBC and SHDC.  

 

Governance and Project Management 

It is proposed that the following structure will be set up for the project management and 

governance of the joint procurement.  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Joint Project Team (JPT) will have responsibility for managing the procurement process, 

developing the evaluation criteria, inputting specifications within the contract and agreeing the 

protocols of working together.  

  

Joint Project Team 

Lisa Buckle (Finance) 

Sophie Hosking (Executive 

Director Service Delivery and 

Commercial Development),  

Andrew Ogalo (Lead Solicitor) 

Len Attrill (WYG) 

Helen Dobby (Group Manager – 

Commercial Services) 

Jane Savage (Commissioning 

Manager) 

L4 (tbc)  

Lucy Ford (Procurement) 

Cathy Aubertin (Operational 

Manager) 

Justine Dudley  

Andy Wilson (HR Lead) 

 

Will oversee the project and 

manage the procurement process 

Joint Member Project Board 

Will oversee the project and 

support the project team to provide 

decisions and guidance on key 

issues 

SHDC 

Executive 

WDBC 

Hub 



15 

Key Principles 

It is proposed that the following key principles are agreed between the two Councils which will 

enable both Councils to get the maximum benefit out of any procurement process and possible 

joint future contract for Lot 3. The intention is to work on the basis that in relation to Lot 3, a 

joint contract will be the preferred route. 

 

Key Area Principle Agreed 

Contract Length 
The contract will be based on the same contract length of up to 8 

with the option to extend for a further period of 8years. 

OJEU Advert 

To be placed in mid-October 2017 and will be a joint advert – the 

procuring authority shall be the Lead Council. Both Councils will be 

named in the contract notice. 

Contract Lots 
The approach will be to have one lot, based on a joint contract, but 

with a separate split to understand the implications of separate lots. 

SQ Evaluation 

The evaluation of the SQ will be based on agreed selection criteria 

across both Councils, with the intention to shortlist up to 5 bidders 

for the ISOS stage. 

 

Both Councils will seek agree the same shortlist, as it is based on 

evaluation of the company rather than their submission, with the 

joint management team undertaking the evaluation together. 

Contract 

Development and 

Form 

There will be one contract which sets out the standard terms for a 

contract which will be the same across both Councils but the 

commercial terms and schedules may be different between both 

Councils. 

 

In particular it is anticipated that the specifications will be different. 

Legal Advice 

Provision of legal advice will be provided by in-house legal advisers 

for the development of the draft contract and procurement process 

generally. External advice may be sought as and when is necessary 

on the advice or recommendation of the Lead Solicitor for the 

Project. 

Dialogue Sessions 

It is expected that the dialogue sessions will be scheduled at the same 

time for both Councils and managed such that there may be three 

parts to any dialogue session 

 

- Joint issues which apply across both Councils (e.g. 

contract, submission, evaluation, etc) 

- Specific WDBC Issues 

- Specific SHDC issues 

ISOS Evaluation 

It is the intention that the evaluation criteria will be the same for both 

Councils – however it is recognised that because solutions and 

evaluation may need to be specific, then this may not be possible.  

 

Keeping the evaluation criteria the same will enable the benefits of 

joint procurement to be realised. This would also mean that both 



16 

Key Area Principle Agreed 

Councils should seek to shortlist the same bidders (up to 3) for final 

tender. 

 

Each project team member will evaluate their specific submission, 

with the Joint Project Team providing a moderating role.  

ISDS Evaluation 
As for ISOS. Bidders are assessed against the same evaluation 

criteria. 

ISFT Evaluation 
As for ISDS. Bidders are assessed against the same evaluation 

criteria. 

 

Meetings and Timescale 

It is proposed that project team meetings are held monthly and on the same day to allow the 

programming in of sessions which enable effective discussion, with each individual Council if 

required. 

 

Project Plan and timescale to be developed. 

 



17 

ANNEX F– Defined Terms 

 

Annex:      means annexes to this MoU; 

 

Contract Award:  has the meaning given in Regulation 

67 of PCR 2015; 

 

Councils: means West Devon Borough Council 

and South Hams District Council; 

 

 

Constitution: means constitution of the Lead 

Council; 

 

Council: means either of the Councils; 

 

Contract Management: means management of the contract 

arising out the Project; 

 

Contract Procedure Rules:  has the meaning given in the 

Constitution; 

 

Descriptive Document: is a Procurement Document within the 

meaning of regulation 2 PCR 2015; 

 

Collaboration Agreement:   has the meaning given in Annex C; 

 

EU:       European Union; 

 

Elected Members:     means members of either Council 

 

Full Council: means a meeting of the full council of 

either Council; 

 

ISOS: Invitation to Submit Outline Solution;  

 

ISDS:  Invitation to Submit Detailed Solution; 

 

ISFT:  Invitation to Submit Final Tender; 

 

 

Joint Working Protocol:  has the meaning given in Annex E; 

 

Key Decisions:  has the meaning given in the 

Constitution of South Hams District 

Council and those decisions which 



18 

can only be taken by Full Council and 

those decisions which have not been 

expressly delegated to the Project 

Board by reference to the terms of 

reference in Annex B; 

Law:  means any applicable law in England 

and Wales; 

 

PCR 2015: Public Contracts Regulations 2015; 

 

Project Initiation Document (PID:  is an internal document prepared by 

the Project Team for the purposes of 

facilitating the procurement process; 

 

Procurement Documents: has the meaning given in Regulation 

2 of PCR 2015; 

 

Project Plan: has the meaning given in the 

Procurement Documents; 

 

Procurement Procedure: means the procedure adopted by the 

Councils for the procurement in 

accordance with section 3 Part 2 of 

the PCR 2015; 

 

Recycling: has the meaning given in the 

Procurement Documents; 

 

Risk Register: means a register/log of all risks arising 

out of or associated with the Project 

including, delays, compliance and 

management of information/data; 

 

SQ:  Selection Questionnaire; 

 

Specification: is a Procurement Document within the 

meaning of regulation 2 of the PCR 

2015; 

 

Services: has the meaning given in the 

Procurement Documents but for the 

avoidance of doubt, shall include, 

Waste Collection, Recycling, Street 

Cleaning and Toilet Cleansing; 

 

Selection Criteria: has the meaning given in PCR 2015; 



19 

 

Street Cleansing: has the meaning given in the 

Procurement Documents; 

 

Toilet Cleansing: has the meaning given in the 

Procurement Documents; 

 

Waste Collection: has the meaning given in the 

Procurement Documents. 

 





DATED 

------------ 

SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

-AND- 

WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

 

VARIATION OF THE MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING IN RELATION TO THE PROCUREMENT OF 

WASTE COLLECTION, RECYCLING AND CLEANSING SERVICES 

 

 

 

Prepared by:



1 

CONTENTS 

____________________________________________________________ 

CLAUSE 

1. Terms defined in the MOU .................................................................................................. 2 

2. Variation ............................................................................................................................. 2 

3. Governing law and jurisdiction ............................................................................................ 3 

SCHEDULE 

Schedule 1 Memorandum of Understanding datde 2017 ................ Error! Bookmark not defined. 

 



2 

 

This deed is dated         2019 

PARTIES 

(1) WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL of Kilworthy Park, Drake Road, Tavistock, Devon PL19 

0BZ (West Devon). 

(2) SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL of Follaton House, Plymouth Rd, Totnes, Devon TQ9 

5NE (South Hams) 

Each a “”Party and together the “Parties”. 

BACKGROUND 

(A) West Devon and South Hams are party to a Memorandum of Understanding in relation to the 

procurement of waste collection, recycling and cleansing services for dated the 9th October 2017 

(MOU), a copy of which is attached at the Error! Reference source not found. to this deed. 

(B) The Parties at their respective meetings on the 4th and 6th December 2018 made a decision to 

award a contract following a successful competitive dialogue process. The scope of the MOU was 

limited the procurement process.  

(C) The Parties at their respective meetings on the 4th and 6th December 2018 approved a resolution 

to extend the scope of the Project Board to include, Mobilisation.  

(D) Consequently, the Parties now wish to amend the MOU as set out in this deed with effect from 

the 1st January 2019 (Variation Date). 

Agreed terms 

1. Terms defined in the MOU 

In this deed, expressions defined in the MOU and used in this deed have the meaning set out in 

the MOU. The rules of interpretation set out in the MOU apply to this deed. 

2. Variation 

2.1 With effect from the Variation Date the Parties agree the following amendments to the MOU: 

Article 2.1 

This Article is amended by extending scope to include: 

iv) Undertake all those activities that are necessary as part of the Mobilisation in order to 

give effect to the Councils decision to award contract. The activities envisaged in this 

sub article iv shall include but not limited to: 



3 

• Establishing the Partnership Board 

• Approving nomination of Members to the Partnership Board 

• Approving governance arrangements for the Partnership Board including, 

constitution, decision making and reporting. 

• Ensuring that the Mobilisation Team has all the necessary tools and resources 

required to give effect to the Councils decision to award contract. 

Article 8 

This Article 8 is amended by introducing: 

8.2 For the avoidance of doubt, the Project Board’s mandate shall expire upon successful 

completion of all the activities detailed in Article 2(iv) and the Project Board on its own 

motion shall by way of resolution so declare the dissolution of the Project Board.   

Annex F (Definitions) 

The following defined terms shall be incorporated. 

Mobilisation:    shall mean all those activities to be undertaken by the Contractor in consultation 

with the Councils including but not limited to, the Initial Services prior to the Services 

Commencement Date.   

Initial Services:  shall mean initial services not in scope of the Services Specification but are 

necessary and must be undertaken by the Contractor in order to facilitate smooth and orderly 

transfer of Lot 2 services.  

Services Commencement Date: shall be the 1st April 2019.  

 Mobilisation Team: has the meaning given in Article 12. 

2.2 Except as set out in clause Error! Reference source not found., the MOU shall continue in full 

force and effect. 

3. Governing law and Jurisdiction 

This deed and any dispute or claim (including non-contractual disputes or claims) arising out of or 

in connection with it or its subject matter or formation shall be governed by and construed in 

accordance with the law of England and Wales. The Parties agree that the Courts of England and 

wales shall have exclusive jurisdiction. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties have executed this deed on the day and year first before 

written. 

 



4 

COMMON SEAL OF  

WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL  

was hereunto affixed in the presence of 

Authorised officer NAMES IN CAPITAL 

 

SIGNATURE 

 

THE COMMON SEAL OF  

SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Was hereunto affixed in the presence of 

Authorised officer NAMSES IN CPITAL 

 

SIGNATURE 

 

 

 

  



5 

Schedule 1 Memorandum of Understanding Dated 2017. 



6 

 





Partnership Board 

 

 

8-1-2019 

Version 1 

Terms of Reference  

 

 

 

Purpose  

The Partnership Board is a meeting of West Devon Borough Council, South Hams 

District Council and FCC. The Partnership Board is committed to effective 

partnership working with an emphasis on achieving the strategic priorities for both 

Councils. The board shall operate on an agreed partnership basis between the 

Contractor and the Councils. 

 

Membership and quorum 

• Total membership of the Partnership Board shall not exceed [11] members and 

will include 3 Members from each Council which shall be nominated by the 

Leader of each Council. There shall be 3 Council officers and 3 representatives 

from the Contractor.  (Final Board make up to be confirmed.) 

• The initial membership of the board shall be as follows: 

Elected Members 

(A)   

(B)  

(C)   

(D)   

(E)  

        (F) 

 

Council Officers 

   (A) 

   (B) 

   (C) 

 

     Contractor representatives  

   (A) 

   (B) 

 

• The Chair and Vice Chair of the Partnership Board will be Councillors and shall 

be the Nominated and agreed by a vote at the first Partnership Board meeting.  



Partnership Board 

 

 

8-1-2019 

Version 1 

 

Chair 

 

Vice Chair 

 

• Each Council Leader will decide the appointees to the Partnership Board.  

• The quorum for meetings shall be at least 2 members from each Council, 2 

Council Officers and 1 representative from the contractor side. 

• Voting rights for the Partnership Board are yet to be confirmed. 

• The Partnership Board may invite consultants, specialist advisors and officers to 

provide advice and information and/or attend Partnership Board meetings in an 

advisory capacity. 

• Whilst appointments may be reviewed annually some consistency of membership 

is encouraged.   

 

Meetings  

• The frequency of its meetings will be determined by the Partnership Board, 

minimum twice per calendar year and maximum 4 times per calendar year.  

• An agenda and associated papers will be made available electronically to the 

Partnership Board at least 5 days before the date of the meeting.  

• The venue for the meetings will normally alternate between West Devon and 

South Hams’ offices unless otherwise agreed by the Partnership Board. 

• Partnership Board meetings will not be open to the public. 

 

Remit 

The scope of the Partnership Board shall be limited to operational matters only. 

The Partnership Board will consider the contractor statement as to:  

a. Operating profit and cost pressures  

b. Commodity values as regards dry recyclables 

c. Pension  

d. Information relating to performance (outlined in Schedule 5 and KPI’s) 

The partnership board will also consider an annual Service Delivery Report and Plan 

(April) which shall contain the Contractor’s approach to provision of the Services for 

the relevant period and shall include (but not be limited to): 

(b) partnership activities; 

(c) performance indicators and targets for continuous improvement; 

(d) health and safety; 



Partnership Board 

 

 

8-1-2019 

Version 1 

(e) customer satisfaction 

(f) working in the community; and 

(g) anything else which in the reasonable view of the Council or the Contractor 

is relevant to the provision of or the future provision of the Services.  

 

In addition, the Partnership Board will: 

(i) Make its findings on risks and governance available to the respective 

Audit Committees.  

(ii) Make recommendations to the Executive/Hub Committee and/or Council 

as appropriate. 

(iii) Provide Annual Service Delivery reports to Executive and HUB. 

(iv) Commission specialist advice from external sources where required and 

within budget to inform its recommendations.  

 

Changes to the terms of reference for the Partnership Board 

• Minor amendments to the terms of reference may be made by the Partnership 

Board in consultation with the Leaders. 

• The terms of reference can be reviewed as and when required.  

• Any significant change to the terms of reference can only be made by agreement 

of the Parties. 

 

Appointment and Removal of members 

• Each Party shall have the right to appoint and remove a member from the 

Partnership Board. 

• Appointment and removal shall be communicated by the relevant Party to the 

other Party. 

 

Records 

The board shall keep and maintain records of its meetings. 

 

 

Confidentiality 



Partnership Board 

 

 

8-1-2019 

Version 1 

The board shall ensure that confidential matters are kept confidential and that no 

disclosure is made of each Party’s confidential material. 

 

Reports 

Matters requiring formal member approval shall be presented to members in the 

form of a report. Details of report format shall be confirmed. 

 



Report to: Hub Committee 

Date: 29th January 2019 

Title: Business Continuity Management Strategy 
and Work Programme 

Portfolio Area: Strategy and Commissioning -  Cllr. P. Sanders 

 

Wards Affected: All 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee: 

 

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained: 

Y 

Date next steps can be taken: Council 12 
February 2019 

 

  

Author: James Kershaw Role: Senior Specialist 

Contact: Tel: 01803 861287 

email: james.kershaw@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

Recommendations:   

1. That Committee consider the Business Continuity Management 
Strategy, and proposed work programme.  

 
2. That the Committee recommends to Full Council that the 

Management Strategy and work programme be adopted by the 
Council.  

1. Executive summary  
1.1 Business continuity is a fundamental element of Council’s risk 

management strategy.  
 

1.2  The Council is under a legal duty through the Civil Contingencies 
Act 2004 to have a suitable and sufficient Business Continuity 

Strategy to ensure that at times of an emergency the Council can 
continue to support the emergency services.  

 



1.3  Since the Councils went through the T18 transformation 
programme, starting in 2015, there has been interim arrangements 

in place for Business Continuity. This interim strategy was tested on 
a number of occasions and any lessons learned have been 

incorporated into the new proposed strategy. 
 
 

2. Background  
 

2.1 In 2015 the Council went through a fundamental change in service 
delivery. As part of the restructure the Business Continuity 
arrangements were assigned to the Environmental Health. This in 

turn meant that the previous Business Continuity Plan for the 
Council was no longer valid.  

 
2.2 As an interim arrangement a generic plan was produced which 

detailed the command and control structures envisaged if an 

incident arose. It has been recognised that further work was 
needed in this area, via internal audit reports. 

 
2.3 The severe weather in March 2018 highlighted the need for a robust 

crisis command structure, and during this period the interim plan 
was activated, and the crisis command structure met to ensure 
continued service delivery where possible. But it was not felt that 

the interim plan represented long term good practice. 
 

2.4 Training of the Senior Leadership Team (SLT) and members from 
the Extended Leadership Team (ELT) in Business Continuity was 
completed in November 2018. 

 
3. Outcomes/outputs  

3.1 Following the training of SLT and ELT it was agreed that the revised 
Business Continuity Strategy should include the Business Continuity 
Policy statement, identified the responsibilities of individuals to 

Business Continuity, a work programme for delivering Business 
Continuity plans for the various services, and a command and 

control structure for dealing with incidents. 
 

4. Options available and consideration of risk  

4.1 The proposed Business Continuity Management Strategy ensures 
that we have an appropriate system in place to identify risks to 

service delivery, and a mechanism for addressing those risks. 
 
4.2 The policy proposed will help to ensure compliance with our 

statutory duties under the Civil Contingencies Act 2003.  
 

 
5.  Proposed Way Forward  
5.1  It is proposed that the Hub Committee recommend to Full Council 

that the proposed Business Continuity Management Strategy is 
adopted including the draft work programme. 

 



  



6. Implications  

Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  
proposals  

Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 

 

Y As Category 1 responder as defined by the Civil 

Contingencies Act 2003, the Council is under a 
legal duty to ensure that it has a suitable and 

sufficient Business Continuity Plan. The Council 
must have arrangements in place to ensure that we 
can support the response to a major incident in the 

event of a critical incident. 
 

Financial 
 

N There is no additional cost to having a business 
continuity strategy. 

 

Risk Y The Council’s internal audit team noted that the 

failure to have an up to date Business Continuity 
Strategy was a fundamental weakness and the 

interim arrangements were not good practice long 
term. The proposed Business Continuity 

Management Strategy and work programme should 
overcome these identified flaws. 
 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
 

Equality and 
Diversity 

 

 None foreseen. 

Safeguarding 

 

 None foreseen   

Community 

Safety, Crime 
and Disorder 

 

 None foreseen 

 

Health, Safety 

and Wellbeing 

 There are a number of links between Business 

Continuity and Health and Safety. These measures 
should help further safeguard the safety of our 
staff. 

 

Other 

implications 

 None foreseen 

 

 

Supporting Information 
 

Appendices: 
South Hams and West Devon Business Continuity Management Strategy 
 

Background Papers: 
 

 



Approval and clearance of report 
 

Process checklist Completed 

Portfolio Holder briefed  Yes/No 

SLT Rep briefed Yes/No 

Relevant  Exec Director sign off (draft) Yes/No 

Data protection issues considered Yes/No 

If exempt information, public (part 1) report 
also drafted. (Cabinet/Scrutiny) 

Yes/No 

 





 
 

South Hams District Council  
and  

West Devon Borough Council 
 
 
 

Business Continuity Management 
Strategy 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
First Published: January 2019 
Review Date: No later than January 2020 
Author: James Kershaw  Tel. 01803 861287 
 
  



 

January 2019 2 Business Continuity Management Strategy 

 

 

 

 

 

Sophie Hosking - Executive Director  

Business Continuity Statement 
 

 

South Hams District Council and West Devon Borough Council are fully 
committed to the public we serve, our employees, and partner agencies we work 
with. The Councils recognise their statutory duties to continue to provide services 
to safeguard the public and property. We recognise the potential strategic, 
operational and financial risks associated with a business interruption and the 
importance of maintaining our services if an emergency occurred.   

To demonstrate our commitment to safeguarding the delivery of our essential 
services, we are preparing a Business Continuity Management Plan. This 
statement, and the associated management systems detail how South Hams 
District Council and West Devon Borough Council will respond to a crisis or incident 
that may impact on our ability to continue to deliver services to the public, and how 
this impact will be minimised. 

Over recent years both Councils have been subjected to a number of incidents 
that had the ability to impact on business delivery such as Swine Flu, Severe 
Weather including snow storms etc.  

Our current working model provides an increased resilience to such 
emergencies.  It is recognised that we are highly reliant on our ICT services. 
Therefore, external resources may be required to support this team to ensure 
communication systems and critical infrastructure is recovered as quickly as 
possible.  

It also recognised that a business continuity emergency is likely to occur at the 
same time as the Council being involved in a major civil emergency. The Council 
has a statutory duty under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 to ensure that it can 
continue to deliver support to any emergency response. Therefore this plan and its 
contents need to be read alongside the Councils’ Major Incident Response Plan. 



 

January 2019 3 Business Continuity Management Strategy 

 

 

 

The ability of the organisations to be resilient to emergencies and recover from 
them quickly is the responsibility of all staff. I will be responsible for promoting and 
embedding business continuity at all levels of the organisation. 

It will be the responsibility of the Councils’ Senior Leadership team (SLT) to 
monitor the implementation of this policy and the councils’ overall risk management 
performance. This will be achieved through the use of regular reporting 
commissioned by SLT and annual audits. 

The Risk Management Group will be responsible for ensuring the work 
programme is delivered. They will champion business continuity within the 
Community of Practice business areas. They will also provide support during 
incidents to more critical functions where necessary and as directed. 

The organisations have identified that technical expertise for business 
continuity will be provided by the Environmental Health Community of Practice. 
They will work in partnership with the Devon Emergency Planning Service to 
provide advice and support to the organisation as necessary.  

We expect all staff to take reasonable steps to be aware of the policy, risk 
assessments, and the controls identified. To support the Community of Practice 
leads in assessing risks, implementing controls, and to actively engage in any 
training, exercises or workshops arranged to reduce the organisations business 
continuity risk.  

Members are asked to make themselves aware of the business continuity 
arrangements, and during crises support the incident management teams. 

The Councils are committed to ensuring that the implementation of the business 
continuity management system is adequately resourced to enable the full 
implementation of this policy. This commitment includes the provision of sufficient 
financial resources, management and employee time, training and business 
continuity advisory support. The company has appointed risk management 
advisors and specialists to provide competent health and safety and business 
continuity advice. 

This Business Continuity Management Statement and the Organisation and 
Arrangements that support it will be reviewed at least annually or more frequently 
where there have been significant changes to the Councils or factors affecting the 
Councils’ activities.   

 

 

Signed:________________________________ Date:  ________________ 

  



 

January 2019 4 Business Continuity Management Strategy 

 

 

 

Contents  
 

Contents 
Business Continuity Statement ............................................................................................................... 2 

Contents .................................................................................................................................................. 4 

1.0 What is Business Continuity Management? ............................................................................... 5 

2.0 Who is responsible for Business Continuity? .............................................................................. 6 

2.1 The role of Heads of Practice in Business Continuity Management ............................................. 6 

2.2 The role of Senior Leadership Team in Business Continuity Management .................................. 7 

2.3 The role of the Business Continuity Advisor ................................................................................. 7 

3.0 Business Continuity Management (BCM) Lifecycle .................................................................... 9 

Figure 1. Business Continuity Management Lifecycle ........................................................................ 9 

3.1 Business Continuity Management Programme .......................................................................... 10 

4.0 Developing and implementing the incident response and crisis management (Look here 1st in 

the event of an incident) ....................................................................................................................... 11 

4.1 Horizon Scanning .................................................................................................................. 11 

4.2 Activation of Business Continuity Plans ...................................................................................... 11 

4.2.1 Service level plans 11 
4.2.2 The corporate business continuity response arrangements 11 
4.3.3 The Crisis Management Team (CMT) 12 

References ............................................................................................................................................ 13 

Appendices ............................................................................................................................................ 14 

Appendix A: Proposed work programme.......................................................................................... 14 

Appendix B: Community of Practice Service Level Template ........................................................... 15 

Appendix C: Suggested Crisis Management Response Structure ..................................................... 16 

Appendix D: Template agenda for Crisis Management Team Meeting .............................................. 0 

 

  



 

January 2019 5 Business Continuity Management Strategy 

 

 

 

1.0 What is Business Continuity Management? 
 

Business continuity management sits alongside the other strands of risk management that the 

Council undertakes including; 

• Health and Safety 

• Emergency Planning 

• Financial Risk Management including Audit 

Like these other areas the Councils are under a legal obligation to have a business continuity plan 

that ensures that it can continue to support the efforts of the emergency services and other partner 

agencies during a major incident, this duty is made under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004. 

Business continuity is a term to describe how we assess risk posed to the business, the procedures 

put in place to minimise those risks, and to ensure that the organisation can continue to deliver 

essential functions at times of crisis.  

Business continuity planning involves asking the various communities of practice that operate within 

the Council a series of questions to determine how important the functions they deliver are; when 

set against the strategic policy of safeguarding life/welfare and property in a crisis.  

Those services deemed essential will then be asked to consider; 

• The impacts on their services from a disruption? 

• How long could the organisation tolerate that service being disrupted (maximum tolerable 

period of disruption)? 

• The length of time before it would be untenable to recover a service (recovery time objective)? 

• What are the reasonably foreseeable hazards posed to a service? 

• What is the minimum that an area needs in order to deliver its services (i.e. staff, information, 

communications, technology, premises, partners etc.)? 

• How could they deliver the services differently if the resources were not available? 

 

The answers to the above questions will then be used to develop service level business continuity 

plans.  

For those service areas that are not deemed essential the Heads of Practice will be required to 

follow this overarching plan, and to offer support/resources to essential services.  

There will also be asset specific business continuity plans for each of the essential pieces of Councils 

estate such as Follaton House, Kilworthy Park, Totnes Depot, Salcombe Harbour etc. These plans will 

consider the risk posed to service users for loss of access or loss of utility, and the solutions to such a 

crisis. 

  



 

January 2019 6 Business Continuity Management Strategy 

 

 

 

2.0 Who is responsible for Business Continuity? 
 

Similarly to health and safety it is the responsibility of all staff, elected members and partners to 

ensure that they are minimising the potential risks to the organisation. This includes ensuring 

compliance with our data security procedures, IT security procedures, and building security 

procedures. 

To ensure compliance with our legal duties the Councils have appointed the Environmental Health 

Community of Practice to be responsible for providing technical support to the organisation in 

developing the business continuity management systems (BCMS). The Environmental Health Head of 

practice has nominated a Senior Specialist with experience in Emergency Planning and Business 

Continuity to be the Councils’ advisor.  

The Councils are also member of the Devon Emergency Planning Partnership, who provide technical 

support to the Environmental Health service in developing both Emergency and Business Continuity 

Plans. 

However it will not be the Environmental Health CoP on their own delivering the BCMS, we will need 

to ensure that business continuity is embedded into the culture of the organisation and our partners 

who deliver services on our behalf.  

It will be the responsibility of the Extended Leadership Team and the Health and Safety Management 

group (renamed Risk Management Community of Practice) to develop and deliver the business 

continuity work programme. This work programme and its delivery will be audited by internal audit 

and the results presented to Senior Leadership Team.  

2.1 The role of Heads of Practice in Business Continuity Management 
 

The Heads of Practice will:- 

• Attend or send a business continuity champion to the Risk Management Community of Practice 

meetings to identify work for their community of practice and deliver feedback on previously 

given tasks 

• Undertake the business impact analysis and risk analysis for their community of practice 

• For those essential services they must also complete a resource impact assessment 

• Produce service area business continuity plans that assess the particular risks to the business 

and details the mitigation measures put in place to ensure functions are maintained and 

recovered during and after an event. 

• Ensure that where essential services are commissioned, contracted or provided by other 

organisations, that these 3rd party plans are robust and thoroughly tested, to ensure these 

services are protected during a disruptive event. 

• Where a risk cannot be mitigated, ensure that this risk is entered onto the corporate 

(operational) risk register for review. 

• Ensure that their business continuity plans are approved by the relevant SLT member. 

• Familiarise the relevant portfolio holder with the plan. 



 

January 2019 7 Business Continuity Management Strategy 

 

 

 

• Ensure that the most up to date business continuity plan is sent to the environmental health 

community of practice lead (currently James Kershaw) for storing electronically on the Councils’ 

cloud based document storage system (Resilience Direct). 

• Ensure that staff within the community of practice are aware of the business continuity plan, 

including any controls that have been put in place. 

• Engage in any relevant training and exercising developed for their Community of Practice or 

corporately.  

• Ensure that their business continuity plans are reviewed and updated in line with the corporate 

business continuity work programme, to ensure that non-critical functions are not more critical, 

and that the resource requirements have not changed. 

• Identify if a situation has arisen that may lead to the activation of a business continuity plan, and 

after activating appropriate measures notify a member of SLT and the Business Continuity 

advisor. 

 

2.2 The role of Senior Leadership Team in Business Continuity Management 
 

The Senior Leadership Team will:- 

• Support the Business Continuity advisor in identifying the essential services and which of these 

should be classified as “critical functions” 

• Note any additions to the operational risk register and determine whether further work and 

budget should be allocated to these risks. 

• Ensure through the corporate appraisal scheme that the Heads of Practice are engaged with the 

business continuity work programme and are delivering their planning requirements on time. 

• Review and sign off Community of Practice business continuity plans, following review by the 

Risk Management Group. 

• Nominate a chair for the risk management group from within the Senior Leadership Team. 

• Review the Councils’ Business Continuity Management Strategy and arrangements every 3 

months or following incident. 

• Partake in training and exercises identified by the BC advisor as fulfilling a need  

• Ensure that business continuity forms part of any contractual arrangements and tendering 

processes we have with 3rd party organisations.  

• If required, establish an Incident Management Team to co-ordinate the Councils’ crisis response 

and recovery activities. 

• Consider the critical functions list when prioritising resources in a crisis response. 

• Nominate a loggist to record all decisions made, in an appropriate manner that will withstand 

legal scrutiny. 

• Appoint a person either internally or externally to undertake a debrief and produce a report on 

lessons learned from any incident. 

 

2.3 The role of the Business Continuity Advisor 
 



 

January 2019 8 Business Continuity Management Strategy 

 

 

 

The senior specialist with responsibility for business continuity will:- 

• Attend the monthly risk management meetings and gather evidence on the deliverability of the 

work programme, a report will then be produced on a quarterly basis for SLT. 

• Act as the single point of contact between Devon Emergency Planning Partnership and the 

Councils and act as an information conduit. 

• Provide technical support to the Heads of Practice and Senior Leadership Team in writing the 

business continuity plans.  

• Maintain a record of all completed business continuity plans and upload the documents onto 

Resilience Direct 

• Maintain and collate the critical functions list by analysing community of practice plans, and 

having taken instruction from SLT. 

• Provide advice and support to the critical incident command group during a disruptive event/ 

business continuity incident. 

• Act as local authority liaison officer with the emergency services where needed. 

 

 

 

 

 
  



 

January 2019 9 Business Continuity Management Strategy 

 

 

 

3.0 Business Continuity Management (BCM) Lifecycle 
 

ISO 22301:2012, is the international standard for business continuity and it specifies the 

requirements that a business would need to follow in order for their BCMS to be certified. It is the 

intention that the Councils system will be developed in accordance with this standard to ensure 

compliance with our statutory obligations.  

The standards is based around the BCM lifecycle model, this is a 6 part system as shown below; 

Figure 1. Business Continuity Management Lifecycle 

 

 

The lifecycle model helps to shape the work programme, and in accordance with the good practice 

guidance produced by The Business Continuity Institute the lifecycle can be defined further as 

below:- 

• Embedding: this is the process by which we integrate business continuity into the day to day 

activities of the organisation, so that it becomes a normal part of the business. 

• Analysis:  this is the process of reviewing and assessing the organisation to identify its 

objectives, how it functions and the constraints by which it operates. This will be done through 

business impact assessments, and will help to identify the essential services offered by the Councils. 

• Design: Following the impact assessment, this stage considers the hazards to the business 

and considers ways of reducing the risk through appropriate controls. 



 

January 2019 10 Business Continuity Management Strategy 

 

 

 

• Implementation: this is the process by which the designed controls are written into section 

business continuity plans. This stage also includes the development of the organisations response 

structure.  

• Validation: Once the business plans have been written, they will be tested through 

workshops, and the development of exercises. The plans will also be validated if tested during a 

disruptive event, and lessons learned from any debrief report. 

 

3.1 Business Continuity Management Programme 
Ensuring delivery of the management programme will be essential to the success of the developing 

and embedding business continuity into the organisation. The first stage of the management 

programme will be to assign responsibilities, this is outlined in section 2.0 of this document. 

The business continuity programme for 2019/20 in appendix A has been developed in conjunction 

with the risk management community of practice. The aim of the programme is to fulfil the first 

cycle of the business continuity management lifecycle without putting too much pressure on already 

stretched resources.  

The template community of practice business continuity plan can be found in appendix B of this 

document. 

  



 

January 2019 11 Business Continuity Management Strategy 

 

 

 

4.0 Developing and implementing the incident response and crisis 

management (Look here 1st in the event of an incident) 
 

4.1 Horizon Scanning 
The Devon Emergency Planning Partnership will escalate concerns regarding any likely rising tide 

disruptive event through the Business Continuity Advisor. Utilising their knowledge of the business 

and the potential impacts from the event, it may be possible to develop mitigation strategies prior to 

the event occurring. Examples of rising tide events would be pandemic flu, prolonged periods of cold 

weather, BREXIT. 

Should a sudden impact event occur, then the Business Continuity Advisor will advise SLT to set up a 

crisis management team and for the relevant business continuity plans to be activated. 

If this has not happened and you are aware of an incident arising please contact the Business 

Continuity Advisor (James Kershaw, tel. 01803 861287). 

4.2 Activation of Business Continuity Plans 

4.2.1 Service level plans 

Where an incident is small and only impacting on a single service within a community of practice 

then this can generally be dealt with by the head of practice, without the need to activate this 

overarching strategy. 

 

For example, if an outbreak of illness is impacting on one particular team and their ability to deliver a 

function, then it would be expected that the Head of Practice would activate their service level 

business continuity plan. Where a service does not have a business continuity plan due to not being 

deemed essential, then the event and impact should be raised to the Specialist Managers and the 

Case Management Managers.  

 

If a business continuity plan has been activated then the reason for activating the plan, and any 

steps taken should be communicated to the Business Continuity Advisor and SLT.  

 

Make sure you keep a log of any decisions taken. 

 

4.2.2 The corporate business continuity response arrangements 

In the event of a larger or widespread disruptive event (e.g. pandemic influenza, cyber-attack, fuel 

crisis, etc.) which is likely to effect a larger number of service areas, then it may be necessary to 

activate the response arrangements within this section of the plan.  

The decision to activate this plan and the crisis management team can only be made by a member of 

the senior leadership team. In the event of this occurring all business continuity activities will be co-

ordinated by this group and heads of practice should defer decisions to the team. 



 

January 2019 12 Business Continuity Management Strategy 

 

 

 

4.3.3 The Crisis Management Team (CMT) 

A CMT should be established if a significant number of services or activities have been affected, or 

are likely to be affected by a disruptive event. 

The role of the Crisis Management Team is to: 

• Assess the Risk or Threat. 

• Identify the services and activities that are likely to be affected 

• Prioritise the delivery of the councils critical functions 

• Gather / Analyse Information (e.g daily absenteeism reporting) 

• Assess the impact on corporate critical functions 

• Establish Recovery Time Objectives 

• Activate relevant Business Continuity Plans (e.g Service Area, Building or ICT Plans) 

• Identify resource requirements (staff, suppliers, IT, communications, documents, premises etc.) 

• Identify the options for preventing, reducing, mitigating disruption 

• Take action to ensure that corporate critical functions are maintained. 

• Take action to ensure the recovery of corporate critical functions 

• Maintain a log of decisions, actions, costs, etc. 

• Liaise with the Incident Management Team (if established to coordinate the response to an 

emergency) 

• Provide relevant information to staff, elected members, commissioned services, contractors, 

suppliers and other partner agencies. 

• If services are likely to be disrupted, provide effective and timely communication with the public. 

• Monitor staff welfare issues: health and safety, mental health, morale, working hours, etc. 

 

Membership of the crisis management team will be as follows, if the nominated person is 

unavailable they will nominate a deputy. 

• Sophie Hosking (Head of Paid Service) 

• Lesley Crocker (Head of Practice for Communications) 

• Catherine Bowen (Head of Practice for Legal) 

• Neil Hawke (Specialist Manager Support Services) 

• Drew Powell (Specialist Manager Customer First) 

• Lisa Buckle (S.151 Officer) 

• Andy Wilson (Head of Practice for Human Resources) 

• Ian Luscombe (Head of Practice for Environmental Health) 

• Helen Dobby (Commercial Services Group Manager) 

 

An organisational chart for the proposed crisis management team is shown in Appendix C, and a 

template agenda for the meeting can be found in Appendix D.  

  



 

January 2019 13 Business Continuity Management Strategy 

 

 

 

References 
 

Good Practice Guidelines 2018, The Business Continuity Institute 

  



Appendices 

Appendix A: Proposed work programme 

  JAN FEB 
 

MAR* APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC  
 

G           O           L           D SLT 

Capability   

Invacuation 

Drill 

 Crisis 

Media 

Training Training Walkthrough 

Evacuation 

Drill Desktop IT DR Test 

Corporate 

Risk 

Appetite Simulation 

Combined 

Simulation    

BCMS Policy 

Strategic 

BIA 

 
Awareness 

Campaign 

Week 

Individual 

Competence 

Training Assurance       

Risk 

Treatment 

Plan 

Management 

Review   Audit  
 

S          I           L           V           E           R COP 

Capability   

Invacuation 

Drill 

 

  Training Walkthrough 

Evacuation 

Drill Desktop IT DR Test   Simulation 

Combined 

Simulation    

BCMS BC Manual Tactical BIA 

 
Awareness 

Campaign 

Week 

Individual 

Competence 

Training Assurance 

Emergency 

Services 

Liaison   

Insurance 

Renewal 

Risk 

Assessment 

Management 

Review   Audit  
 

B          R           O           N           Z           E COPs 

Capability 

Battlebox 

check 

Invacuation 

Drill 

 

  Training Walkthrough 

Evacuation 

Drill Desktop IT DR Test   Simulation 

Combined 

Simulation    

BCMS   

Operational 

BIA 

 Awareness 

Campaign 

Week 

Individual 

Competence 

Training Assurance       

Risk 

Assessment 

Management 

Review   Audit  

BCC BCC Mthly BCC Mthly 
 

BCC Mthly BCC Mthly BCC Mthly BCC Mthly BCC Mthly BCC Mthly BCC Mthly BCC Mthly BCC Mthly BCC Mthly  

   
 

* Annual BCI Global BCAW          

Policy 

Business 

Impact 

Analysis 

Risk 

Assessment 

 
Business 

Continuity 

Planning 

Disaster 

Recovery 

Plan 

Emergency 

Response 

Crisis 

Management 

Training 

and 

awareness 

Exercise 

Rehearsal 
Assurance Internal Audit 

Performance 

Improvement 

Management 

Review 
 

 

  



Appendix B: Community of Practice Service Level Template 

 

This can be accessed on the Council Intranet or by emailing environmental.health@swdevon.gov.uk 

and requesting a copy. 

  



Appendix C: Suggested Crisis Management Response Structure  
 

 



 

January 2019 17 Business Continuity Management Strategy 

 

 

 

 



 

January 2019 18 Business Continuity Management Strategy 

 

 

 

 

 



Appendix D: Template agenda for Crisis Management Team Meeting 

 
Business Continuity Agenda  

Teleconference @  

Via Skype or  

Agenda BC meeting 3 

 1  Situation report from all attendees  

2  Urgent impacts and agreed actions. 
Janice to collate responses from ELT 
 

3  Communications:  
a. Communities / individual clients  
b. Staff  
c. Members 
d. Suppliers/partners  
e. Media (if applicable)  

4  Agree recovery targets, actions and management responsibility for:  
a. Staffing issues including health, safety, welfare and rotas  
b. Buildings including relocation and repair  
c. Equipment  
d. ICT  
4. Documents  
f. Other resources/stock  

5  Authorisation of expenditure  

6 Any requests for assistance by/to third parties 

7  Any other business  

8 Next meeting – date, time and location and attendance  

 
 

 

 





NOT FOR PUBLICATION 

Appendix C of this report contains exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 

of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 

Report to: West Devon Hub Committee  

Date: 29 January 2019 

Title: Public Toilet review update 

Portfolio Area: Environment Services (Cllr Robert 
Sampson) 

Wards Affected: All 

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 

clearance obtained: 

Y  

Date next steps can be taken: 12 February 2019 
 

 

Author: Cathy Aubertin 

 

 

Role: Head of Environment 
Services Practice 

Contact: Cathy.Aubertin@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendations:   

It is recommended: 

1. That the Hub Committee endorses the information in respect of 

the public toilet review for rural toilet facilities.   
2. That the Hub Committee notes that in accordance with the 

resolution of 16th October 2018 the facilities which are not being 
taken over or in respect of which the requested contribution is 
not being made will be referred to the Council meeting of 12th 

February 2019 for closure.  
 

 

1. Executive summary  

1.1 Members will recall that, at the Hub Committee meeting of 16 
October 2018, it was resolved that, in respect of rural facilities, 

where a Parish Council has resolved to neither contribute towards 
the running costs of a public toilet nor take the facility on by way of 

an asset transfer, it should be recommended to Council that the 
facility should close by 31 March 2019. 



NOT FOR PUBLICATION 

Appendix C of this report contains exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 

of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 
 1.2 This report requests that Members note and endorse the progress 

made in respect of the public toilet review, in consultation with 

Parish Councils and local Ward Members.  This report also includes 
an update on the consultation feedback received from Okehampton 

Town Council and Tavistock Town Council in order that Members 
receive a complete service view. 

 

1.3 The report further requests that Members make a recommendation 
to Council that the following public toilets should close by 31 March 

2019: 
• Buckland Monachorum – Bedford Bridge  
• Dartmoor Forest – Princetown 

• Okehampton – Market Street 
• Tavistock – Bedford or Bus Station (depending on proposal 

from Tavistock Town Council). 
 
1.4 A breakdown of savings which can be delivered through the 

recommended service changes are attached at Appendix A, with the 
net total for next financial year estimated at £70,875. 

 
1.5 There will be some costs associated with the termination of leases 

for Bedford Bridge and Princetown which are yet to be quantified. 
The detailed lease requirements are shown in Exempt Appendix C. 

 

1.6 Asset and Legal specialists have considered the cost of transfer and 
an allowance should be made in year 1 for each asset transfer to 

Towns and Parishes. Estimated transfer costs are contained within 
Exempt Appendix C and will be borne by the Council. 

 

 
2. Background  

 
2.1 In order to meet increasing budget pressures the Council has 

needed to review its discretionary services. The Council has been 

trying hard to find solutions which allow the continuation of service 
provision with local community assistance, where the local need for 

a public toilet provision is felt to be necessary. A range of 
conversations and meetings have taken place in affected 
communities over the past few months.   

 
2.2 Following a previous report to the Hub Committee on 16 October 2018, 

Members resolved: 
“1. in respect of the rural public toilets, resolve that Parish and 
Town Councils are requested to either: 

i. Assume responsibility for the public toilets in their area, including 
a transfer of the freehold or leasehold property; or 

ii. Make a contribution towards the cost of running public toilets 
equivalent to 75% of all direct costs (which includes staff and 
management costs). 

 
2. that the 75% Parish/ Town Council contribution be increased 

over the following three years based upon actual spend as per the 



NOT FOR PUBLICATION 

Appendix C of this report contains exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 

of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 
payment profile shown in Appendix A, to reach a point where full 
costs are covered by the Parish and Town Councils. 

 
3. that where a Parish or Town Council agrees neither to accept a 

transfer of the facility nor make the requested contribution (as set 
out in Recommendation 1 (i) and (ii)) it will be recommended to 
Council that the facility will be closed before the end of the financial 

year 2018/19. 
 

4. that where any facility will benefit from pay on entry equipment 
in order to reduce overall costs, the Council will work with the 
relevant Town or Parish Council on a business case and 

implementation programme to achieve best value. 
 

2.3 Meetings have been held with all Parish and Town Councils and, 
where necessary, negotiations and discussions have continued 
throughout by email, phone and further meetings. 

 
2.4  Details of meetings to date are as follows: 

Brentor 2 October 2018 

Buckland Monachorum 7 September 2018 

3 January 2019 

Chagford 23 August 2018 

Dartmoor Forest 12 October 2018 
22 November 2018 

Hatherleigh 2 October 2018 

Lydford 13 September 2018 
11 December 2018 

Okehampton 9 February 2016 
7 November 2017 
28 August 2018 

Tavistock 21 November 2018 
14 December 2018 

 
 

 
3. Outcomes/outputs  

3.1 To date, Town and Parish Councils have made the following 
resolutions in respect of the rural public toilets:  

 

3.2 Brentor – the Parish Council has agreed, in principle, to an asset 
transfer of the facility. Discussions in respect of some points of 

detail are on-going and are aimed to be concluded by early 
February 2019. 

 

3.3 Buckland Monachorum – the Parish Council has agreed to an 
asset transfer of the Yelverton facility in the next financial year, on 

the proviso that the Borough Council will facilitate and fund a lease/ 
agreement between Buckland Monachorum Parish Council and 
Maristow Estate. This will be confirmed following a Parish Council 

meeting on 23 January 2019.   



NOT FOR PUBLICATION 

Appendix C of this report contains exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 

of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 
 
 Buckland Monachorum Parish Council considers that it is not in a 

position to also take on the Bedford Bridge facility and, again, will 
confirm this position following the Parish Council meeting on 23 

January.  Assuming this is the case, as the facility is already closed 
for the winter season, it will simply not re-open in April 2019.   

 

Although there is a lease for this building from Maristow Estates 
until 28 September 2029, there is a break clause on 29 September 

2020, when the lease can be terminated with appropriate notice 
being given.  The Borough Council will look to negotiate an earlier 
release from the lease however, if this is not achieved the facilities 

will be closed and locked as per the seasonal closure until the first 
release date is reached.  The Borough Council is required to hand 

the building back in good condition for its permitted use.  A 
condition survey will establish any costs associated with this. 

 

3.4 Chagford – the Parish Council has agreed to an asset transfer of 
the entire building, which includes two small trading units.   

 
3.5 Dartmoor Forest – the Parish Council has resolved that it will 

neither take on Princetown toilets as an asset transfer nor 
contribute 75% of the cost of providing the facility, so it is 
recommended that it close on 31 March 2019.  Members should be 

aware that an upgrade of the current Pay on Entry system has been 
explored thoroughly as part of the discussions with Dartmoor Forest 

Parish Council.   
 

The building is held by the Borough Council by way of an under-

lease from Dartmoor National Park Authority with the superior 
Landlord being the Duchy.  The lease does not expire until 23 March 

2026 so the Borough Council will need to negotiate an earlier 
release from the arrangement with the National Park.  
 

Discussions are being arranged and Members will be updated 
verbally at the Hub meeting.  

 
3.6 Hatherleigh – the Parish Council has agreed to contribute 75% of 

running costs with effect from 2019/ 20.  The Parish Council will 

increase this contribution to reach 100% within three years. An  
increase of 5% has been assumed in Appendix A. 

 
3.7 Lydford – the Parish Council has agreed, in principle, to an asset 

transfer of the facility but discussions in respect of some points of 

detail are on-going. 
 

 
4. Town centre public toilets update 
 

4.1 Okehampton – Okehampton Town Council has expressed a wish   
to run the toilet service locally for some time. Discussions have 

been ongoing, and pre-date the current project. Delays have been 



NOT FOR PUBLICATION 

Appendix C of this report contains exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 

of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 
around existing contract start and finish dates. With a new 
cleansing contract about to begin on 1 April 2019 the Town Council 

is now in a position to progress with local delivery plans. As such 
Okehampton Town Council has resolved an asset transfer in respect 

of Fairplace toilets and this will be completed by 31 March 2019.   
 
4.2 It is proposed to close Market Street toilets by 31 March 2019, and 

Okehampton Town Council are aware of this.  Both the building and 
the land are owned by the Borough Council. 

 
4.3 This outcome follows a longer period of negotiation and discussion 

with Okehampton Town Council. 

 
4.4. Tavistock – Members will be aware that previous reports have 

made minimum reference to the three facilities in Tavistock 
(Bedford car park, bus station and Guildhall Square), as discussions 
were in their infancy. 

 
4.5 Following a meeting between West Devon Borough officers and 

representatives from the Town Council to explore options, the Town 
Council is keen to consult with its residents in respect of public 

toilets and has committed that this will take place in the coming 
weeks.  The results of the consultation will help to inform the 
proposal from the Town Council and it is requested that the 

Borough Council receive a final proposal before the 31 March 2019. 
The proposal will then be brought before Members for 

consideration.  
 

4.6 The Town Council has requested various information on operating 

arrangements and related matters and will also consider, as part of 
its deliberations, whether Pay on Entry would be required should it 

resolve asset transfers for some or all of the facilities. This will form 
part of the recommendations to Members to be considered by the 
Hub Committee.  A further report will be brought back to the Hub at 

the earliest possible date following a proposal being received. 
 

4.7 In the event that a proposal is received which does not allow, 
financially, for the current stock of town centre toilets to be 
maintained, then a minimum of one of the least used facilities 

(which are those in Bedford car park and the Bus Station) would 
need to be closed by 31 March 2019. 

 
 
5.  Options available and consideration of risk  

5.1 Members are requested to consider the above update and potential 
options on the public toilet project, which are summarised as 

follows: 
  

Brentor Asset transfer 

Buckland Monachorum Yelverton – asset transfer 

Bedford Bridge – closure 

Chagford Asset transfer 



NOT FOR PUBLICATION 

Appendix C of this report contains exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 

of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 

Dartmoor Forest Princetown – closure 

Hatherleigh 75% contribution from Parish Council 

Lydford Asset transfer 

Okehampton Fairplace – asset transfer 
Market Street – closure 

Tavistock Discussions ongoing 

 

 
 

6.  Proposed Way Forward  
6.1 Officers will continue with negotiations and clarifications with towns 

and parishes where necessary, and a further update will be 

presented to this Committee on 19 March 2019.  Any further 
proposed changes or closures will be presented to Council in early 

2019 /20. 
 
6.2 In addition, officers will work with Tavistock Town Council to 

develop a proposal in respect of Tavistock public toilets so that this 
may be presented to the Hub Committee early in the next financial 

year, 2019/ 20. 
 

 
7. Implications  
 

Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  

proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 
 

 Legal consideration of assets being transferred will 
be considered on a case by case basis, as will lease 
terminations, where necessary. 

 
Whilst the Hub Committee has responsibility for the 

provision, management and control of car parks, 
Council approval is required to close public toilets. 

 

Financial 

 

 Net Saving to budget in financial year 2019/ 20 of 

£70,875.  However, costs of terminating leases are 
yet to be established. 
 

Risk  There may be some concern from customers in 
respect of Pay on Entry in Tavistock, should that 

proposal proceed, which would present a 
reputational risk.  However, it should be noted that 

more and more authorities are implementing Pay 
on Entry systems so more people are aware of 
them and use them than ever before. 

 
This is evidence through the work of the British 

Toilet Association and benchmarking with other 
local authorities. 



NOT FOR PUBLICATION 

Appendix C of this report contains exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 

of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 

 

The Comprehensive Impact Assessment attached 
at Appendix B shows the impact that closing 
facilities may have in Buckland Monachorum and 

Princetown. 
 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
 

Equality and 
Diversity 

 

 A comprehensive impact assessment has been 
completed in respect of this matter which shows 

that, should Pay on Entry be implemented, there 
would be positive discrimination in respect of 
disabled customers, who would be able to enter a 

disabled facility using a Radar key, therefore not 
paying the entry fee.  Eliminating this 

discrimination would increase costs to install 
equipment, and is not considered necessary at this 
stage. 

 

Safeguarding 

 

 No implications.   

Community 

Safety, Crime 
and Disorder 

 

 There is potential for vandalism of public toilets to 

be reduced should Pay on Entry be implemented, 
due to the requirement to pay a fee to gain entry.   

 
However, experience has shown that the Pay on 
Entry equipment could be a target for vandalism 

during the first few months of operation. 
 

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing 

 No implications. 

Other 
implications 

 None. 
 

 
 

Supporting Information 
 
Appendix A – financial savings achieved to date. 

 
Appendix B – Comprehensive Impact Assessment. 

 
Appendix C – Part II information 
 

Background papers – Hub Committee report of 16 October 2018. 
 

 
Approval and clearance of report 
 

Process checklist Completed 

Portfolio Holder briefed  Yes/No 

SLT Rep briefed Yes/No 



NOT FOR PUBLICATION 

Appendix C of this report contains exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 

of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 

Relevant  Exec Director sign off (draft) Yes/No 

Data protection issues considered Yes/No 

If exempt information, public (part 1) report 

also drafted. (Cabinet/Scrutiny) 

Yes/No 

 

 



Schedule of savings 2019-20 to 2021-22

Savings identified

£ £ £ £ £ £

Income to be generated from 75% contribution (increasing by 5% per annum) 5,545 5,915 6,285

 - Hatherleigh 1,430 1,526 1,621

 - Yelverton 4,115 4,390 4,664

Savings from transfer or closure, to take place in April 2019 57,039 57,039 57,039

 - Brentor 1,302 1,302 1,302

 - Chagford 1,505 1,505 1,505

 - Lydford 2,970 2,970 2,970

 - Princetown 17,093 17,093 17,093

 - Okehampton (Fairplace) 19,932 19,932 19,932

 - Okehampton (Market Street) 14,237 14,237 14,237

100% business rate relief saving from all public conveniences in 2020-21 (to be retained by WDBC in 2019/20) 0 21,965 21,965

Total saving 62,585 84,919 85,289

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 





 

 

 

 

COMPREHENSIVE IMPACT 

ASSESSMENT 

 

PUBLIC TOILET PROJECT 

 

 



Comprehensive Impact Assessment Template 
 

Assessment being undertaken Public Convenience Review 

 

Group:  Commercial Services Commercial Services  

Service: Environment Services 

Name of Officer/s completing assessment: Emma Widdicombe 

Date of Assessment: 9th January 2019 

1.  Why are you doing this CIA?  

 

Provide a brief explanation of the reason. Is it:  

new/change in policy, procedures, strategy, function, 

service.  

 

Further to the review of the public conveniences in West 
Devon, the purpose of this CIA is to identify if the proposed 
closure closures on selected toilets will impact on health & 
safety, equality & diversity etc and to assess whether any 
mitigating action is required. 
 
 

2.  What are the aims, objectives, outcomes, purpose of the 

policy, service change, function that you are assessing? 

 

West Devon Borough Council approved to deliver 

efficiencies of £50,000 (or more) from the overall public 

convenience service.  It was agreed these efficiencies would 

be achieved through consideration of the provision of pay on 

entry systems at the higher footfall facilities and where the 

pay back can be achieved on a capital spend within a 

reasonable period, through 75% contribution to the overall 

running costs which will be increased over the following 

three years to a point where the full costs are covered by the 

Parish and Town Councils, through transfer of the freehold 

or leasehold property or where none of the above are agreed 

the closure of these toilets will occur. 



The Council has a power but not a duty to provide public 

conveniences (Public Health Act 1936).  It currently provides 

12 public toilet facilities within West Devon Borough Council 

and the overall budget for public toilets, excluding officer 

salary costs, totals almost £181,000 for this financial year, of 

which over half of that amount is committed to contract 

cleaning costs, with the remainder paying for other running 

costs, such as business rates, repairs and maintenance, 

energy and water. Given the Borough Councils financial 

position and the need to secure savings in support of its 

Medium Term Financial Plan, the discretionary service of 

providing public conveniences is unsustainable.  To continue 

to provide the current level of service provision means the 

Borough Council will need to identify savings elsewhere 

within its overall budget. 

3.   

Who implements or delivers the above? State if this is 

undertaken by more than one team, service, and 

department including any external partners.  

 

 
The project will be managed by the public review project 
group which consists of officers from environment services, 
assets, support services, property maintenance, ICT, legal 
and the project sponsor being the Executive Director/Group 
Manager.  The team have met with Parish and Town 
Councils as required to discuss the various proposals. 
 

4.  Equality and Diversity, safeguarding, health, safety 

and wellbeing - Who will be affected by this proposal? Is 

the proposal likely to result in positive or negative 

impacts/risks? If so what are they? What plans do you 

have in place, or are developing, that will mitigate the 

likely identified negative impacts/risks? 

All members of the public and local communities which 
include more specifically: 

• Users with chronic health issues (bowel and bladder 
problems) 

• People with young families 

• Disabled people 

• Parish and Town Councils who could potentially be 
recipients of existing facilities 



• Travellers 

• Homeless people 

• Young people 

• Older people 

• Pregnant mothers 

• Public health teams 

• Outdoor/mobile workers 

• Holiday makers/day visitors 

• Private businesses (restaurants/pubs/shops/cafes) 

• Tourist groups 
 
 
Positive Impacts  

• Through devolution these public conveniences will be 
spared from closure, or even enhanced 

• Services may be designed in accordance with local 
priorities and needs, using local knowledge and 
resources 

• There may be the potential to foster a greater degree 
of civic pride and increased involvement in public 
services by local residents 

• Where alternative facilities have been recognised eg 
pub, café this may have a positive impact on local 
businesses due to increased footfall, with an increase 
in money spent in local areas 

• The hours of opening of the alternative facilities may 
offer a variety of opening hours which would not 
cause significant disadvantage. 

 
 
 



Negative Impacts 

• Closure of public toilets may have a restrictive effect 
upon the willingness of certain groups to access 
public space, socialise and shop.  This in turn can 
lead to isolation and negatively impact upon a 
person’s well-being.  Disabled people, older people, 
mothers and fathers of young children and carers and 
people with chronic health problems all need easy 
access to toilet facilities. 

• Lack of toilet facilities at the right time and right place 
contributes to dirty streets that are unsanitary, 
unpleasant and can spread infection.  Public toilets in 
places of open space help to encourage people who 
may need regular toilet access to take exercise and 
stay physically active. 

• Public toilet provision is an important issue for areas 
relying on tourism income, or seeking to develop their 
profile as a visitor destination.  Tourists choose their 
destinations based on previous experience, looking 
up feedback on the internet and knowledge of 
facilities.  Meeting visitor’s needs is vital to secure 
repeat trade and build a sustainable economy. 
However, there is also a view that reduced availability 
of facilities would not impact on a family’s choice to 
visit certain areas.  The perception is that private 
facilities are more modern and have better facilities for 
mothers and babies. 

• A reduction in the provision of public conveniences 
will mean users will have to travel further to find 
alternative provision, where it is available 



• Individuals with disabilities, older people or individuals 
with health related problems may find alternative 
facilities difficult to use 

• It is likely that there will be an increased demand for 
remaining facilities  

• Older people are more likely to suffer from 
incontinence problems and other health related issues 
that require them to use the toilet more frequently.  
Lack of toilet facilities will result in older people 
staying at home. 

• Young children are less likely to be able to wait to use 
the toilet and mother with babies may need baby 
changing facilities.  Pregnant women are more likely 
to need the toilet more frequently and will be 
disadvantaged if there are a lack of facilities. 

• Some toilets identified for closure include disabled 
facilities.  Those with mobility problems may find it 
harder to get to alternative facilities.  Lack of toilet 
facilities prevent disabled people from taking part in 
everyday activities and going out.   

• Carers who look after older people, disabled and 
young people may be disadvantaged. 

• There could be negative impacts to homeless 
individuals who use public toilets as somewhere to 
wash as well as a toileting facility.  Homeless people 
may also suffer from stigma, and may not be or may 
not feel welcome in some establishments. 

 
To mitigate the impact the following has been carried out: 

• Towns and villages with multiple facilities have been 
assessed and alternative toilet provisions identified 

• Toilets identified for closure are low usage sites 



• There will be appropriate knowledge transfer and due 
diligence processes prior to devolution and during 
negotiations 
 

5.  Information Management – What type of information will 

be required to deliver this proposal? Is the proposal likely 

to result in increased risks to the information? If so, what 

are they? What plans do you have in place, or are 

developing, that will mitigate the likely identified negative 

impacts/risks? 

    

To achieve the aims of the project, data will be required on 

the service running costs. 

 

During negotiations with Town & Parish Councils, it will be 

necessary for data to be shared. 

 

 

 

6.  Community Safety/Crime and Disorder - Who will be 

affected by this proposal? Is the proposal likely to result in 

positive or negative impacts/risks? If so what are they? 

What plans do you have in place, or are developing, that 

will mitigate the likely identified negative impacts/risks? 

 

If toilets are closed there is a risk of vandalism of the empty 
building.  
 
Positive 

• Where toilets have been devolved to Parish and Town 
Councils it will have a positive impact in terms of 
keeping properties in use and reducing the risks 
associated with crime and vandalism in disused 
premises 

Negative 

• Risk of vandalism and antisocial behaviour of the 
empty building should closure occur 
 

7.  Have the impacts identified in Questions 4 to 6 been 

assessed using up to date and reliable evidence and 

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Town and Parish 
Councils 



data? Please provide a link to the evidence/data or state 

what the evidence/data is. The data and research page on 

the intranet is a useful resource.  

 

Do you need to engage or consult with any representative 

group/s?  

 

Are our staff affected? Have the unions or staff forums 

been involved? If not do they need to be?  

 

Consultation has also taken place with National and Local 
Interest Groups to inform them of the project brief and 
requested feedback or meetings if desired. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8.  What plans do you have in place to monitor the impact 

of the proposals once they have been implemented? The 

full impact of the policy/decision may only be known after 

the proposals have been implemented.  

 

Once a transfer of services and assets has taken place, in 
legal terms the Council no longer retains an interest or 
responsibility therefore in such cases there is an argument 
that the need for ongoing monitoring does not arise.  
However, in the short term there will need to be a clear 
communications and support to direct enquiries 
appropriately. 
 
Where facilities may close the opportunity to dispose through 
sale, demolition or termination of the lease would be 
considered.  However, during this time empty buildings 
would be monitored by our MLO’s for antisocial behaviour 
and vandalism 

9.  Are there other implications not covered by this CIA that 

need to be considered? These can include: staffing, 

No other implications. 



procurement and contracts, property, climate change, 

transport, waste and economy. If yes then please explain.  

 

Refer to the Committee Report Template Guidance page 

for further information.  

 

 

 

Summary of Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications (These should be copied and pasted into your report) 
 
Equality and Diversity 
 

Alternative facilities have been identified where possible. 
 

Safeguarding 
 

Vulnerable customers are more likely to be affected by the outcome of this review.  However, as 
above, alternative facilities have been identified. 
 

Community Safety, Crime and 
Disorder 
 

Closed facilities will be sold where feasible so that empty, unused buildings are not left as targets 
for vandals, and, in the meantime, will be monitored. 
 

Health, Safety and Wellbeing Alternative facilities have been identified where it is proposed that public toilet facilities are 

closed.   

 

Other implications  
 

 

 



 

Bedford Bridge –  When looking to identify alternative facilities unfortunately we were unable to identify any within close proximity 

to the current public conveniences however there are toilets located a short drive to nearby Horrabridge 

Princetown 

 

• There are number of cafes and public houses located in Princetown which provide toilet facilities within a short walk of the 

current facilities.  Included in these, to name a few, are  Fox Tor café, The Plume of Feathers Inn, The Prince of Wales, The 

Old Police Station Cafe 



 

Okehampton – Market Street 

 

• There are a number of establishments within Okehampton which provide toilet facilities which includes cafes and public 

houses. 

• Waitrose provide a toilet which is only a short walk from the current public conveniences.  There are also the Fairplace public 

conveniences which will remain open for use by the public. 

 



, 







 

 

Report to: Hub Committee 

Date: 29 January 2019 

Title: Corporate Strategy Key Performance 
Indicators 

Portfolio Area: Resources and Performance 

Wards Affected: All Wards 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee:  Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

Urgent Decision:  N Approval and 

clearance obtained: 

N  

Date next steps can be taken: 

(e.g. referral on of recommendation or 
implementation of substantive decision) 

 

Following the 

expiry of the 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Call-in 

period 

Author: Nadine Trout Role: Commissioning Manager  

Contact: Nadine.Trout@swdevon.gov.uk  

 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the Committee endorse the proposed actions as detailed in 

section 5 of this report. 

 

1.  Executive summary  
1.1 This report is presented by the portfolio holder for Resources and 

Performance and details progress made to date in developing key 

performance indicators. 
  

1.2 The report also includes recommended next steps to improve 
Corporate Strategy reporting. 

 

2.  Background  
2.1 In May 2018 Council adopted a new Corporate Strategy including a 

core purpose, guiding principles and six high level themes to guide 

Council delivery over the next 5 years, see Appendix A. 
 

2.2 Throughout the summer of 2018 the Corporate Strategy themes 
were promoted to local residents via roadshows and an online 
engagement portal where residents were encouraged to share their 

views.  Responses were varied but common responses focused on 
the need for truly affordable local housing, the need for car parking 

in new developments and the importance of keeping the Borough 
clean and tidy. 



 

 

   
2.3 Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 4 October 2018 agreed to the 

formation of a Corporate Strategy KPI Task and Finish Group 
comprising Councillors Cheadle, Moody and Pearce. On 7 November 

2018 the Task and Finish Group met to discuss potential KPIs, the 
session was chaired by Cllr Edmonds in his capacity as Resources 
and Performance portfolio holder with COP leaders in attendance.   

 
2.4 A Local Government Association (LGA) Corporate Peer Review visit 

took place 27-30 November 2018.  A key element of the Peer 

Review being to provide feedback on the Council’s understanding of 

local context and priority setting. 

 
2.5 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered a version of this 

report at its meeting on 15 January 2019 and was supportive of the 

recommendation.  However, Members did emphasise the 

importance of managing expectations and felt that this should 

commence at the Workshop on Tuesday, 5 February 2019.  

 
 

3  Outcomes/outputs  
3.1 The Task and Finish Group identified a set of key performance 

indicators, see Appendix B. 
  

3.2 The Peer Review recognised work on the Corporate Strategy to date 

but suggested the Council needed to set a powerful vision for the 

next 5-10 years, and develop clearer strategies aligned to each 

Corporate theme. 

 

4  Options available and consideration of risk  
4.1 Do nothing option 

The Council could chose to disregard the initial findings of the Peer 
Review. However, in doing so the Council would be failing to act on 
valuable feedback and a chance to hone and improve Council 

strategy and performance. 
  

4.2 Take action option 
By setting steps as detailed in section 5 the Council is proactively 
responding to Peer Review feedback and more importantly creating 

clear strategies in line with each corporate theme.  It is therefore 
deemed appropriate to pursue this option. 

 
5. Proposed Way Forward  
5.1 It is recognised the KPIs in Appendix B are a good starting point, 

can help inform the 2018/19 Annual Report, and are useful for 
officers and Members to check operational performance at any 

given time and track performance trends.  However, more work is 
needed to articulate desired outcomes for our communities under 
each of the corporate strategic themes so that Members can 

scrutinise how well the Council is meeting its objectives for our 
communities.  



 

 

 
5.2 It is therefore suggested officers develop each of the corporate 

 themes by pulling together a comprehensive audit per theme 
 encompassing the following for Spring 2019: 

 
a) Evidence 
b) Service offering 

c) Policies 
d) Projects and action plans 

e) Stakeholders and Partners 
f) Lead officers and Members 
g) Objectives and Outcomes 

 
5.3 Once officers have completed this initial data gathering exercise it 

 is suggested Members and residents are canvassed for their views 
 via targeted focus groups. 
  

5.4 A clear set of strategies per theme could then be drafted and 
presented to Council at the beginning of the new political term and 

form an integral part of the Member induction process.   
 

5.5 From June 2019 onwards Overview and Scrutiny focus on one of 
the corporate themes each meeting and look in depth at how the 
Council is performing against the objectives and outcomes set out 

in the strategy.  It is suggested scrutiny of each theme would not 
be limited to only performance statistics; but also feedback from 

customers and stakeholders and updates from relevant portfolio 
leads including upcoming service improvements. 

 

5.6 Adopting the above approach would negate the need for ad hoc 
reports being presented to Overview and Scrutiny Committee and 

quarterly monitoring reports covering all services.   Instead reports 
would be collated and presented by corporate theme and in doing 
so would be  set in context and provide a more thorough overview 

of each theme. 
 

5.7 Operational performance indicators, including those listed in 
Appendix B, will continue to be published on the Council’s 
performance management system which is accessible to all 

Members who may review any of the indicators at any time.   
 

6.  Implications  
 

Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  
proposals  

Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 

 

Y Overview & Scrutiny Committee have a 

responsibility to assist the Council in identifying 
areas for improvement and to make any necessary 

recommendations to the Hub and Council.  A 
version of this report was presented to the 



 

 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting on 15 

January 2019.  

Financial 

 

Y There are no financial implication as a result of this 

report that have not already been budgeted for. 

Risk Y A failure to review and act upon Peer Review 

feedback could lead to:  
Lack of coherent delivery 
Reputational harm 

Ineffective use of resources 
Poor quality service 

These risks are mitigated by:  
The recommendations outlined in this report 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 

Equality and 

Diversity 
 

 None – no policy or service change is proposed in 

this report. 

Safeguarding 

 

 None – no policy or service change is proposed in 

this report. 
 

Community 
Safety, Crime 

and Disorder 
 

 None – no policy or service change is proposed in 
this report. 

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing 

 None – no policy or service change is proposed in 
this report. 

Other 
implications 

 - 
 

 
APPENDICES 
Appendix A – West Devon Corporate Strategy 

Appendix B – Corporate Strategy KPIs 



Litter

Food

Food
Inspector

BOTTLE

30

Litter

STOP

West Devon Street 69

West Devon
Borough
Council

5 year Corporate Strategy 2018 - 2023

ENVIRONMENT
Protecting, conserving

and enhancing our
built and natural

environment

COUNCIL

Delivering
efficient and 
effective services

ENTERPRISE

Creating places for
enterprise to thrive
and business to grow

Council and residents
working together to

create strong and
empowered communities

COMMUNITIES

Supporting positive,
safe and healthy

lifestyles and helping
those most in need

WELLBEING

HOMES

Enabling homes
that meet the
needs of all

How we will measure success

u

u

u

u

u

Provide key performance indicators for each corporate strategy theme

Benchmark performance against national standards 

Monitor progress quarterly through our Overview & Scrutiny process

Refine service standards through targeted annual delivery plans

Report annually through our Annual Report process

Our Challenges

u

u

u

u

u

Withdrawal of core central government funding

Setting a balanced budget without cutting statutory services

High house prices and a dwindling working age population

Managing development without compromising our high quality 
natural and built environment 

It costs more to deliver services in a rural area

Our Guiding Principles

u

u

u

u

Provide value for money and good customer service

Be open, honest, listening and responsive

Work with partners and communities for mutual benefit

Be open minded and embrace change

Our Core Purpose

To make a positive impact on the lives of local people by 
providing valued and easy to use services. Corporate Strategy Themes

Council





SUGGESTED TASK & FINISH CORPORATE STRATEGY KPIs  

Text highlighted in yellow notes national performance figures available and are shown at the end 

of this document 

Council 

Delivering efficient and effective services 

 Increase customer satisfaction, target to exceed the national local council average1  

 Increase right first time services, target to exceed the national local council average2  

 Increase keeping customers informed, target to exceed the national local council average3  

 Increase council tax collection, target top national quartile 

 Value for money, target to achieve an independent value for money opinion 

 Council income/expenditure, target within x% variance 
 

1 63.4 points, or by 5 points per annum; 2 56.3% (could also use complaints data); 3 6.2 points 
 

Homes  

Enabling homes that meet the needs of all 

 Affordable homes delivered, target* 

 Total homes delivered, target* 

 Community housing initiatives, target of 15 units over 5 Years 

 Homelessness prevention, 20% increase in number of preventions 

 Temporary accommodation, 15% reduction in temporary accommodation use 

*Figures to be informed by JLP targets and not to include the Dartmoor National Park – figs hopefully available 

by March i.e. adoption of JLP 

 

Enterprise  
Creating places for enterprise to thrive and business to grow 
 

 Business unit rental, target of 80% business rental achieved  
 Businesses support, target to deliver support to over 60 businesses 
 Business rates target increase collection rates by x 

 Employment land brought forward, target* 
 

* Figures to be informed by JLP targets and not to include the Dartmoor National Park 

 

Communities  
Council and residents working together to create strong and empowered communities 

 

 S106 community based funding, target achieve 100% spend 

 Neighbourhood plans, target complete 100% of plans within timeframe* 

 Community led car parking tariffs, target work with 4 communities over next 5 years 

 Devolution of council owned assets (public conveniences) target? 

 Promote Lotto, target raise x for local good causes? 
 

*6 weeks for Regulation16 and within 8 weeks for a referendum 

 

Environment  

Protecting, conserving and enhancing our built and natural environment 

 Listed building consent, target 80% of applications within timeframe* 

 Planning enforcement, target 100% investigations in line with policy 

 Speed of planning decisions, target 80% of applications processed in a timely manner* 

 Energy efficiency, target 100 household grants awarded 



Environment continued 

 Missed bins, target less than 75 missed bins per 100,000 

 Recycling, target increase 55% baseline for recycling and composting of household waste  

 Fly tip enforcement, target 100% enforcement fly tips on public land where evidence is present 
 

* planning applications processed within 8 weeks or agreed time - minor developments 

 

Wellbeing  
Supporting positive, safe and healthy lifestyles and helping those most in need 
 

 Food safety, target 85% with a hygiene rating of 5 stars 

 Disabled facility grants, target process 100% applications within timeframe 

 Benefit claims processing times, target top national quartile 

 Housing waiting list, target reduce by x 

 Households in temporary accommodation, target reduce by x 

 Leisure centre use, target increased participation at council owned leisure centres 

 

 

West Devon Boroug Council compared to national performance 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 



Commercial Development Opportunities  

Appendix A of this report contains exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 

of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 
 

Report to: Hub Committee 

Date: 29th January 2019 

Title: Commercial Development Financing 

Portfolio Area: Cllr Neil Jory, Assets 

Wards Affected: All 

Relevant Scrutiny  

Committee: 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

Date next steps can be 

taken: 

After Council, 12 February  

Authors: Darren Arulvasagam  

Business Development  

Darren.Arulvasagam@swdevon.gov.uk 
 

Recommendations:   

Hub Committee RECOMMEND that Council: 

1. Undertake prudential borrowing of £10.631 million, to fund the commercial 

developments set out in Exempt Appendix A 

2. Allocate £468,700 of S106 funding (as described in paragraph 3.26) to 
part fund the Tavistock temporary accommodation development  

3. Utilise £139,000 of Affordable Housing budget to part fund the Tavistock 
temporary accommodation development 

4. Utilise the £100,000 Okehampton capital receipt to part fund the 
Okehampton retail hospitality pod development 

5. Fund the £502,385 upfront borrowing costs during the construction period 

of the projects (as set out in Exempt Appendix A) from earmarked reserves 
as described in paragraph 3.29. 

 

Executive Summary  
1.0 Following Full Council approval of the amended Commercial Property 

Strategy (CPS) in September 2018, three in-borough developments have 

been approved under delegated authority to the Head of Paid Service, in 
consultation with the S151 officer, the Leader of the Council and Chair of 

the ‘Invest to Earn’ Member working group.  This report provides an 
update on these projects and seeks approval for how these will be funded 
through the pre-development, construction and initial letting period.  

1.1 The amended CPS had the following objectives: 

1.1.1 To support regeneration and the economic activity of the Borough, the LEP 

area and the South West Peninsula (in that priority order) 

1.1.2 To enhance economic benefit & create business rates growth 

1.1.3 To assist with the financial sustainability of the Council as an ancillary 

benefit 

1.1.4 To help the Council continue to deliver and/or improve frontline services in 

line with the Council’s adopted strategy & objectives. 



Commercial Development Opportunities  

1.2 The projects require funding and are to be part-funded from reserves, 
existing budgets and a capital receipt, in addition to borrowing.  All of the 

borrowing and financing for the Commercial Developments requires 
Council approval.  The structure of the borrowing requirements will be 

determined by the s151 Officer and the Council’s Capital Financing 
Requirements (CFR) and its adopted Treasury Management strategy. 

1.3 The projects which have been approved in accordance with the Council’s 
adopted Commercial Property Strategy are: 

1.3.1 A new build development in Tavistock which will be let to a major UK hotel 

operator on the current Abbey Rise car park, providing year around visitor 
accommodation and creating up to 35 jobs. 

1.3.2 A new fit for purpose ten unit short-term accommodation building, which 
will be located in Tavistock and will be used to discharge the council’s 
borough-wide temporary accommodation obligations. 

1.3.3 A new retail hospitality pod in Okehampton on Council-owned land, 
creating up to 25 jobs. 

1.4 All of these projects are subject to further commercial negotiation and 
subsequently Planning (Development Management) approval.  Therefore 
there is no guarantee that these projects will progress and there is no pre-

determination that these projects will receive planning approval. 

2 Background  

2.0 In September 2018, Council approved an amended Commercial Property 
Strategy which included in-borough developments.   

2.1 In July 2018, a report entitled “Council Owned Asset Investment and 

Development” was presented to Council, which approved expenditure of up 
to £90,000 to progress 3 projects within West Devon.  Two of these 

(Tavistock Hotel and Okehampton Retail Hospitality Pod) projects have 
progressed to a stage where they have now been approved for progress 
towards a planning application.  However, before this can happen, the 

funding arrangements require full Council approval, hence the need for 
this report and its recommendations.   

2.2 The third project is not being progressed, with the agreement of the Invest 
to Earn Member working group.  Whilst a project was possible, it was 
determined that it would have not been appropriate for the Council to be 

exposed to the cumulative tenant risk that would have arisen if the project 
continued.  The Old Mill site in Okehampton that was under consideration 

is now under offer and a disposal is expected to be completed by the end 
of January 2019.  The capital receipt that will be generated is to be used to 
fund the Okehampton retail hospitality pod being proposed, as shown in 

Exempt Appendix A.   

3 Development Options 

Tavistock, Abbey Rise Car Park Hotel Development 

3.0 A major UK hotel operator is seeking a site in Tavistock and has confirmed 

that the land at Abbey Rise (next to Godolphin House) would be suitable 
for their requirements.   

3.1 The proposal is for a 5 storey, 80 bedroom hotel.  Some parking will be re-

provided, but the majority of hotel users will use the parking provided in 



Commercial Development Opportunities  

the nearby Council owned car parks, as is typical in town centre hotel 
locations.   

3.2 The Council would procure a design and build contract and then the 
building would be leased to the tenant on a 25 year, full repairing and 

insuring lease. 

3.3 Based on an 80% occupancy rate (the UK average for the last 3 financial 

years) and 1.5 person/room, this would bring a minimum of 35,040 
additional visitors to Tavistock per year. 

3.4 According to Visit Britain.org1, for every £1 of direct spend in tourism there 

is a further £1.90 in GVA that is supported elsewhere in the economy 
through the supply chain and consumer spending activities.  

3.5 If this is applied to an average room rate of £60/night, the total additional 
annual spend in the economy of Tavistock and surrounding area (excluding 
room costs) would amount to £2.7m per annum. 

3.6 The project will deliver an initial net yield slightly below the target net 
yield of 1% envisaged in the CPS.  However, it performs very strongly 

when measured against the two other objectives of; supporting 
regeneration and the economic activity of the Borough and enhancing 
economic benefit & business rates growth.   

3.7 Initial discussions with Tavistock Town Council, the chamber of commerce 
and the Tavistock BID are planned for the 22nd January.  Due to publishing 

deadlines, a verbal update about this meeting will be shared at the 
committee meeting. 

3.8 The project programme envisages approximately two years between 

approval and completion. 

3.9 The next stage is to agree an agreement to lease with the hotel operator 

in January 2019, prior to seeking planning permission – an application in 
anticipated by May 2019.  An external project team has been assembled to 
deliver the project and mitigate project risk. 

3.10 When approving the project, Invest to Earn working group Members stated 
that they understood that car parking is an emotive subject, but that any 

disruption caused would be offset by bringing the expected level of 
employment, footfall and linked spend to the town.  Public consultation 
through the planning application process will be undertaken.  Mitigation 

solutions are to be explored to limit negative impacts. 

3.11 The project now requires full Council approval for the funding and 

borrowing for the schemes and for the use of reserves to provide the cash 
flow during the build process ahead of receiving a rental income from the 
hotel operator.  

3.12 Funding will be from PWLB borrowing as shown in exempt Appendix 
A.  This appendix also provides information on the expected capital 

expenditure by period and the income profile by period.  Due to rents not 
being payable until the hotel is operational, but borrowing being required 

to fund the pre-development and build, the Council will need to fund the 

                                       
1 https://www.visitbritain.org/sites/default/files/vb-corporate/Documents-
Library/documents/Tourism_Jobs_and_Growth_2013.pdf 



Commercial Development Opportunities  

upfront borrowing costs during the construction period.  It is forecast that 
these will total £415,658.  This is to be funded from reserves as described 

in paragraph 3.29. 

Okehampton Pod – New Leisure/Hospitality/Food Retail Unit  

3.13 It is proposed that land where the public toilets on Market Street, 
Okehampton (which are due to be closed at the end of March 2019) and 

the Taxi rank (adjacent to the Coop) are located will be utilised for the 
development.   

3.14 The current informal and night-time taxi rank on the main road through 

Okehampton will be re-designated (after public consultation) as the main 
taxi rank for the town. 

3.15 The proposal will see the current toilet block being demolished and 
replaced with a retail “pod”.  Interest has been received from a regional 
franchisor to let this new unit, with additional seating provided outside and 

a toilet and seating provided inside the building.  This will turn a current 
“loss” making site (public toilets) into a profitable venture for the 

Council.  Up to 25 jobs will be created as a result.   

3.16 Invest to Earn working group Members understood planning will need to 
deal with concerns over traffic impact / taxi relocation in order to bring a 

financial benefit to the town and the creation of new employment.  Public 
consultation through the planning application process will be 

undertaken.  Mitigation solutions are to be explored to limit negative 
impacts. 

3.17 Currently there are no vacant units of the size / type / prominence 

envisaged which could be considered as a suitable alternative for the 
proposed occupier and use.   

3.18 Initial discussions with Okehampton Town Council about the proposals are 
planned for January 28th 2019.  A verbal update on those discussions can 
be made at the Hub committee meeting. 

3.19 The next stage is to agree an agreement to lease with the operator, prior 
to seeking planning permission – an application in anticipated by May 

2019.  An external project team has been assembled to deliver the project 
and mitigate project risk. 

3.20 Funding will be from a mixture of a capital receipt (from the disposal of the 

Old Mill site as described in paragraph 2.2) and borrowing. 

3.21 Due to rent not being receivable until the building is fully operational, but 

borrowing being required to fund the pre-development and build, the 
Council will need to fund the upfront borrowing costs during the 
construction period.  It is forecast that these will total £63,707.  This is to 

be funded from reserves as described in paragraph 3.29. 

Tavistock - new temporary accommodation provision 

3.22 The Council is negotiating to take possession of a building in Tavistock to 
re-develop the site by demolishing and rebuilding ten fit for purpose 

temporary accommodation flats.   



Commercial Development Opportunities  

3.23 These will be used to meet short term accommodation needs, ensuring the 
most vulnerable people will have shelter when required.  The facility would 

be used to meet the housing needs of the Borough, not just Tavistock.  

3.24 This function is currently provided by the Council using B&Bs at a 

considerable expense.   

3.25 Re-developing this site would provide c.£40k/yr of direct income from 

housing subsidy as well as a cost avoidance of c.£50k/yr.      

3.26 The site is in the developable town boundary.  It is understood that the 
building design will be key to ensure it is publically acceptable. 

3.27 The estimated delivery cost of this project and details of how this will 
partly be funded by affordable housing budgets, s106 receipts and 

reserves is shown in Exempt Appendix A.   

3.28 Due to rent / savings not being receivable until the building is fully 
operational, but borrowing being required to fund the pre-development 

and build, the Council will need to fund the upfront borrowing costs during 
the construction period.  It is forecast that these will total £23,020.  This is 

to be funded from reserves as described in paragraph 3.29. 

Funding upfront borrowing costs 

3.29 The funding for the upfront borrowing costs – the costs incurred in pre-

construction and during construction and through any rent-free period 
awarded to the incoming tenant, will be funded by reserves.  This will be 

funded by £266,000 from the Financial Sustainability earmarked reserve 
and £236,385 from the Innovation (Invest to Earn) earmarked reserve, 
totalling £502,385. 

4 Options available and consideration of risk  
4.0 The Hub committee is requested to approve the recommendations of this 

report.  Without these recommendations being approved, the projects 
cannot progress. 

4.1 Not proceeding with the projects would result in the status quo, that is to 

say, the benefits of job creation, business rates and tourism and footfall in 
the town centres would not be felt.  Secondary to this, the financial returns 

would not be realised. 

4.2 The projects presented have tenants identified to take occupation upon 
completion of the scheme.  This is important given that the projects are 

mainly funded through borrowing.  Significant cost will not be incurred and 
planning permission will not be submitted until agreement for leases are 

completed with the proposed tenants. 

4.3 All the projects proposed rely on the Council borrowing money. 

4.4 Forecast borrowing interest rates have been used in the business cases 

proposed based on the project timelines.  Therefore an interest rate risk 
exists with all of these projects if the forecast is either incorrect or the 

timeline is incorrect. This could reduce or improve the business case for 
each project.  The business cases have been calculated based on 50% 

repayment of the capital borrowed.  The Council could opt to use either or 
different repayment treatments or not use reserves and fund all the 
projects through borrowing. 



Commercial Development Opportunities  

5 Proposed Way Forward  
5.0 That Hub committee recommend to Council to approve the 

recommendations detailed above 

5.1 The projects will be managed within the Assets CoP, utilising the existing 

supply chain that is in place for design and specification.  The construction 
of the projects will be undertaken through the Scape Framework to 

appoint a management contractor. 

6 Implications 

Area Relevant 

to 
proposals  

Y/N 

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/ 

Governance 

Y Appendix A of this report is exempt from publication 

because it contains information about the Council’s 
financial and proposed commercial affairs as defined in 
Paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government 

Act 1972.  

The public interest test has been applied and it is 

considered that the public interest lies in not disclosing 
this report at this time because it contains financial 

and commercially sensitive information which could 
prejudice the Council if such information was disclosed 
at this time.  

These proposals are consistent with the Council’s 
powers to borrow and invest under the Local 

Government Act 2003 and section 1 Localism Act 2011 
(the general power of competence). 

Section 1 of the Local Government Act 2003 provides a 

power to the Council to borrow for the purposes of any 
enactment. 

There is an overriding duty toward prudent 
management of risk, and officers, including the 
Council's section 151 officer, owe a fiduciary duty in 

relation to given transactions.  

Any future development will be subject to the normal 

Council planning process and any decision by Hub 
Committee or the Council does not infer that planning 
permission for the proposed developments will be 

granted.   

Full Council approval is required for how these projects 

will be funded, both through the pre-development, 
construction and initial letting period and subsequently 
when operational. 

Financial 
 

Y If successful, the proposed asset developments have 
the potential to make a significant contribution to the 

current predicted cumulative budget gap for the 
Council within the current Medium Term Financial 

Strategy period to 2023/24.  EXEMPT appendix A 



Commercial Development Opportunities  

summarises the financial impact of all of the proposed 

projects if approved in this format. 

As set out in Exempt Appendix A, the projects could 
contribute net income of around £125,085 by the year 

2022/23 and involve borrowing of £10.6 million.  This 
£10.6m will come out of the Council’s previously 

Member approved borrowing limit of £50m. 

A report on Council’s Treasury Management Strategy 
will be presented to Council in March 2019. Borrowing 

decisions will be taken prudently in line with the 
Council’s treasury management strategy and by 

officers within that function.  The Council must confirm 
that the borrowing required is available and is 

proportional to the Council’s financial situation. 

Risk Y Members will need to be satisfied that any proposed 
development not only delivers best value but also 

meets the needs of the corporate strategy and 
adopted asset management strategy.  This will include 

consideration of how: 
 

• The relevant capital and revenue costs and 
income resulting from the investment over the 
whole life of the asset.  

• The extent to which the investment is expected 
to deliver a secure ongoing income stream.  

• The level of expected return on the investment.  
• The payback period of the capital investment. 

The Council already owns and operates a property 

estate valued at c.£45m.  It therefore has experience 
of managing commercial property and can act as an 

intelligent client to fulfil the proposed developments 
and preparation of the business cases.  

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 

Equality 

and 
Diversity 

N Not Applicable 

Safeguarding 

 
N Not Applicable 

Community 

Safety, 
Crime and 

Disorder 

N Not Applicable  

Health, 

Safety and 
Wellbeing 

N Not Applicable 

Other 
implications 

N Not Applicable  

 
Supporting Information 
Appendices: 



Commercial Development Opportunities  

Exempt Appendix A –  Summary of Financial Impact of West Devon Commercial 
Developments 

 
Background Papers: 

• Commercial Property Strategy Amendment, presented to Council 25th 
September, 2018 

• Commercial Property Acquisition Strategy Update, presented to Council March 
27th, 2017 

• Commercial Property Acquisition Strategy Update, presented to Council 

December 5th, 2017 

• Investment in Commercial Property, presented to Council July 25th 2017 

• Investment in Commercial Property, presented to Hub Committee June 20th 
2017 

Approval and clearance of report 

Process checklist Completed 

Portfolio Holder briefed  Yes 

SLT Rep briefed Yes 

Relevant  Exec Director sign off Yes 

Data protection issues considered Yes 

If exempt information, public (part 1) report 
also drafted 

n/a 

 

 







NOT FOR PUBLICATION 

Appendices B & C contains exempt information as defined in 
Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 

1972 
 

 

Report to: Hub Committee   

Date: 29 January 2019 

Title: Capital Budget Proposals for 2019/20 

Portfolio Area: Budget Proposals – Cllr P R Sanders 

Wards Affected: All 

 

 

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained: 

Y 

  

  

Author: Lisa Buckle Role: Strategic Finance Lead 

(S151 Officer) 

Contact: Tel. 01803 861413 

Email: lisa.buckle@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

 

 
 

Recommendations:   

The Hub Committee resolves to request the views of the Overview 

and Scrutiny Panel on the following: 

1. To approve the Capital Programme Proposals for 2019/20, 

which total £500,000 (Appendix A)  

2. To approve the Capital Programme Proposals for 2019/20, 
which total £5,553,000 (Exempt Appendix C)  

3. To finance the 2019/20 Capital Programme of £6,053,000 
from the funding sources set out in Section 4. 

 

 

 



 

1.  Executive summary 
 

1.1 The report sets out the Capital Bids to the 2019/20 Capital 
Programme totalling £6,053,000 and a suggested way that 

these Bids can be funded. All items in this proposed Capital 
Programme are based on budget estimates and will be subject 

to the normal project appraisal procedures. 
 

1.2 The Council has limited resources, in the form of capital 
receipts, to fund Capital Projects in 2019/20. 

 
Consideration needs to be given to the funding options for the 

2019/20 Capital Programme. The Capital Programme is set by 
the Council and may be funded by sale proceeds from the 

disposal of assets (capital receipts), external grants and 

contributions, directly from revenue or from borrowing. 
 

1.3   The Prudential Code for capital, which came into effect from 
1st April 2004, replaced the previous Government regulated 

limits on capital expenditure and borrowing.  In its place 
Councils now have the power to determine their own 

appropriate levels of capital expenditure and borrowing for 
capital purposes, based on the principles of affordability, 

prudence and sustainability.   
 

1.4 The Code requires the Council, in setting its capital spending 
plans, to assess the impact on its revenue account and council 

tax levels. Section 4 demonstrates that there are sufficient 
capital funds (which includes PWLB borrowing for commercial 

acquisitions) in 2019/20 to fund the bids which have been 

submitted by project officers within the Council. 
      

   
2.     Background  

 
2.1   The capital programme for 2018/19 was approved by Council 

on 20 February 2018 (CM57 and HC61 refer). 
 

2.2   A new Capital Programme is proposed for 2019/20. The Head  
of Finance Practice invited bids for capital funding from all 

service areas, for a new capital programme during July 2018 
on the strict proviso that all bids must go towards meeting a 

strategic priority. All capital bids received would be ranked 
against a prescribed priority criteria set out in the bid process. 

 

 



 

 
2.3   The submitted capital bids have now been assessed against  

 the categories in each priority. Priority I categories include 
meeting strategic priorities and statutory obligations (e.g. 

Health and Safety, DDA etc) and other capital works required 
to ensure the existing Council property assets remain open. 

Priority 2 categories link to good asset management whereby 
the capital work proposed would either generate 

capital/revenue income or reduce revenue spending. A capital 
bid that will enable rationalised service delivery or 

improvement is also considered a Priority 2 category to meet 
the Council’s aims and objectives. 

 

2.4   The programme outlines the principles of the projects 

proposed for capital expenditure and includes an estimate of 
predicted costs including fees. All projects will be subject to 

project appraisals as required under the Council’s Asset 
Strategy. 

 

3.     Outcomes/outputs 

Members are requested to give their views on the proposals 

for the Capital Programme for 2019/20.  Appendix A and 
exempt Appendix C set out the bids which total £6,053,000.  

 

3.1 Capital Programme 2019/20 

 
3.2 Community Project Grants  

 
There is sufficient underspend in the 2018/19 Capital Programme 

on this project which can be rolled forward into 2019/20. Therefore 
no new budget allocation is required for 2019/20 however an 

allocation of £36,000 per annum has been modelled for 20/21 
onwards. 

                                                                                                                 

3.3   Affordable Housing 
 

Within the last year, the capital programme has helped to support 
the following schemes: 

• Cannonsmead Cottages, South Tawton.  This is a scheme of 6 

units of rented accommodation owned and managed by Rural 

Specialists Hastoe Housing.  The properties have been 

advertised through Devon Home Choice and are now occupied 

by people with a local connection to South Tawton. A final 

contribution of £50,000 was made to Hastoe on completion 

and occupation of the development.  



• Walkham Meadows,Horrabridge.  This scheme is 10 units all 

of which are for affordable rent.  The scheme is being owned 

and managed by Live West who also own the properties on 

the adjacent scheme.  The properties were advertised through 

Devon Home Choice and are now occupied. 

In terms of the capital programme, housing officers would like to 

ask for £50k to support schemes similar to those above.  Further 

developments have not yet been identified but this amount is 
requested to enable affordable housing developments to come 

forward. 

 

3.4 Private Sector Renewals (including Disabled Facilities 
Grants) 

 
This budget is used to fund Private Sector Renewals, primarily 

Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG’s). DFG’s are mandatory, means 
tested and enable people to live independently within their own 

home. Adaptations range from simple stair lifts and Level Access 
Showers through to full extensions. The budget of £450,000 will be 

funded from the Better Care Fund (Government Grant). The 
demand for DFG’s is not under our control and cannot be predicted 

at this stage.    

 
3.5 Hayedown Depot, Tavistock – upgrade  

 
Details of this capital proposal are included in exempt Appendix B. 

 
3.6 Hayedown Depot, Tavistock – new drainage system 

 
Details of this capital proposal are included in exempt Appendix B. 

 
3.7 Waste Fleet Replacement 

 
A report on Frontline Services (Waste and Cleansing Procurement) 

was presented to Council in December 2018.  Council resolved to 
approve the upfront costs of vehicle purchases required in 2019/20 

(CM42 refers).  A detailed fleet procurement programme for the 

future will be presented to Members early in 2019. 
 

3.8 Development Opportunities 
 

Details of development opportunity capital schemes are included in 
exempt Appendix B.  A separate report from the Group Manager for 

Business Development is also on this Hub Committee Agenda, which 
gives further information. 

 



 

4      FINANCING THE CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

4.1 Capital bids shown in Appendix A total £500,000 with the total 

of bids in exempt Appendix C being £5,553,000.  Funding of 
£6,053,000 is therefore required. The table below shows the 

recommended way that these projects are financed:- 
 

Capital Programme 2019/20  
Appendix A (£500,000) and exempt 

Appendix C bids (£5,553,000) 

£ 
6,053,000 

Funded By: 

Innovation (Invest to Earn) Reserve* 150,000 

Strategic Change Reserve* 167,000 

Vehicle & Plant Renewals Reserve* 50,000 

16/17 Budget Surplus Contingency 

Reserve* 

179,000 

 

Better Care Grant funding towards 
Disabled Facilities Grants (estimated) 

450,000 

New Homes Bonus  80,000 

S106 receipts(up until 31/3/2020)               408,000 

Capital receipts 100,000 

Borrowing (this is a proportion of the 

total PWLB borrowing for the projects 
shown within the West Devon 

Commercial Developments report and 
relates to the capital expenditure up to 

the 19/20 year only) 

              

 
            4,469,000 

TOTAL 6,053,000 

*These amounts of funding have already been approved by Council 

on 4th December 2018 as part of the report on Frontline Services 
(Waste and Cleansing Procurement)  

 
 

5.  IMPLICATIONS 
 

Implications 

 

Relevant  

to  
proposals  

Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/ 

Governance 
 

Y The Hub Committee is responsible for control 

of the Council’s capital expenditure. The 
Heads of Finance and Assets Practices are 

responsible for providing Capital Monitoring 
reports to the Hub Committee, detailing the 

latest position of the Council’s Capital 
Programme.  



 

 
Council is responsible for setting the Capital 

Programme and approving the Capital 
Budget, following consideration and 

recommendation from the Hub Committee. 
 

Since there is commercially sensitive 
information in Appendices B and C, regarding 

the budgets for individual projects, there are 
grounds for the publication of these 

Appendices to be restricted, and considered 

in exempt session.  
 

The public interest has been assessed and it 
is considered that the public interest will be 

better served by not disclosing the 
information in the Appendices. Accordingly 

this report contains exempt Information as 
defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A to the 

Local Government Act 1972. 
 

Financial 

 

Y The report sets out the Capital Bids to the 

2019/20 Capital Programme totalling 
£6,053,000 and a suggested way that these 

bids can be funded. All items in this proposed 
Capital Programme are based on budget 

estimates and will be subject to the normal 
project appraisal procedures. 

 
Section 4 demonstrates that there are 

sufficient capital funds (which includes PWLB 
borrowing for commercial acquisitions) in 

2019/20 to fund the bids which have been 
submitted by project officers within the 

Council. 

Risk 
 

 

Y There is a risk that the Capital Programme 
does not meet the Council’s strategic 

priorities in line with the Council’s Asset 
Strategy and the opportunity to assess 

emerging projects, which could contribute to 
the Council’s priorities. The mitigation is that 

there is a project appraisal for each proposal. 
This is taken into account when assessing 

possible implementation timescales.  
Complex capital programmes have a 

relatively long lead-in period.  



The Council demonstrates that capital 

investment contributes to strategic priorities, 
provides value for money and takes account 

of the revenue implications of the investment. 
Regular monitoring of the capital programme 

and consideration of new pressures enables 
Members to control the programme and 

secure appropriate mitigation where problems 
arise. 

 
There is regular quarterly monitoring of the 

Capital Programme to Members where any 

cost overruns are identified at an early stage. 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 

 
Equality and 

Diversity 
 None directly arising from this report.   

Safeguarding  None directly arising from this report. 
Community 

Safety, Crime 
and Disorder 

 None directly arising from this report. 

 

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing 

 None directly arising from this report. 
 

Other 
implications 

 None directly arising from this report. 
 

 

Supporting Information 
Appendices: 

Appendix A – Summary of Capital Bids for 2019/2020 
EXEMPT – Appendix B – Details of exempt Capital Bids 

EXEMPT - Appendix C – Summary of exempt Capital Bids for 
2019/2020 (table) 

 
Background papers 

Capital Programme for 2018/19 - Council 20 February 2018 (CM57 
and HC61 refer) 

 
Approval and clearance of report 

Process checklist Completed 

Portfolio Holder briefed  Yes 

SLT Rep briefed Yes 

Relevant Exec Director sign off (draft) Yes 

Data protection issues considered Yes 

If exempt information, public (part 1) 
report also drafted. 

(Committee/Scrutiny) 

N/A 

 





Appendix A

1

2

3

4

Placemaking Community Project 

Grants

RS 0 36 36 1,3

Affordable 

Housing

AR 50 50 50 3,4

Public Sector 

Renewals (inc 

Disabled 

Facility Grants)

IL 450 1

500 86 86

Good Asset 

Management 

Rationalise service delivery or service  improvement

Generate income, capital value or reduce revenue costs

Proposed Capital Projects 2019/20 - 2021/22  - PART I                                                                                                                                                         24  November 2014 

Priority Criteria

Statutory 

Obligations

Compliance, H&S, DDA

Essential to keep Operational Assets open

Proposed 

2019/20 

£'000

Proposed 

2020/21 

£'000 Priority code / notes

Proposed 

2021/22 

£'000

Totals 

Service Site Project

Lead 

officer












	Agenda
	4 Confirmation of Minutes
	6 Hub Committee Forward Plan
	7 Quarter 3 Revenue Budget Monitoring 2018/19 -Cllr Edmonds
	Appendix A
	Appendix B

	8 Capital Budget Monitoring 2018/19 -Cllr Edmonds
	Appendix A

	9 Revenue Budget proposals 2019/20 - Cllr Sanders
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D
	Appendix E

	10 Partnership Board Terms of Reference for Waste and Cleansing - Cllr Sampson
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C

	11 Adoption of Business Continuity Management Strategy and Work Programme - Cllr Sanders
	Appendix A

	12 Public Toilet Update - Cllr Sampson
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C - Exempt

	13 Corporate Strategy Key Performance Indicators
	Appendix A
	Appendix B

	14 Commercial Development Financing - Cllr Jory
	Appendix A -Exempt

	15 Capital Budget Proposals 2019/20 - Cllr Sanders
	Apendix A
	Appendix B-Exempt
	Appendix C -Exempt


